Contributions of the fronto-striatal network to executive functions: Transcranial magnetic stimulation - positron emission

tomography studies

Ji Hyun Ko

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery

McGill University, Montreal, Canada

April 2009

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the

requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Ji Hyun Ko, 2009

ABSTRACT

One of the important processes involved in working memory is the monitoring of information held in memory. Monitoring refers to the tracking of different events that may have occurred at different times or places in order to make a decision or perform an action. It is required at times when executive tasks are involved, such as set-shifting tests. Indeed, in order to perform a set-shift, one often needs to keep track of the remaining available rules. Recently, fMRI studies have demonstrated that the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) plays an important role in the monitoring of information held in working memory. However, imaging studies can only provide neuronal correlates of cognitive performance, without establishing their causal relations.

Here we assessed the role of the right DLPFC in monitoring using repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) to disrupt on-going processes within a given cortical region. When rTMS was applied to the right DLPFC during feedback reception on their previous response, the subjects' WCST performance deteriorated. This was not the case when rTMS was applied during other stages of executive processing. This result is consistent with the proposed role of the right DLPFC in the monitoring of events in working memory.

Second, we investigated the functional role of the left DLPFC during setshifting, and its modulatory effect on the striatal dopaminergic system. We

i

applied continuous theta burst stimulation, a newly proposed rTMS methodology, to the left and right DLPFC while subjects underwent positron emission tomography (PET) with [¹¹C]raclopride. Stimulation of the left DLPFC, which transiently disrupted its function, impaired Montreal-Card-Sorting-Task (MCST) performance and affected dopamine release in the striatum. In contrast, right DLPFC stimulation had no significant effect on behaviour and striatal dopamine release.

Lastly, in order to investigate cortical dopamine transmission during executive function, we used PET with [¹¹C]FLB 457. We observed significantly more dopamine release in the right anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) when subjects performed the MCST than during the control task. These findings are consistent with previous fMRI studies which demonstrate ACC activation in similar tasks involving conflict of monitoring.

In summary, these studies provide important insights on the mechanisms of executive functions of the human brain *in vivo*, and shed some light on the origin of executive deficits underlying certain neurological disorders associated with prefrontal and/or dopamine dysfunction, such as Parkinson's disease or schizophrenia.

ii

ABRÉGÉ

Il a récemment été démontré par l'IRMf que le cortex préfrontal dorsolatéral (CPFDL) droit voyait son activité augmenter autant lors de la présentation de feedbacks négatifs que positifs dans une tâche classique d'appariement de cartes (Wisconsin-Card-Sorting-Task –WCST-). Il a également été montré que le CPFDL gauche, en conjonction avec le striatum, voyait quant à lui son activité augmenter uniquement lors de la présentation de feedbacks négatifs. Ces patrons d'activation sont compatibles avec leur présumé rôle respectif dans le monitoring des informations maintenues en mémoire et dans le changement de règle (set-shifting). Cependant, les études d'imagerie procurent uniquement les corrélats neuronaux de la performance cognitive, pas leurs relations de causalité.

Dans ce travail nous avons testé le rôle du CPFDL droit dans le monitoring au moyen de la stimulation magnétique transcrânienne par trains de potentiels (rTMS), une méthode permettant d'altérer de façon transitoire les traitements d'une région corticale ciblée. Lorsque la rTMS a été appliquée au CPFDL droit alors que les sujets recevaient des feedbacks associés aux réponses qu'ils venaient de donner, leur performance au WCST détériorait par rapport à une condition de contrôle (stimulation du vertex). Par contraste, l'application de la rTMS lors d'une tâche simple de couplage n'affectait pas les

iii

performances. Ce résultat est compatible avec le rôle présumé du CPFDL droit dans le monitoring des événements en mémoire de travail.

Dans un deuxième temps, nous avons étudié le rôle du CPFDL gauche lors du set-shifting et sa relation avec le système dopaminergique striatal. Nous avons appliqué une nouvelle méthode de stimulation rTMS (theta burst) au CPFDL gauche et droit en conjonction avec une analyse de l'activité cérébrale par tomographie par émission de positrons (TEP) utilisant le radioligand dopaminergique [¹¹C]raclopride. Nous avons observé que la stimulation du CPFDL gauche, tout en affectant de façon transitoire la performance dans une tâche d'appariement nommée Montreal-Card-Sorting-Task (MCST), était accompagnée d'une libération de dopamine dans le striatum alors que la stimulation du CPFDL droit ne générait aucun effet significatif.

Enfin, de façon à analyser la transmission dopaminergique corticale dans cette fonction exécutive, nous avons mis en œuvre une nouvelle étude en TEP utilisant le ligand [¹¹C]FLB 457. Nous avons observé une libération significative de dopamine dans le cortex cingulaire antérieur droit (CCA) lors de la réalisation de la MCST par rapport à une condition de contrôle. Ce résultat, pris ensemble avec d'autres travaux utilisant l'IRMf, confirme que l'activation du CCA dans ce type de tâche est liée au monitoring de conflit.

iv

En résumé, nos résultats apportent un nouvel aperçu des mécanismes cérébraux mis en jeu dans les fonctions exécutives. Ils offrent en outre de nouvelles perspectives concernant l'origine des déficits exécutifs sous-tendant les affections neurologiques associéés aux dysfonctions préfrontales et/ou dopaminergiques comme la schizophrénie ou la maladie de Parkinson.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My journey in the field of neuroscience started in the last summer of my undergraduate degree in electrical engineering at Hanyang University, Korea. Inspired by my former supervisor, Dr. Chung Choo Chung, I became very interested in how the biological system could be modeled mathematically, and how it could be controlled. I took a neurobiology course taught by Dr. Seunghoon Oh. I was so fascinated by the fact that the human brain is such an elegantly designed electrochemical system that I decided to study neuroscience during my higher education.

Encouraged by my mentors and family, I decided to study abroad, and therefore applied to the graduate program in neurological science at McGill University. Dr. Antonio P. Strafella reviewed my application and accepted to be my supervisor despite my lack of neuroscience background. He kindly answered all my beginner's questions and guided me to form the fundamental concepts of cognitive neuroscience. He gave me many opportunities to participate in other on-going projects and to collaborate with visiting researchers Dr. Igor Sibon and Dr. Takuya Hayashi, who gave me important insights on other fields of cognitive neuroscience.

Dr. Alain Ptito, my current supervisor, kindly accepted me as his PhD student when Dr. Strafella was appointed to the University of Toronto in 2006. He

vi

guided me to pursue my doctoral degree smoothly, with continuous collaboration with Dr. Strafella. I was greatly influenced, not only by his academic advice, but his personal advice as well.

I cannot imagine how I could have finished my thesis without Dr. Oury Monchi, who gave me the greatest input on my experimental design, and helped me interpret the behavioural results. I would also like to thank Drs. Michael Petrides, Jen-Kai Chen, Sandra Leh, Pedro Rosa, Sang Soo Cho, Giovanna Pellechia, Thilo van Eimeren, Benedicte Ballanger, Roberto Cilia, Pablo Rusjan, Sylvain Houle, Ms. Maria Fraraccio, Kristina Martinu and Mr. Peter Bloomfield for great ideas and discussion, as well as helping me conduct the experiments. I thank André Cormier, Gary Detzler and Eugen Hlasny for help with MRI related issues, Alvina Ng and Jeannie Fong for help with PET related issues, and Annie Le Bire, Susan Crinion and Diane David for efficient administration.

I would like to thank the Canadian Institutes for Health Research, Canadian Foundation Innovation, Fonds de la Recherche en Santé du Québec, Regroupement Provincial en Imagerie Cérébrale, Korea Science and Engineering Foundation, Lloyd Carr Harris Foundation, Hanyang University and McGill University for providing me with the financial support necessary to carry out my research.

vii

Lastly, I would like to thank my family who consistently encouraged me to pursue my studies. Finally, I want to give special thanks to my wife who encouraged and supported me in so many ways.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

In accordance with McGill Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research guideline for manuscript-based thesis, the contributions of each author need to be explicitly stated, and are hence summarized below.

Study 1: J.H. Ko, O. Monchi, A. Ptito, M. Petrides, A.P. Strafella. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex during the provision of feedback, but not during set shifting, affects performance of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Task. International Journal of Biomedical Imaging, vol. 2008, March 2008.

Supervision: Strafella

Conception and design: Ko, Monchi, Strafella

Obtaining funding: Monchi, Strafella

Acquisition of data: Ko

Analysis and interpretation of data: Ko, Monchi, Ptito, Petrides, Strafella

Drafting of the manuscript: Ko

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: Monchi, Ptito,

Petrides, Strafella

Study 2: J.H. Ko, O. Monchi, A. Ptito, P. Bloomfield, S. Houle, A.P. Strafella. Theta burst stimulation-induced inhibition of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex reveals hemispheric asymmetry in striatal dopamine release during set-shifting task - a TMS-[¹¹C]raclopride PET study. European Journal of Neuroscience, vol. 28 (10), pp. 2147–2155, November 2008.

Supervision: Ptito, Strafella

Conception and design: Ko, Monchi, Ptito, Strafella

Obtaining funding: Strafella

Acquisition of data: Ko

Analysis and interpretation of data: Ko, Monchi, Ptito, Strafella

Drafting of the manuscript: Ko

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: Monchi, Ptito,

Bloomfield, Houle, Strafella

Study 3: J.H. Ko, A. Ptito, O. Monchi, S.S. Cho, T. Van Eimeren, G. Pellecchia,

B. Ballanger, P. Rusjan, S. Houle & A.P. Strafella, Increased dopamine release

in the right anterior cingulate cortex during the performance of a sorting task: a [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET study, in review.

Supervision: Ptito, Strafella

Conception and design: Ko, Monchi, Ptito, Strafella

Obtaining funding: Strafella

Acquisition of data: Ko, Cho, Pellecchia

Analysis and interpretation of data: Ko, Ptito, Monchi, Cho, Van Eimeren,

Pellecchia, Ballanger, Strafella

Drafting of the manuscript: Ko

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: Ptito, Monchi,

Cho, Van Eimeren, Pellecchia, Ballanger, Rusjan, Houle, Strafella

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
ABRÉGÉ	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	ix
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Chapter 2 Background	7
2.1. Localizing executive functions	7
2.1.1. Lateral prefrontal cortex and executive function	8
2.1.2. Anterior cingulate cortex and executive function	10
2.1.3. Striatum and executive function	12
2.1.4. Dopamine and executive function	15
2.2. Transcranial magnetic stimulation	18
2.2.1. Single-pulse TMS	19
2.2.2. Repetitive TMS	21
2.2.3. rTMS in cognitive neuroscience	22
2.2.4. Theta burst stimulation	25
2.2.5. Targeting non-motor areas (frameless stereotaxy)	26
2.3. Positron emission tomography	26
2.3.1. Physics of PET	27
2.3.2. Investigation of the dopaminergic system	27
2.3.3. Image Analysis	30
2.4. Summary	37
2.5. Figures	38
Chapter 3 The functional role of the right DLPFC in monitoring	44
3.1. Preface	44
3.2. Abstract	46
3.3. Introduction	47
3.4. Materials and Methods	49
3.4.1. Cognitive task	49
3.4.2. Frameless stereotaxy system	50
3.4.3. TMS protocol	51
3.4.4. Data Analysis	52
3.5. Results	53

3.6. Discussion	55
3.7. Acknowledgments	60
3.8. Figures	61
Chapter 4 The functional role of the left DLPFC in set-shifting and its conne	ection to striatal
dopamine	67
4.1. Preface	67
4.2. Abstract	69
4.3. Introduction	70
4.4. Method	73
4.4.1. Subjects and Experimental design	73
4.4.2. TMS protocol	74
4.4.3. Location of the target site	75
4.4.4. Cognitive Task	76
4.4.5. Positron Emission Tomography	
4.5. Results	81
4.6. Discussion	
4.7. Acknowledgments	
4.8. Figures	
Chapter 5 Cortical dopamine transmission during a card sorting task	
5.1. Preface	
5.2. Abstract	
5.3. Introduction	
5.4. Method	102
5.4.1. Subjects and experimental design	102
5.4.2. Cognitive task	103
5.4.3. Positron emission tomography	104
5.5. Results	
5.5.1. MCST performance	106
5.5.2. PET results	107
5.6. Discussion	108
5.7. Acknowledgments	114
5.8. Figures	115
Chapter 6 Conclusion	118
6.1. Summary and implications	118
6.2. Suggestion for future research	122
References	125
Appendix	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. The cortico-striato-pallido-thalamo-cortical loop	
Figure 2.2. Synaptic dopamine competition hypothesis in receptor imaging	40
Figure 2.3. Simplified reference tissue model	41
Figure 2.4. Basis function method with simplified reference tissue model	42
Figure 3.1. TMS targeting with frameless stereotaxy.	61
Figure 3.2. Timeline of the experimental setup	62
Figure 3.3. Behavioral tasks.	63
Figure 3.4. rTMS at the beginning of feedback	64
Figure 3.5. rTMS at the beginning of matching	65
Figure 3.6. Desynchronized rTMS	66
Figure 4.1. Timeline of the experimental setup	
Figure 4.2. TMS targeting with the frameless stereotaxy.	90
Figure 4.3. Montreal Card Sorting Task	91
Figure 4.4. Voxel-wise image analysis	92
Figure 4.5. ROI image analysis	93
Figure 4.6. Direct contrast of the left vs right DLPFC stimulation	94
Figure 4.7. Behavioural results	95
Figure 5.1. Study design.	115
Figure 5.2. Active vs. control tasks condition	116
Figure 5.3. Active vs. control tasks condition	117

Chapter 1

Introduction

On a daily basis, we are constantly faced with changing circumstances that require planning and generation of novel actions. The abilities we call upon in order to respond accurately to new situations are often referred to as 'executive functions' and are frequently used for managing conditions where routine activation of behavior would not be sufficient for optimal performance and in which top-down control is needed to modify behavior. Executive processes are cognitive mechanisms by which performance is optimized in situations requiring the simultaneous operation of a number of different processes (Baddeley, 1986). However, due to the complex nature of executive networks (Gazzaniga et al., 1998), it is unclear how different cortical and subcortical neural systems interact with each other and contribute to executive function. Several aspects of executive function have been described, including among others planning and initiating sequences of responses, cognitive flexibility, abstract thinking, rule based regulation of behavior, inhibiting inappropriate actions and selecting relevant sensory information.

"Patients are the greatest teachers of the cognitive neuroscience."

Dr. Brenda Milner, 1918 -

As often emphasized by Dr. Brenda Milner through extensive lesion studies in patients and non-human primates in the past several decades, we now know that the prefrontal cortex and the striatum form the key anatomical structures necessary for executive functions (Hazy et al., 2007; Petrides, 2005; Stuss and Alexander, 2007). Due to significant evolutionary differences, however, such as the unavailability of verbal instructions, critical controversies arise when one extrapolates findings from animal to human studies. Because there are large non-homogeneities and compensatory mechanisms after lesions, there is also great difficulty in depicting how exactly executive functions "reside" in the human brain.

Thanks to the recent development of human brain mapping techniques, it is now possible to investigate the human brain with a very high spatial and temporal resolution, all the while with minimally invasive procedures. One of the most popular and widely available methods is functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). With this technique, one can observe changes in blood oxygen level dependency (BOLD), which are correlated with blood flow in response to manipulative stimuli or to the subject's responses, with an approximate resolution of 3 mm³ and 2-3 seconds.

For example, Monchi et al. (2001) previously showed how sub-structures of the prefronto-striatal network contribute to sub-processes of executive functions during the Wisconsin Card Sorting Task (WCST), a widely used neuropsychological test that assesses executive performance. The right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC, Brodmann area (BA) 9/46) was shown to be involved with monitoring information held in working memory during the feedback period of the WCST, whether the feedback was positive or negative, while the left DLPFC was only engaged in the processing of negative feedback, i.e., the planning of a set-shift. This was in accord with other fMRI-WCST studies (Konishi et al., 2002; Lie et al., 2006) and human lesion studies (Stuss and Alexander, 2007). Results show bilateral caudate nucleus activation in conjunction with the left DLPFC only when the subject received negative feedback. The involvement of the caudate nucleus during executive performance follows nicely with the well-described cortico-striato-pallido-thalamo-cortical loop proposed by Alexander et al., (1986). According to this hypothesis, the DLPFCcaudate circuitry plays an important role in cognitive processes.

The involvement of the caudate nucleus in set-shifting processes was confirmed later by a fMRI study in which the authors used a variant of the WCST

that emphasizes the set-shifting component (i.e. the Montreal Card Sorting Task (MCST)) (Monchi et al., 2006b). However, while very informative, BOLD signal changes only estimate the oxygen consumption level in a given area; they do not elucidate the underlying neurochemical mechanisms of the set-shifting process. Using [¹¹C]raclopride, a dopamine D₂-receptor antagonist, during positron emission tomography (PET), Monchi et al., (2006a) showed that performing the MCST increased synaptic dopamine transmission in the bilateral caudate nucleus. This provided unique evidence of striatal dopaminergic involvement in the set-shifting process.

Functional neuroimaging studies (PET and fMRI) have provided great insights into the role of the DLPFC and striatum during the WCST and MCST. However, PET and fMRI studies can only provide neuronal correlates of a cognitive performance, not their causal relations (Rushworth et al., 2002; Walsh and Cowey, 2000). The specific functional relevance of the DLPFC and striatal dopamine release during card sorting tasks, then, remains to be established. With the available technology today, it is possible to modulate the activation of a given cortical area by using repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) (Wassermann and Lisanby, 2001), and combining it with functional imaging techniques such as [¹¹C]raclopride PET. This provides us with a valuable probe

of brain function that is unparalleled in its ability to investigate and "dissect" the prefrontal-striatal loops in awake, behaving, healthy human subjects.

However, while [¹¹C]raclopride offers important insight on the striatal dopamine neurotransmission during executive functions (Monchi et al., 2006a), its low affinity limits its application to extrastriatal low receptor concentration regions such as the prefrontal cortex (Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000). As revealed by studies in primates, despite a lower density of dopamine receptors in the cortex relative to the striatum, cortical dopamine also plays a critical role in executive functions (Murphy et al., 1996; Watanabe et al., 1997). In humans, converging evidence suggests that cortical dopamine is involved with high-level cognition. For example, it has been shown that the prefrontal function in executive processes is strongly influenced by the COMT-genotype, which plays an important role in regulating the prefrontal dopaminergic system (Foltynie et al., 2004; Goldberg et al., 2003; Winterer et al., 2006). In addition, while performing working memory tasks has provided evidence of increased dopamine release in the frontal cortex (Aalto et al., 2005a; Sawamoto et al., 2008), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC, BA 32/24) dopamine receptor density has been shown to be significantly correlated with healthy adults' performance level on the WCST as well (Lumme et al., 2007).

In order to elucidate the contribution of different prefrontal / subcortical regions and underlying neurochemical mechanisms associated with executive functions, this doctoral thesis will describe three studies. The specific objects are:

- To confirm the role of the right DLPFC in the monitoring of information held in working memory during the performance of the WCST
- To confirm the role of the left DLPFC-caudate network in set-shifting during the performance of the MCST
- To demonstrate increased dopamine release in the prefrontal cortex during the performance of the MCST

The next chapter of this thesis gives a critical review of background literature, followed by three manuscripts that addressed the above-mentioned objectives. The final chapter provides a summary and an overall conclusion of this doctoral work.

Chapter 2

Background

2.1. Localizing executive functions

The prefrontal-striatal network has long been known to play an important role in executive functions (Alexander et al., 1986). To date, while the involvement of the prefrontal cortex and the striatum in these functions is well established, much less is clear on how the different structures (e.g. DLPFC, ACC, caudate nucleus, etc.) of the fronto-striatal circuitry contribute to executive functions in healthy subjects.

In the past, while human lesion studies provided useful insights on the functional role of a given brain area (Owen et al., 1990; Petrides and Milner, 1982; Stuss and Alexander, 2007), the fact that these lesions are generally quite extensive and rarely involve only one specific cytoarchitectonic area cannot be disregarded. Functional neuroimaging studies give us the opportunity to delineate the contributions of the prefrontal-striatal circuits to executive functions. A growing body of neuroimaging literature has emphasized the important contribution of the DLPFC and ACC to executive functions through their reciprocal connections (Botvinick et al., 2001; Cohen et al., 2000; D'Esposito et

al., 1995; Heyder et al., 2004; Kondo et al., 2004; Koski and Paus, 2000; Ridderinkhof et al., 2004), while the caudate nucleus, described as the input structure of the basal ganglia from the PFC (Alexander et al., 1986), has been shown to play a critical role in cognitive function (Grahn et al., 2008).

2.1.1. Lateral prefrontal cortex and executive function

Lesion studies in primates have provided a large amount of information regarding the role of the lateral PFC in working memory (Curtis and D'Esposito, 2004; Petrides, 2005). There are two main models depicting the functional organization of the lateral PFC. In the domain–specific model, it was proposed that while the DLPFC is engaged in processing spatial information, the ventrolateral PFC (VLPFC, BA 47/12) is involved with non-spatial information such as faces or objects (Levy and Goldman-Rakic, 2000). This hypothesis is well suited for the dorsal-ventral stream of the visual pathways originating from the posterior regions of the brain (Ungerleider and Mishkin, 1982). The process-specific model, on the other hand, suggests that the DLPFC is engaged in high-level executive control of monitoring and manipulation in working memory, while the VLPFC is involved with active encoding and retrieval of information (Petrides, 1994, 1995, 2000, 2005).

In humans, meta-analyses of neuroimaging studies with spatial and nonspatial working memory failed to observe the dorsal-ventral specificity for the domain-specific model (Owen et al., 1998), favoring the process-specific model of the prefrontal organization (c.f., McIntosh et al., 1994; Stephan et al., 2003). It is hypothesized, then, that the VLPFC interacts with the posterior regions of the brain for behaviours such as the retrieval of information, while the DLPFC provides higher-level executive processes such as manipulation and monitoring (Owen, 2000).

Hemispheric lateralization within the PFC is also an important issue in executive function (Aron et al., 2004a; 2004b; Johnson et al., 2003; Tulving et al., 1994), and an extensive review exists on human lesion studies that claim that the left frontal lobe is accountable for task-setting while the right frontal lobe is more involved with monitoring (Stuss and Alexander, 2007).

Several neuroimaging studies support the task-specific lateralization of the PFC in humans. During the performance of the WCST, left DLPFC activation has been reported when set-shifting is required (Monchi et al., 2001; Nagahama et al., 2001), while right DLPFC activation is more involved in monitoring the feedback of the subject's previous response (Lie et al., 2006; Monchi et al., 2001; Nagahama et al., 2001). It has also been proposed that the left DLPFC is a key structure for the implementation of top-down cognitive control, based on its

constant activation during color naming in the Stroop task (MacDonald et al., 2000), as well as when difficult planning is required during the Tower of London task (Owen et al., 1996a). On the other hand, it has been proposed that the role of the right DLPFC is to monitor information held in working memory, since it was actively recruited during the time-monitoring process (Vallesi et al., 2008), the judgement of item-familiarity task (Dobbins et al., 2004), the active manipulation and monitoring of spatial information (Owen et al., 1996b) and the verbal item recognition task (Cabeza et al., 2003).

2.1.2. Anterior cingulate cortex and executive function

Lesions of the medial frontal area have been known to impair a wide range of behaviours (Krainik et al., 2001; Nachev, 2006). Stuss and Alexander (2007) reported that lesions of the medial frontal cortex comprising the ACC impaired several cognitive task performances including the simple and choice reaction time task, the feature integration, the verbal fluency, the Stroop task (naming color patches and incongruent interference) as well as some tasks measuring sustained attention.

Neuroimaging studies with fMRI and PET also put forth the argument that the ACC is one of the core components associated with executive function, but its precise role is still a matter of debate (Bush et al., 2000). In a meta-analysis of

neuroimaging studies of executive function, the ACC was activated during taskswitching, response suppression, and the WCST (Buchsbaum et al., 2005). Botvinick et al. (2004) also argued that the ACC is involved in several cognitive tasks that engage response override, underdetermined responding, and error commission. Other authors have emphasized the role of the ACC in detecting and processing error signals (Debener et al., 2005; Luu et al., 2000) and attention (Bush et al., 1999; Nobre et al., 1997).

Due to its multiple associations to various executive tasks, the exact role of the ACC has been difficult to determine. In fact, in terms of cytoarchitecture, the ACC is heterogeneous in its functions and connections. In humans, this brain structure can be divided into dorsal (i.e. supracallosal) and rostral (i.e. subcallosal) regions (Devinsky et al., 1995; Koski and Paus, 2000; Mayberg, 1997; Vogt et al., 1995). It has been proposed that the dorsal regions of the ACC are involved in cognition, especially during conflict monitoring (Kerns et al., 2004). The rostral portions of the ACC, on the other hand, are engaged in emotional behaviours (Devinsky et al., 1995; Koski and Paus, 2000) and error-signal processing (Lie et al., 2006; Taylor et al., 2006). This distinction is in accord with recent fMRI studies, where error-likelihood and conflict levels were manipulated. Results showed an increased dorsal ACC BOLD signal as the conflict load increased while the error-likelihood decreased (van Eimeren et al., 2006). This is

also in agreement with MacDonald et al., (2000) who reported that only the dorsal ACC was activated during the response to incongruent stimuli of the Stroop task.

The hemispheric laterality issue concerning the ACC is more complicated due to the relatively low spatial resolution of the neuroimaging techniques. Lutcke and Frahm (2008) proposed the use of high-resolution fMRI (voxel size: 1.5 x 1.5 x 1.5 mm³) for hemispheric distinction within the ACC. The authors reported a process-specific laterality, such that the right ACC was activated during correct inhibitions of the go/no-go task implicating conflict monitoring, while error-related processes activated the ACC bilaterally. A domain specific processing of the left and right dorso-caudal ACC has been also suggested, i.e. that the left ACC mediates the attentional top-down cognitive control during the decision making task in the verbal domain, while the right ACC mediates the counterpart of the visuo-spatial domain (Stephan et al., 2003). Further studies are required to delineate the above hypotheses, but the poor resolution of brain mapping techniques such as rTMS and fMRI prevent us from examining hemispheric differences of the ACC.

2.1.3. Striatum and executive function

Although the functional role of the basal ganglia has been traditionally associated with motor processes, it has been suggested that the basal ganglia are also highly involved with cognition (Middleton and Strick, 2000). For example, the medial striatum in rodents, which is analogous to the caudate nucleus in humans, has been shown to be responsible for cognitive flexibility (Ragozzino, 2003; Reading et al., 1991; White and Viaud, 1991) and goal-directed behaviour (Yin and Knowlton, 2006). In primates, Alexander et al. (1986) proposed a very elegant model for understanding the functional role of the basal ganglia and its organization, and showed that the cognitive loop originating from the DLPFC projects to the head of caudate, globus pallidus, substantia nigra and thalamus (Figure 2.1).

Based on the well-established hypothesis that the basal ganglia are involved with movement selection (Mink, 1996), it has been further suggested that the basal ganglia act as a core selection system for cognitive function as well (Middleton and Strick, 2000; Redgrave et al., 1999). This is consistent with the anatomical afferents that the caudate nucleus receives from high-level cognitive areas such as the DLPFC, VLPFC, frontal eye field and temporal cortex (Alexander et al., 1986; Parent and Hazrati, 1995; Selemon and Goldman-Rakic, 1985). The existence of this anatomical prefronto-striatal loop in humans has

been recently corroborated by diffusion tensor imaging (Leh et al., 2007) and rTMS-PET (Strafella et al., 2001) studies.

In humans, studies on Parkinson's disease (PD) have been the most influential source of knowledge regarding the functional role of the striatum. Although PD is traditionally known as a movement disorder, cognitive impairment is not unusual even at early stages of the disease (Downes et al., 1989). Due to the resemblance of executive deficits in PD to prefrontal lesions, the DLPFCcaudate network in PD has been the object of several recent studies (Grahn et al., 2008; Hazy et al., 2007; Owen, 2004; Zgaljardic et al., 2003). Cognitive deficits of patients suffering from PD have been correlated with dopaminergic dysfunction affecting the striatum (Bruck et al., 2001; Marie et al., 1999). In particular, it has been reported that the rostro-dorsal portion of the head of the caudate nucleus is subject to greater dopamine depletion than the ventro-caudal portion, which remains relatively intact (Kish et al., 1988). This observation explains the selective impairment of executive functions in PD, such that while set-shifting (linked to the dorsal caudate) is impaired, reversal learning (associated with ventral striatum) is minimally affected (Cools et al., 2001; Dias et al., 1996).

Studies with Huntington's disease (HD) also provide evidence on the involvement of cortical-subcortical circuits in executive function (Montoya et al.,

2006). For example, it has been reported that patients with HD are impaired in the WCST (Paulsen et al., 1995) and the Tower of London (Lange et al., 1995), while structural (Bamford et al., 1995; Harris et al., 1992; 1996; Kassubek et al., 2004) and functional (Bachoud-Levi et al., 2000; Backman et al., 1997; Hasselbalch et al., 1992; Pavese et al., 2003; Sanchez-Pernaute et al., 1999) abnormalities of the striatum are shown to be correlated with their impaired performance of various executive tasks such as the trail making test, digit span, the Cambridge neuropsychological test automated battery, face and word recognition tests and others.

Previous fMRI studies have shown that the caudate nucleus is activated when the planning of a set-shift is required, and, in healthy adults, its activation is coupled with the DLPFC (Monchi et al., 2001; 2006b). This co-activation of the PFC and the striatum was strongly diminished in patients with PD, confirming the strong engagement of this prefronto-striatal circuitry in executive functions (Monchi et al., 2004; 2007).

2.1.4. Dopamine and executive function

It has been shown that striatal dopamine is strongly involved in executive functions. In fact, while dopaminergic agents may influence executive functions in healthy adults (Harrison et al., 2004; Mehta et al., 1999; Roesch-Ely et al., 2005),

L-dopa withdrawal impairs various executive processes in PD patients (Lange et al., 1992). Striatal dopaminergic abnormality has been involved with significant cognitive dysfunction in PD (Bruck et al., 2001; Marie et al., 1999; Rinne et al., 1989). Furthermore, while some studies have reported that L-dopa intake in patients with PD may improve performance on the n-back task (Mattay et al., 2002), the simultaneous processing task (Duchesne et al., 2002; Fournet et al., 2000), the task-set switching (Cools et al., 2001), the sentence comprehension (Grossman et al., 2002) and the Tower of London (Cools et al., 2002) tests, it may impair other functions such as choice reaction time (Schubert et al., 2002) and probabilistic reversal learning task performance (Cools et al., 2001). The most plausible explanation for this discrepancy is the inverted-U-shape hypothesis (Arnsten, 1997; Cools et al., 2001). In PD patients, for instance, dopaminergic medication restores dopamine-depleted regions such as the putamen. However, due to its lack of specificity, the same medication overflows relatively dopamine-intact regions such as the ventral striatum and cortical areas.

Although the striatum receives the most abundant dopaminergic innervation, studies on non-human primates have suggested that prefrontal dopamine also plays a critical role in working memory tasks (Arnsten et al., 1994; Arnsten and Goldman-Rakic, 1998; Brozoski et al., 1979; Sawaguchi and Goldman-Rakic, 1991, 1994). In humans, it has been hypothesized that

dysfunction of the prefrontal dopaminergic system may be responsible for impaired working memory in patients with schizophrenia (Davis et al., 1991; Goldman-Rakic, 1994; Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000; Weinberger, 1987). Receptor imaging studies support this hypothesis by showing that patients with schizophrenia may have abnormal dopamine D₁- (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002; Okubo et al., 1997) and D₂-receptor (Suhara et al., 2002) availability in prefrontal regions. Another line of evidence for the involvement of the cortical dopamine in executive functions can be observed from neuroimaging studies in PD patients; increased [¹⁸F]DOPA uptake in the DLPFC and ACC of PD is related to sustained attention in the Stroop interference effect (Bruck et al., 2005).

It is well known that dopamine can be released through two main mechanisms: tonic and phasic release (Grace, 1991). According to this model, tonic release of dopamine is mostly involved with D₁-receptors that are relatively abundant in PFC, and modulates the excitability of neighbouring neurons. Tonic dopamine release is low in amplitude, but has a relatively long lasting effect. Behaviourally, this type of dopamine release mediates the active maintenance of working memory (for review`, see Goto et al., 2007; Onn et al., 2000). On the other hand, the phasic release of dopamine is mostly involved with D₂-receptors that are relatively scarce in the PFC. Dopamine released in this manner is high in amplitude, but rapidly cleared by the dopamine transporter. Hence, its effect is

limited to synaptic transmission. Behaviourally, this type of dopamine release regulates adaptive behaviour and cognitive flexibility (for review, see Goto et al., 2007; Onn et al., 2000). It should be also noted that, while dopamine via D₁-receptors potentiates the NMDA-mediated responses in the striatum (Cepeda et al., 1992; 1998; 1999; Flores-Hernandez et al., 2002; Levine et al., 1996a; 1996b) and cortex (Seamans et al., 2001; Wang and O'Donnell, 2001; Zheng et al., 1999), D₂-agonists inhibit the NMDA-mediated responses (Huang and Kandel, 1995). These dopaminergic effects are found to be dose- (Stewart and Plenz, 2006) and time-dependent (Gribkoff and Ashe, 1984; Huang and Kandel, 1995; Seamans and Yang, 2004).

2.2. Transcranial magnetic stimulation

Transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) is a technique that has been widely used for non-invasive brain stimulation to examine motor, perceptual, and cognitive processes (Hallett, 2007; Pascual-Leone et al., 1998; Walsh and Cowey, 2000). TMS involves the induction of a brief electrical current through a stimulating coil, which produces a rapid rise of a magnetic field and induces eddy current in the underlying brain tissue for 250 µsec after pulse onset. This magnetically-induced electrical stimulation transiently synchronizes the neuronal activity underneath the coil (Pascual-Leone et al., 2000). The procedure is

relatively painless since the magnetic field passes through the scalp and skull virtually unattenuated (Hallett, 2007). The most widely used TMS coils are the round coil and the figure-of-eight coil. The round coil is used for stimulating a relatively a large brain area, while the figure-of-eight coil is used for stimulating focal brain area.

2.2.1. Single-pulse TMS

In the case of the figure-of-eight coil, the single-pulse TMS-induced current flows parallel to the plane of the coil and stimulates the cortical surface horizontally if the coil is held tangentially to the scalp. This TMS-induced current can stimulate different populations of neurons, depending on the orientation of the coil. For example, it has been demonstrated that TMS, at least at low stimulation intensity, preferentially stimulates superficial interneurons (for review, see Pascual-Leone et al., 1998).

When applied to the motor strip, single-pulse TMS elicits a motor-evokedpotential (MEP) in the muscle corresponding to the stimulated regions. The MEP size varies depending on stimulation intensity and resting motor threshold (RMT), i.e. the minimum stimulation intensity that induces an MEP > 50μ V is strongly influenced by coil orientation (Cohen et al., 1990; Wagner et al., 2004). Another factor that influences MEP size and RMT is the functional state of the targeted

area. For example, voluntary contraction (Hess et al., 1986; Thompson et al., 1991) and mental imagery (Kasai et al., 1997; Kiers et al., 1997) influence both MEP responses and RMT.

After the MEP response, electromyogram (EMG) activity is suppressed in the actively contracted muscle (Fuhr et al., 1991). The length and depth of this silent period depends on the state of the targeted neurons (Classen et al., 1998; Mathis et al., 1998) as well as on the stimulation intensity and paradigm (Fuhr et al., 1991; Kujirai et al., 1993; Triggs et al., 1993). It has been proposed that the length and depth of the inhibition is coordinated by a balance of GABAergic (Ziemann et al., 1995; 1996b; 1996c), glutamatergic (Faig and Busse, 1996; Prout and Eisen, 1994; Yokota et al., 1996) and dopaminergic (Priori et al., 1994; Ziemann et al., 1996a) influences.

Day et al. (1989) demonstrated that single-pulse TMS may interfere with the "transmission of information" in the targeted area. This report provided the fundamental idea of creating a "virtual patient" using TMS to delineate the chronometry of the targeted area's involvement to the specific working memory processes (Mottaghy, 2006; Pascual-Leone et al., 2000). For example, it has been reported that single-pulse TMS over the DLPFC delivered at specific timeintervals interfered with the performance of memory-guided saccades (Muri et al., 1996; Muri et al., 2000; Nyffeler et al., 2004), the sequential-letter working
memory task (Mull and Seyal, 2001) as well as the verbal (Mottaghy et al., 2003) and the visual n-back tasks (Oliveri et al., 2001).

2.2.2. Repetitive TMS

Repetitive TMS (rTMS) has been shown to produce profound and long-lasting effects on neuronal excitability. Pascual-Leone et al. (1994) demonstrated that, while high-frequency rTMS (\geq 5Hz) temporally increases neuronal excitability, this was reversed by low-frequency rTMS (\leq 1Hz) (Chen et al., 1997). It has been demonstrated that a short train (4 pulses) of 20Hz rTMS inhibits the neuronal excitability, while a longer train (20 pulses) facilitates it (Modugno et al., 2001). These effects have been proposed to be the consequence of inhibitory neuronal network activation (for review, see Siebner and Rothwell, 2003).

Combining functional imaging techniques with TMS provides a valuable probe to study functional connectivity of the human brain. Fast and slow rTMS have been shown to modulate brain metabolism by increasing and decreasing [¹⁴C]2DG uptake in the targeted area, repectively (Valero-Cabre et al., 2007). It has also been reported that rTMS modulates regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) in dose- (Paus et al., 1998) and frequency-dependent manners (Siebner et al., 2001). Interestingly, both slow and fast rTMS result in an increase in rCBF in the targeted area (Eisenegger et al., 2008; Knoch et al., 2006b; Rounis et al., 2005).

The unexpected increase in rCBF after the inhibitory rTMS may be explained by the active inhibition process induced by low-frequency rTMS (Sohn et al., 2002; Waldvogel et al., 2000). In addition to the changes in rCBF in the targeted area, rTMS is able to affect excitability in remote cortical and subcortical areas (Eisenegger et al., 2008; Knoch et al., 2006b; Speer et al., 2003a, b). Interestingly, the remote effect of fast rTMS over the motor cortex and DLPFC was found to increase synaptic dopamine transmission in the ipsilateral putamen (Strafella et al., 2003) and caudate nucleus (Strafella et al., 2001), respectively. This was in line with the topographical projections from the neocortex to the striatum (Alexander et al., 1986). The combination of rTMS and PET has opened new possibilities for the investigation of neurochemical networks.

2.2.3. rTMS in cognitive neuroscience

Although TMS has been most widely used to assess motor responses, it can also be used as a tool to create a "virtual lesion" and to assess its effects on cognitive behavior (Pascual-Leone et al., 2000; Paus, 1999).

The application of rTMS over a cortical area that, at a particular point in time, is actively involved in processing task-relevant information should result in a decline in performance (Enomoto et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2005; Pascual-Leone et al., 1994). Several studies with short-train high-frequency rTMS showed that

stimulation transiently disrupts the cognitive processes of the targeted area. For example, 10 pulses of 20Hz-rTMS on the DLPFC during the delay phase of memory-guided saccades impaired task performance (Brandt et al., 1998). Similarly, 4 pulses of 10Hz-rTMS over the DLPFC modulated the habitual counting during random number generation (Jahanshahi et al., 1998), as well as the performance on the response-selection task when this area was actively involved in the performance of the task (Hadland et al., 2001). Furthermore, five pulses of 10Hz-rTMS over the pre-supplementary motor area (SMA) increased the reaction times of the sequential movement when the pre-SMA was actively engaged, i.e. at the chunking point of the sequence (Kennerley et al., 2004). It has also been demonstrated that 8 pulses of 25Hz-rTMS over the DLPFC during the decision phase of a spatial working memory task selectively interfered with task performance, while no effect was seen when stimulation was delivered over the posterior parietal cortex or the premotor cortex (Koch et al., 2005).

rTMS has also been applied offline to pre-treat a given cortical area to create a "virtual lesion" that outlasts the duration of the stimulation (Walsh and Cowey, 2000), providing considerable advantages as compared with online stimulation (Robertson et al., 2003). Since the stimulation is delivered before task performance, secondary effects of rTMS such as tactile and noise discomfort are minimized. It has been demonstrated that offline low-frequency 1Hz-rTMS over

the DLPFC disrupts motor learning (Robertson et al., 2001), spatial and nonspatial delay-matching tasks (Mottaghy et al., 2002), reciprocal fairness (Knoch et al., 2006a) and bimodal divided attention (Johnson et al., 2007). On the other hand, offline high-frequency rTMS (\geq 5Hz) has been shown to disrupt performance on the Stroop task (Vanderhasselt et al., 2006a), task-set switching (Vanderhasselt et al., 2006b) and divided attention tasks (Wagner et al., 2006). It should also be noted that high-frequency rTMS has often been used to disrupt cognitive processes by generating neural noise on the targeted area (Walsh and Cowey, 2000).

It is not uncommon that rTMS can enhance task performance as well. For example, Knoch et al. (2005) elegantly demonstrated the frequency-dependent rTMS effect over the DLPFC. More specifically, the authors showed that a 1HzrTMS over the left DLPFC suppressed habitual counting during random number generation, while a 10Hz-rTMS stimulation exaggerated it. These non-intuitive results are often described as the "paradoxical enhancement," i.e., the disinhibition of an inhibitory system (Fecteau et al., 2006; Kirschen et al., 2006; Knoch et al., 2005; Luber et al., 2007; Walsh and Pascual-Leone, 2003a). Although methodically hypothesized, the underlying mechanism behind this paradoxical facilitation is still a matter of debate.

2.2.4. Theta burst stimulation

It has been demonstrated that theta burst stimulation (TBS), a recently developed rTMS approach, has longer lasting after-effects with a shorter duration and a lower intensity of stimulation than conventional rTMS (Huang et al., 2005). In particular, continuous TBS (cTBS) has been shown to have a similar effect to that of slow rTMS (i.e. inhibitory) when applied to the motor cortex - 20 seconds of stimulation may result in a lasting effect of up to 20 minutes, and 40 seconds of stimulation up to 60 minutes. This long-lasting inhibitory effect of cTBS has been replicated by several groups over the primary motor area (Huang et al., 2007; Stagg et al., 2008; Stefan et al., 2008), the premotor area (Koch et al., 2007; Mochizuki et al., 2005), the primary sensory area (Schabrun et al., 2008), the primary visual areas (Franca et al., 2006), the frontal eye field (Hubl et al., 2008; Nyffeler et al., 2006) and the DLPFC (Vallesi et al., 2007). It has been reported that the cTBS effect is NMDA-dependent (Huang et al., 2007) and may increases GABA levels in the targeted area (Stagg et al., 2008). Furthermore, cTBS inhibits the BOLD fMRI signal for over 30 minutes when applied to the frontal eye field (Hubl et al., 2008). These studies suggest the potential benefits of using cTBS to study cognitive behaviour thanks to its potent inhibitory effect and relatively apparent underlying mechanisms.

2.2.5. Targeting non-motor areas (frameless stereotaxy)

Targeting areas such as the motor or visual cortex is relatively easy, as these areas induce detectable MEPs and phosphenes, respectively. However, the targeting of the DLPFC requires a more complicated approach. While one of the simpler ways to determine the location of the DLPFC is to use the international EEG electrode position (Pascual-Leone et al., 1991), a more sophisticated and precise technique has been proposed: the frameless stereotaxy system (Paus et al., 1997) (Figure 3.1). With this method, we can identify a target area given in the standardized stereotaxic space (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988) in each individual based on his/her high-resolution structural MRI (Collins et al., 1994).

2.3. Positron emission tomography

PET is a non-invasive nuclear medicine imaging technique which produces three-dimensional functional images. When applied to the brain, this technique estimates the changes in rCBF, metabolism or receptor binding by measuring the level of radioactivity emitted by the injected radioactive tracer (Hernandez-Garcia et al., 2002). The characteristics of the tracer used can allow us to selectively observe the synthesis, uptake or synaptic concentration of specific neurochemicals.

2.3.1. Physics of PET

The injected radiotracer emits positrons as it undergoes positron emission decay. The positron travels up to a few millimetres and annihilates with an electron, producing a pair of annihilation photons that move in opposite directions. These photons create a burst of light when they reach the scintillators that surround the subject and are detected by photomultiplier tubes. The detected photons are considered only when they form a pair within a few-nanosecond window, and are 180 degrees from each other. This allows us to determine the line along which the radioactive decay occurred. With the help of computed tomography, we can reconstruct the 3D or 4D images of radiotracer distribution (Sossi, 2007).

2.3.2. Investigation of the dopaminergic system

With the help of PET imaging, it is possible to investigate the pre-synaptic and post-synaptic dopaminergic system in the living human brain. The [¹⁸F]DOPA is one of the most useful tracers to quantify pre-synaptic dopaminergic function by measuring aromatic acid decarboxylase activity. For example, patients with PD have significantly decreased striatal [¹⁸F]DOPA uptake, which represents a loss of nigrostriatal dopaminergic projection neurons (Kuwabara et al., 1995; Nurmi et al., 2001). It has been reported that the reduced [¹⁸F]DOPA

uptake constant in the caudate nucleus is correlated with impaired cognitive processes in patients with PD (Bruck et al., 2001; Holthoff-Detto et al., 1997; Holthoff et al., 1994; Rinne et al., 2000; Weder et al., 1999). On the other hand, [¹⁸F]DOPA uptake is upregulated in extrastriatal regions of PD patients (Kaasinen et al., 2001; Rakshi et al., 1999; Whone et al., 2003), and may be associated with other cognitive deficits (Bruck et al., 2005; Rinne et al., 2000).

Another widely used pre-synaptic target for PET studies is the dopamine transporter (DAT), which can be imaged with [¹¹C]methylphenidate, [¹¹C]cocaine, [¹¹C]nomifensine and [¹¹C]WIN 35428. It has been suggested that lower DAT binding may also be associated with cognitive impairment in PD patients (Duchesne et al., 2002; Marie et al., 1999; Muller et al., 2000).

At the post-synaptic level, D₁- and D₂-receptors can be imaged using different radio-labeled dopamine receptor agonists or antagonists. [¹¹C]NNC-112 and [¹¹C]SCH23390 are the most widely used radioligands to estimate D₁-receptor availabilities. It has been proposed that D₁-receptor abnormalities are associated with impaired performance of executive function in schizophrenia (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002; Okubo et al., 1997) but not in PD (Cropley et al., 2008a; Ouchi et al., 1999; Shinotoh et al., 1993). However, the high affinity of these radioligands to 5-HT(2A) receptors limits the interpretation of these D₁-receptor ligand results (Ekelund et al., 2007; Slifstein et al., 2007).

D₂-receptor tracers have a relatively higher selective affinity than D₁receptor tracers. [¹¹C]raclopride is probably the most widely used radioligand to measure D₂-receptor availability in the striatum (Endres et al., 1997; Laruelle, 2000). It has been demonstrated that various interventions including drugs (Dewey et al., 1993; Laruelle et al., 1997b), behavioral tasks (Koepp et al., 1998; Monchi et al., 2006a) and rTMS (Strafella et al., 2001; 2003; 2005) are able to induce significant and reproducible changes in [¹¹C]raclopride binding potential (BP), which is inversely proportional to synaptic dopamine transmission (Laruelle, 2000).

While the high density of D₂-receptors in the striatum makes [¹¹C]raclopride a very useful tracer for post-synaptic dopamine system imaging, the scarceness of D₂-receptors in the cortex (20-fold less than D₁-receptors) (Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000) makes this tracer less appropriate for cortical dopamine transmission measurements (Farde et al., 1988). Despite this lower dopamine receptor density relative to the striatum, studies in non-human primates have shown that cortical dopamine plays a critical role in executive functions (Murphy et al., 1996; Watanabe et al., 1997). Recently, high affinity radioligands such as [¹⁸F]Fallypride and [¹¹C]FLB 457 have been developed to image extrastriatal D₂-receptors. These tracers have provided evidence for extrastriatal dopamine effects in response to drugs (Aalto et al., 2005b; Cropley

et al., 2008b; Riccardi et al., 2006; Tsukada et al., 2005) and behavioral tasks (Aalto et al., 2005a; Christian et al., 2006). In previous reports, Olsson et al. (2004) have shown that [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP, calculated by a simplified reference tissue model (Gunn et al., 1997; Lammertsma and Hume, 1996; Sudo et al., 2001), may provide a reasonable estimate of receptor densities in different extrastriatal areas (e.g. cingulate cortex, frontal cortex, thalamus, temporal cortex), consistent with a postmortem study with [125I]epidepride (Kessler et al., 1993). Similarly, [¹¹C]FLB 457 has been demonstrated to be sensitive in detecting changes in extrastriatal endogenous dopamine concentration in non-human primates (Chou et al., 2000) and humans (Aalto et al., 2005a; 2005b; Hagelberg et al., 2004; Montgomery et al., 2007). Thus, it appears that [¹¹C]FLB 457 is well-suited to capture binding differences in prefrontal areas.

2.3.3. Image Analysis

PET image analysis using a radioligand such as [¹¹C]raclopride and [¹¹C]FLB 457 can be divided into three steps: preprocessing, BP-map generation and statistical analysis. Preprocessing includes motion correction, co-registration, normalization and smoothing. There are several methods that can generate the BP-map of [¹¹C]raclopride and [¹¹C]FLB 457, but the simplified reference tissue model (Gunn et al., 1997) is the most recommended. For the statistical analysis, the most widely used functional neuroimaging toolbox is SPM (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neuroscience, Institute of Neurology). SPM offers various statistical tests such as the standard t-test, paired t-test, factorial analysis and correlation analyses. For receptor imaging studies, however, the residual t-test proposed by Aston et al. (2000) provides some advantages by increasing sensitivity while reducing false positive results.

2.3.3.1. Preprocessing

The subject's head movements during PET scans (> 1 hour) is an inevitable confound of every PET study. There are two different approaches for correcting the subject's motion, which is 1) to track and compensate for the subject's head movement using an optical device (Bloomfield et al., 2003; Fulton et al., 2002; Lopresti et al., 1999), or 2) to realign the reconstructed PET images using corregistration algorithms (Montgomery et al., 2006; Perruchot et al., 2004; Zamburlini et al., 2004). Although the first approach is very promising for the future, the latter has some advantages in practice. The importance of motion correction in PET studies is broadly accepted, but there is not yet a consensus as to which is the most optimal method for receptor imaging studies.

The standard stereotactic coordinate system (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988) is the most commonly used cartesian system to report findings of brain

imaging studies. In order to normalize (i.e. transform) each individual's PET images into standard space, the individual's PET image must first be co-registered to the corresponding structural MRI (Friston et al., 1995a; Woods et al., 1993), after which the transformation matrix of the individual's structural MRI to standard space is used (Collins et al., 1994; Friston et al., 1995a). The nonlinear transformation from the native MRI to the standard space can be used to minimize the noise induced by individual anatomical variability (Ashburner and Friston, 1999; Robbins et al., 2004).

Although not universally accepted (Reimold et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2005), smoothing is also used to filter noise. There is no standard full-width-at-half-maximum (FWHM) for smoothing, but it is recommended that the FWHM should be smaller than the size of the anatomical structure under investigation, and three times larger than the resolution of the PET image.

2.3.3.2. BP-map generation using the simplified reference tissue model

In this thesis, BP is defined as a unit-less quantity that represents how likely the radiotracers such as [¹¹C]raclopride and [¹¹C]FLB 457 bind to the dopamine receptors (Laruelle, 2000). Since these tracers bind to the receptors in a competitive manner with dopamine, their BPs are inversely proportional to the

synaptic dopamine concentration (Laruelle, 2000, Figure 2.2). The BP is defined as:

$$BP = \frac{B_{max}}{K_{D}}$$

where B_{max} is the maximal number of D_2 -receptors, K_D is the equilibrium dissociation rate constant of the radioligand.

There are several methods to generate the BP-map of [¹¹C]raclopride and [¹¹C]FLB 457; the kinetic three-compartment modeling using arterial metabolitecorrected tracer concentration as input function (Carson et al., 1997; Koeppe et al., 1991), the graphical method for reversible tracers developed by Logan et al. (1990), the Scatchard analysis (Farde et al., 1986; Ginovart et al., 1997), the displacement model in equilibrium using constant infusion (Laruelle et al., 1997a), and the simplified reference tissue model with basis functions (Gunn et al., 1997; Lammertsma and Hume, 1996).

This thesis limits its discussion to the simplified reference tissue model (Gunn et al., 1997; Lammertsma and Hume, 1996, Figure 2.3 & 2.4) due to its simplicity in experiments and the applicability to the residual t-test (Aston et al., 2000) which will be discussed in the next section. The cerebellum is chosen as a reference region and described by the two-compartmental model based on its negligible dopamine receptor densities (Martres et al., 1985). This method

generates the basis functions (Figure 2.4.b) to compute the physiologically possible time-activity-curve (TAC) of each voxel based on the TAC of the reference regions (Figure 2.3.a). The shape of the modeled TAC varies depending on θ_3 , which is determined by the least squares fit (Figure 2.4.d). The range of θ_3 should be chosen beforehand to encompass all the plausible values of k_2 (the effective efflux rate constant from the tissue), BP and λ (radiation decay constant). By performing the least squares fit between the modeled TAC and the real TAC from the receptor-rich region such as the striatum, one can estimate the BP of each voxel of the PET image. One of the advantages of using this method is that it does not assume that the cerebral blood flow is the same for each region, since it also calculates R_I (the ratio of the influx rate constants of the receptor-rich region vs the reference region, k_1/k_1 (Gunn et al., 1997; Lammertsma and Hume, 1996). The use of the simplified reference tissue model in [¹¹C]raclopride PET study is widely validated (for review, see Laruelle, 2000). For the [11C]FLB 457 PET, it has been reported that this method also best describes the results of the conventional nonlinear least-squares fitting analysis (Ito et al., 2001).

2.3.3.3. Statistical analysis of BP images

SPM tests the hypothesis of how well the modeled brain response fits with the observed data. The paired-t test and factorial analysis can be used for

intervention studies. With the proper design matrix, the T- or F-value of each voxel can be generated. Since multiple voxels are tested for the same hypothesis, the T- or F-value should be corrected for multiple comparisons, i.e. family-wiseerrors (FWE). The Bonferonni correction is one way to do so. For example, if the significant T- or F-value is corrected for p < 0.05 of FWE, it means that the probability of a false positive anywhere in the image is less than 5%. Considering that each voxel is anatomically connected and correlated with adjacent voxels, the random field theory has been introduced to FWE, and has become a standard to detect significant effects (Friston et al., 1991; Worsley et al., 1992). Another widely accepted correction for multiple comparisons is the falsediscovery-rate (FDR). The FDR controls the expected proportion of false positives among suprathreshold voxels. A FDR threshold is determined from the observed p-value distribution, and hence is adapted to the amount of generated signal in the data (Nichols and Hayasaka, 2003). However, the most often used correction for multiple comparisons in receptor imaging studies is the correction of cluster-level, since FWE and FDR are extremely conservative. The clusterlevel analysis evaluates whether the size of the given cluster of the thresholded voxels (e.g. p < 0.001, uncorrected) is significant using the random field theory and the permutation method (Hayasaka and Nichols, 2003).

It should be noted that a BP image of [¹¹C]raclopride or [¹¹C]FLB 457 is a static 3D image. Performing a paired t-test using SPM, therefore, requires at least 10 to 20 percent changes between the two conditions to detect a significant t-value depending on the search volume (Aston et al., 2000).

The residual t-test has been proposed to increase the statistical power of dual scan PET studies (Aston et al., 2000). This method uses the residuals of the least-squares fit of the compartmental model (Figure 2.4) to estimate the standard deviation of the BP. In this way, the degrees of freedom are increased by a factor proportional to the number of time frames in the dynamic data, such that the t-value follows the Gaussian counterpart (Worsley et al., 1996) without generating false-positives. For example, it has been demonstrated that only 5% difference between two conditions with 6 subjects is required to detect significant changes. This method has been extensively used in drug-intervention- (Leyton et al., 2002), behavioural- (Monchi et al., 2006a; Zald et al., 2004) and rTMS-(Strafella et al., 2001; 2003) PET studies. It should be reminded here that according to previous microdialysis studies, a small fraction of changes in BP reflect a much greater synaptic dopamine release. For example, a 1% decrement of the [11C]raclopride BP corresponds to 44% to 64% increase of extracellular dopamine release (Breier et al., 1997). It is often not sensitive enough, then, to detect a significant corrected t-value with SPM.

2.4. Summary

There is a considerable amount of human brain mapping studies aiming to elucidate neural mechanisms underlying executive function. However, although the involvement of the PFC and basal ganglia in executive functions are well documented, their functional roles remain unclear.

Using TMS and PET methodology, the next three chapters will examine the functional role of the right and left DLPFC as well as dopaminergic involvement in executive functions.

2.5. Figures



Figure 2.1. The cortico-striato-pallido-thalamo-cortical loop. Each loop engages specific regions of the cerebral cortex, striatum, pallidum/substantia nigra and thalamus depending on the given function. Abbreviations are as follows: ACA = anterior cingulate area, DLPFC = dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, FEF = frontal eye field, GPi = internal segment of globus pallidus, LOF = lateral orbitofrontal cortex, MD = mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus, SMA = supplementary motor area, SNr = substantia nigra pars reticulata, VA = ventral anterior nucleus of the thalamus, VL = ventral lateral nucleus of the thalamus, VP = ventral pallidum, cd- = caudolateral, cdm- = caudodorsomedial, dl- = dorsolateral, l- = lateral, ldm- = laterodorsomedial, m- = medial, pm- = posteromedial, rd- = rostrodorsal, rl- =

rostrolateral, vm- = ventromedial, vl- = ventrolateral, -o = pars oralis, -m = pars medialis, -mc = pars magnocellularis, -pc = pars parvocellularis, -pl = parvocellular subnucleus. Adapted from Alexander et al. (1986).



Figure 2.2. Synaptic dopamine competition hypothesis in receptor imaging. In the control condition (top), there is a baseline level of dopamine (yellow dots) in the synapse. [¹¹C]Raclopride (red dots) compete with synaptic dopamine to bind to dopamine D2-receptors (black rectangles). In the active condition (bottom), more dopamine is released in the synapse. Consequently, there is more competition for [¹¹C]raclopride binding, and BP of [¹¹C]raclopride is decreased. This demonstrates why [¹¹C]raclopride BP is inversely proportional to synaptic dopamine transmission. DAT = dopamine transporter.



Figure 2.3. Simplified reference tissue model. C_P represents free radio-tracers in the plasma, C_N represents free and nonspecific binding in the tissue, and C_B represents specific binding. k_1 , k_2 , k_3 and k_4 are rate constants between the compartments of the receptor-rich region. k_1^r and k_2^r are rate constants between the compartments of the reference region. BBB represents blood-brain-barrier.



Figure 2.4. Basis function method with simplified reference tissue model. The top left panel shows a sample [¹¹C]raclopride PET image summed over time. (a) TAC of the cerebellum is extracted from the 4D [¹¹C]raclopride PET image. (b) The basis functions ($B_t(t)$) are computed by convolution product of the cerebellar TAC ($C_R(t)$) and the exponential of $-\theta_3$ /t. A sufficient number of θ_3 / is predefined within a physiologically plausible range ($\theta_3^{min} < \theta_3' < \theta_3^{max}$). Only ten basis functions are shown for presentation purposes. For a voxel-wise [¹¹C]raclopride PET study, 100 basis functions are commonly used within $\theta_3^{min} = 0.001$ and $\theta_3^{max} = 0.01$. (c) Each voxel's TAC of any receptor-rich region can be extracted. For presentation

purposes, the TAC is extracted from the ROI drawn on the left putamen. (d) Using the least squares fit between the model $(C_T(t))$ and the real TAC of receptor-rich regions, one can find the optimal $\theta_{3'}$ ($\theta_{3'}$ ^{min} < $\theta_{3'}$ < $\theta_{3'}$ ^{max}) that results in the minimal sum of squares. In this way, one can estimate the θ_1 and θ_2 which determines the BP. (d-i) The green circles represent the TAC of the real data (the left putamen). The red line represents $C_T(t)$, the model of the TAC of the receptor-rich region. The blue line represents $\theta_2 B_t(t)$, the specific binding of [¹¹C]raclopride. The pink line represents $\theta_1 C_R(t)$, the delivery of the [¹¹C]raclopride to the receptor-rich region (or cerebral blood flow), and its nonspecific binding. θ_1 and θ_2 represents how much the delivery (or cerebral blood flow) and the specific binding is reflected in the $C_T(t)$, respectively. (d-ii) The residuals of the fitting are later used for the estimation of the standard deviation of the BP when the residual t-test is performed. The presented sample data is taken from one of the subjects that participated in the second study.

Chapter 3

The functional role of the right DLPFC in monitoring

3.1. Preface

Previously, Monchi et al., (2001) reported that the functional role of the right DLPFC lies in monitoring information held in working memory during the feedback periods of the WCST. However, functional imaging studies alone cannot make out whether the engagement of the activated area is essential or just epiphenominal (Walsh and Cowey, 2000).

In order to test this causality and to examine the role of the right DLPFC during the feedback period of WCST performance, the following event-related rTMS study, published in the International Journal of Biomedical Imaging in 2008, has been carried out. The study design was 3x2x2; brief rTMS (5 pulses in 20Hz) was delivered at three different timing periods of the task (feedback, matching and desynchronized) on two different targets (right DLPFC and vertex) while the subjects performed two different tasks (WCST and control task).

Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex affects performance of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Task during provision of feedback.

Ji Hyun Ko¹, Oury Monchi², Alain Ptito¹, Michael Petrides¹ and Antonio P. Strafella³⁻⁴

1. Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montréal, Canada.

2. Functional Neuroimaging Unit, Geriatric's Institute, University of Montréal, Canada.

3. Toronto Western Research Institute and Hospital, University of Toronto, Canada.

4. PET Imaging Centre, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, University of Toronto, Canada

^{*} Reprinted with permission from International Journal of Biomedical Imaging, 2008, Ko JH, Monchi O, Ptito A, Petrides M, Strafella AP: "Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex affects performance of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Task during provision of feedback", 2008. Copyright © (2008) Hindawi Publishing Inc.

3.2. Abstract

Early functional neuroimaging studies of tasks evaluating executive processes, such as the Wisconsin card sorting task (WCST), only assessed trials in blocks that may contain a large amount of different cognitive processes. More recently, we showed using event-related fMRI that the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) significantly increased activity during feedback but not matching periods of the WCST, consistent with its proposed role in the monitoring of information in working memory. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) is a method that allows to disrupt processing within a given cortical region and to affect task performance for which this region is significantly solicited. Here we applied rTMS to test the hypothesis that the DLPFC stimulation influences monitoring of working memory without interfering with other executive functions. We applied rTMS to the right DLPFC and the vertex (control site) in different time points of the WCST. When rTMS was applied to the DLPFC specifically during the period when subjects were receiving feedback regarding their previous response, WCST performance deteriorated, while rTMS did not affect performance during matching either when maintaining set or during set-shifting. This selective impairment of the DL-PFC is consistent with its proposed role in monitoring of events in working memory.

3.3. Introduction

There is considerable evidence that damage to the prefrontal cortex impairs performance on cognitive set-shifting tasks (Milner, 1963; Nelson, 1976; Stuss et al., 2000). In one such task, the Wisconsin card sorting task (WCST), the subject has to match, over successive trials, a test card to one of four reference cards based on a matching rule that the subject acquires on the basis of feedback provided after each matching response. Patients with prefrontal lesions are often impaired in shifting the principle of matching when the feedback provided indicates that a cognitive shift in mental set is required. Functional neuroimaging studies support these observations (Monchi et al., 2001; 2006b; Owen, 2004). In a recent study, conducted with functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), we demonstrated differential activation of different parts of the prefrontal cortex during the performance of the WCST. In particular, we were able to show that the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) was engaged when feedback was provided (Monchi et al., 2001). This selective engagement of the mid-DLPFC during the provision of feedback after each matching response by the subject is consistent with the proposed role of this part of the prefrontal cortex in the monitoring of events in working memory (Petrides, 1991, 1994, 2000). Neuroimaging studies, however, suffer from the limitation that they provide neuronal correlates of cognitive performance and cannot determine a causal

relation between observed brain activity and cognitive performance (Johnson et al., 2007; Rushworth et al., 2002). Thus the specific functional relevance of the DLPFC in monitoring the feedback provided during the performance of set-shifting tasks remains to be established.

Here we have used repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) to examine this issue. The application of rTMS to an area of cortex that, at a particular point in time, is actively involved in the processing of task-relevant information should cause performance to decline (Enomoto et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2005; Pascual-Leone et al., 1994). In other words, rTMS acts as a "virtual lesion" producing a temporary interruption of processing (Walsh and Cowey, 2000). In the present study, we tested the hypothesis that rTMS of the human DLPFC influences monitoring of the information held in the working memory without interfering with other executive functions. To test this specific hypothesis, we used a computerized version of the WCST (Monchi et al., 2001) in which different stages of task performance can be isolated. We applied rTMS to the right DLPFC and over a control site (the vertex) in three different ways: at the beginning of the feedback period, at the beginning of the matching response period, and independently of task timing. Our previous functional neuroimaging study had indicated the involvement of the DLPFC during the provision of feedback, but not during the matching response. To further strengthen our

findings, we also added a control task (Figure 3.3.b) that only required matching to a twin card.

3.4. Materials and Methods

Ten healthy subjects (19–33 years) participated in the study after having given written informed consent. All subjects were right-handed according to the Edinburgh handedness inventory (Oldfield, 1971), they had no previous personal or family history of neurological or psychiatric disorders and were not taking any medication at the time of experiments. The experiments were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Montreal Neurological Institute and Hospital. Figure 3.2 displays an overview and timing of the experimental setup.

3.4.1. Cognitive task

Subjects were trained for 30 minutes on the WCST before the rTMS sessions. Prior to the training sessions, the subjects were instructed to perform as well as they could. During the WCST, four reference cards and one matching card were presented on a computer screen (Figure 3.3.a). On each trial, the subjects had to match a test card to one of the four reference cards according to one of three rules: shape, number, or color. The currently appropriate rule for classification is found by trial and error based on the 3-second positive or negative feedback that is provided immediately after each matching decision. The rule for classification changed randomly after the subject answers correctly on six consecutive trials. In the control task, the matching card was identical to one of the reference cards so that the subject simply selected the identical card and did not have to find an appropriate rule for classification as in the WCST (Figure 3.3.b). Subjects performed the card-sorting tasks in six different rTMS sessions (2 × 3 design). Five-minute breaks were given in between sessions. Each session lasted six minutes.

3.4.2. Frameless stereotaxy system

In order to target the DLPFC and vertex (control site) in all our subjects (Figure 3.1), we used a procedure that takes advantage of the standardized stereotaxic space of Talairach and Tournoux (1988) and frameless stereotaxy (Paus, 1999; Strafella et al., 2001). A high resolution MRI of the subjects' brain was acquired and transformed into standardized stereotaxic space using the algorithm of Collins et al. (1994). The coordinates selected for the right DLPFC (X = 45, Y = 33, Z = 25) were based on a previous functional activation study that yielded increased activity during the feedback period (Monchi et al., 2001). Of note, in this study, we stimulated the DLPFC located in the right hemisphere because this side appeared to be more consistently and robustly activated (Monchi et al.,

2001). The control stimulation site (i.e., vertex region, X = 0, Y = -35, Z = 80) was also chosen based on its lack of activation during performance of the WCST in these previous studies.

The Talairach coordinates were converted into each subject's native MRI space using the reverse native-to-talairach transformation (Paus, 1999). The positioning of the TMS coil over these locations, marked on the native MRI (Figure 3.1), was performed with the aid of a frameless stereotaxic system (Rogue Research, Montreal, Canada).

3.4.3. TMS protocol

Repetitive TMS was carried out with the Magstim high-speed magnetic stimulator (Magstim, UK) using a figure-eight coil. The coil was held in a fixed position over the stimulation sites by a mechanical arm. It was positioned so that magnetically induced current under the coil flowed in a posterior-anterior direction. Stimulus intensities, expressed as a percentage of the maximum stimulator output, were set at 110% of the resting motor threshold (RMT). RMT was defined as the lowest stimulus intensity able to elicit, in the contralateral first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle, 5 motor evoked potentials (MEPs) of at least 50 uV amplitude in a series of 10 stimuli delivered over the right primary motor cortex at intervals longer than 5 seconds. MEPs were recorded from the FDI muscle with Ag\CI

surface electrodes fixed on the skin with a belly-tendon montage. The EMG signal was filtered (10 Hz–1 kHz bandpass), digitized at 2 kHz, and displayed on a computer screen (Strafella et al., 2001).

Three rTMS blocks (6 minutes each) were applied to the right DLPFC and the vertex during the WCST and control task (Figure 3.2). Each block was separated by a 5-minute interval. In each block, 5 pulse trains of 250-millisecond duration were delivered at a stimulation frequency of 20Hz with between-train interval dependent on the subject's performance time (PT) (i.e., 4 to 6 second). For each block, rTMS was delivered either (block-1) at the beginning of each feedback period (number of trials: 72.05 ± 0.75) (Figure 3.4), (block-2) at the beginning of each matching period (number of trials: 74.15±1.19) (Figure 3.5), or (block-3) every 6 second regardless of the moment in the task (i.e., desynchronized condition) (number trials: 75.53 ± 2.14) (Figure 3.6). This last paradigm was applied in order to investigate whether the rTMS effect was timing dependent (i.e., block-1 and -2) or not (block-3). Block order was counterbalanced across subjects and performed on the same day (Figure 3.2). The stimulation parameters followed safety guidelines for rTMS (Wassermann, 1998).

3.4.4. Data Analysis

PT and error rate were calculated. Each subject's PT and error rate were averaged within each condition (stimulation site, timing, and task). PT was measured from the presentation of the test card to the subject's response, that is, the selection of a reference card (Figures 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6).

Repeated-measures ANOVA was used to compare the effect of the two different stimulation sites, the three timings of stimulation, and the two different tasks on PT.

The paired samples t-test (two-tailed) was used to compare the mean PT and error rate in the WCST between the DLPFC and vertex stimulations during the three different rTMS timing conditions (rTMS during feedback, during matching, and desynchronized). The mean PT for the control task was also compared in the same manner. Data are presented as mean ± SE. All statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 13.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., USA).

3.5. Results

TMS intensity was 58.4±2.8%. There was no significant difference between numbers of trials among different blocks. Repeated-measures ANOVA on PT revealed a significant main effect of different tasks (WCST versus control; F(1,9) = 71.3; P < .001) confirming that the WCST was more demanding than the control task. There was also a significant main effect of stimulation timing on PT

(beginning of feedback versus beginning of matching versus desynchronized; F(2,18) = 23.845; P < .001) indicating that the timing of stimulation, overall, was an important factor influencing task performance more than stimulation site (DLPFC versus vertex; F(1,9) = 2.516; P = .147). A significant interaction effect was observed between tasks and stimulation site (F(1,9) = 7.642; P = .022) indicating that stimulation site affected PT differently depending on which task was used.

To test the effect of different stimulation sites within each task and stimulation timing condition, a paired *t*-test (two tailed) was performed. When comparing DLPFC versus vertex during the WCST, PT increased significantly when rTMS was delivered at the beginning of the feedback period (DLPFC = 1840.04 ± 87.18 ms, Vertex = 1682.46 ± 61.23 ms; t(9) = 2.727; P = .023) (Figure 3.4). Further analysis revealed that the magnitude of impairment did not correlate with intensity of TMS (r = -0.063; P = .863). No changes in PT were observed when rTMS was given at the beginning of the matching period (DLPFC = 1419.19 ± 107.48 ms, Vertex = 1309.87 ± 88.07 ms; t(9) = 1.382; P = .200) (Figure 3.5) nor when it was desynchronized with task performance (DLPFC = 1739.13 ± 148.26 ms, Vertex = 1659.70 ± 98.24 ms; t(9) = 0.944; P = .370) (Figure 3.6). When comparing DLPFC versus vertex during the control task, rTMS did not induce significant changes in PT either during the feedback

(DLPFC = 1491.66 ± 65.47 ms, Vertex = 1459.48 ± 59.60 ms; t(9) = 0.669; P = .521) (Figure 4), matching (DLPFC = 1084.92 ± 62.15 ms, Vertex = 1080.26 ± 77.11 ms; t(9) = 0.074; P = .943) (Figure 3.5), or desynchronized (DLPFC = 1517.38 ± 147.72 ms, Vertex = 1490.91 ± 90.36 ms; t(9) = 0.314; P = .760) conditions (Figure 3.6).

The repeated-measures ANOVA on error rate did not show any significant main effect of task conditions, stimulation timing, or the sites of stimulation, nor significant interaction effects except when comparing DLPFC and vertex at the beginning of feedback which came close to significance. More specifically, the results obtained when performing a paired *t*-test on the error rates between DLPFC and vertex stimulation during the WCST were at the beginning of the feedback (DLPFC = 6.10 ± 1.71 , Vertex = 3.28 ± 1.16 ; *t*(9) = 2.120; *P* = .063); at the beginning of matching (DLPFC = 4.79 ± 1.04 , Vertex = 4.86 ± 1.27 ; *t*(9) = -0.057; *P* = .956); during the desynchronized condition (DLPFC = 5.21 ± 0.83 , Vertex = 3.56 ± 0.51 ; *t*(9) = 1.941; *P* = .084).

3.6. Discussion

The present study demonstrated that when rTMS was applied to the DLPFC specifically during the period when the subject was receiving feedback regarding his/her matching response, performance of the WCST deteriorated. It appeared

that the effect of rTMS was significantly timing dependent. In fact, rTMS-induced interference of DLPFC affected performance specifically during the receiving of feedback (Figure 3.4), but not during the matching response (Figure 3.5) nor when the interference was desynchronized with specific stages of the WCST (Figure 3.6).

This observation of a selective rTMS-induced impairment in task performance during specific timing of a task has already been reported in the literature in relation to several of the tasks and cortical areas stimulated. For instance, rTMS of the medial frontal cortex affected task switching and at the time of response set switching when delivered before or at time of response selection (Kennerley et al., 2004; Rushworth et al., 2002). Similarly, rTMS affected DLPFC depending on whether this area, at a particular point in time, is actively involved in processing task relevant information (Hadland et al., 2001; Johnson et al., 2007).

The selective rTMS-induced impairment in WCST performance of DLPFC during the receiving of feedback is in accordance with imaging, lesion, and neurophysiological investigations. In a previous fMRI study, Monchi et al. (2001) have shown that DLPFC is engaged when the subject is receiving feedback during the WCST. That is, the period when monitoring of information held in working memory, as demonstrated by lesion studies in monkeys, is critical
(Petrides, 1994, 2005). This specific involvement has also been confirmed with neuronal recordings from DLPFC in monkeys during a WCST analog which have shown the activation of DLPFC cells during monitoring and use of feedback information. A large population of DLPFC cells were strongly engaged in assessing behavioral outcome/feedback (Mansouri et al., 2006).

Interestingly, while rTMS induced selective impairment in WCST performance, it did not affect error rate very significantly. This observation is consistent with previous work by Wagner et al. (2006) who, stimulating the DLPFC, observed no significant effect on error making during the WCST. There are two potential alternatives that could explain these findings.

The first explanation is that error making may be influenced by a different prefrontal area. In fact, lesions of DLPFC in monkeys have shown impairment in monitoring of information but did not compromise maintenance of information and set shifting per se (Petrides, 1994, 2000, 2005), which presumably may influence errors during set-shifting tasks. Set shifting from a previously relevant to a new response mode engages a more ventral area of the PFC (i.e., ventrolateral PFC) (Monchi et al., 2001) and is impaired by lesioning of this area (Iversen and Mishkin, 1970; Petrides, 2005). Another cortical area that may also have a relevant role is the medial PFC which can influence error trials during performance monitoring processes (Mansouri et al., 2006).

A second explanation, considering the fact that rTMS induced error trials have been reported less frequently in relation to different tasks and cortical area stimulated (Hadland et al., 2001; Kennerley et al., 2004; Rushworth et al., 2002; Walsh and Pascual-Leone, 2003b), it may also be that rTMS parameters (e.g., intensity, frequency, and unilateral stimulation) used so far in different studies have not been strong enough to induce a complete "virtual lesion." Against the latter hypothesis, however, stands the fact that the magnitude of selective impairment in WCST performance observed in this study did not correlate with intensity of TMS which at least excludes a possible relationship between intensity and effect on performance.

While our study provides some insights over the debate regarding the role of DLPFC during set-shifting tasks, overall it emphasizes the importance of rTMS in delineating the functional relevance of neuronal correlates of performance observed during neuroimaging studies (Johnson et al., 2007; Rushworth et al., 2002). In other words, our results suggest that just because a cortical area (i.e., DLPFC) is functionally activated during the course of an executive task (Monchi et al., 2001), it may not necessarily play the same critical and essential role during the whole task, and that rTMS may be a useful tool to complement fMRI in order to infer functionality of a cortical region of the human brain. To date, the neural mechanisms underlying executive processes are still poorly understood, even less are the mechanisms by which rTMS interferes with cortical information processing and induces such a "temporary lesion." It is believed that the rTMS-induced "noise" into neural processes may, perhaps, be the consequence of a stimulation-induced synchronization of neuronal firing disrupting active processing in the underlying cortex (Pascual-Leone et al., 2000; Walsh and Cowey, 2000). A valid alternative, however, may also be represented by a suppression in cortical excitability (lasting up to 1 second) observed following short trains of rTMS at 20 Hz (Modugno et al., 2001) or induced abnormality in the release of prefronto-striatal dopamine (Strafella et al., 2001).

The latter is suggested by the contribution of the striatum and role played by dopamine during the performance of tasks requiring executive processes. Indeed, studies of dopamine depletion in non-human primates suggest a possible involvement of striatal dopamine in set-shifting tasks (Collins et al., 2000; Roberts et al., 1994) while other neuroimaging studies have proposed that changes in striatal dopamine levels can modulate certain set-shifting processes (Monchi et al., 2006a) and that level of cognitive impairment may be dependent on the level of dopamine depletion (Cropley et al., 2006).

Whatever the rTMS mechanisms may be, the ultimate outcome appears to be a transient interruption of the specific normal cortical processing (i.e. provision of feedback) in a restricted area of the prefrontal cortex (i.e. DLPFC).

3.7. Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and Canadian Foundation Innovation (CFI) to APS, Fonds de la Recherche en Santé du Québec to APS and OM, and Regroupement Provincial en Imagerie Cérébrale to APS and OM.

3.8. Figures



Figure 3.1. TMS targeting with frameless stereotaxy. The TMS coil was located over (a) the right DL-PFC (X=45 Y=33 Z=25) or (b) the vertex (control) (X= 0 Y= -35 Z= 80). Positioning of the TMS coil over these locations, marked on the native MRI, was performed with the aid of a frameless stereotaxic system.



Figure 3.2. Timeline of the experimental setup. All subjects were trained for approximately 30 minutes at the beginning of the experiment. After registering the subjects' anatomical land marks to their structural MRIs, the subjects performed six minutes of the behavioral tasks while rTMS was administered at DL-PFC or vertex (control) in three different timing conditions. The order of stimulation sites and timings were counterbalanced. The behavioral tasks consisted of the WCST and the control task.



Figure 3.3. Behavioral tasks. (a) WCST: for each stimulus, the four symbols on top are reference symbols, and the symbol on the bottom is the test symbol. The subjects could move a yellow bar which was displayed under the reference symbols by pressing the left button of a mouse with his/her index finger. Pressing the right button with the middle finger confirmed the selection of the symbol followed by negative or positive feedback. The subjects had to find out the rule of classification (color, shape, number) by trial and error. (b) Control task: the test symbol was identical to one of the reference symbols. The rest was the same as WCST.



Figure 3.4. rTMS at the beginning of feedback (a) while the subject performed the WCST or control task, rTMS was applied over the right DL-PFC or vertex at the beginning of receiving feedback. (b) DL-PFC stimulation during the feedback phase of the WCST increased performance time (PT) compared to the vertex stimulation (* p = 0.023; two-tailed). No stimulation effect was observed in the control task.



Figure 3.5. rTMS at the beginning of matching (a) while the subject performed the WCST or control task, rTMS was applied over the right DL-PFC or vertex at the beginning of matching. (b) DL-PFC stimulation during the matching phase of WCST or control task had no effect on PT compared to the vertex stimulation.



Figure 3.6. Desynchronized rTMS (a) while the subject performed the WCST or control task, rTMS was applied over the right DL-PFC or vertex at every 6 seconds which was desynchronized with the tasks. (b) Desynchronized DL-PFC stimulation had no effect on PT compared to the vertex stimulation.

Chapter 4

The functional role of the left DLPFC in set-shifting and its connection to striatal dopamine

4.1. Preface

Having demonstrated the crucial role of the right DLPFC in monitoring of working memory in the previous chapter, we proceeded to test the functional role of the left DLPFC. As indicated in previous chapters, it has been hypothesized that the left DLPFC is engaged in set-shifting processes (Monchi et al., 2006a; 2006b; 2007), and that its activation is associated with the caudate nucleus.

In order to test this causality and to examine the functional role of the left DLPFC and its influences on task-induced striatal dopamine transmission (Monchi et al., 2006a), the following TMS-[¹¹C]raclopride PET study, published in European Journal of Neuroscience in 2008, has been carried out. This manuscript has received the EJN Best Publication Award in 2009 (see appendix)

Theta burst stimulation-induced inhibition of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex reveals hemispheric asymmetry in striatal dopamine release during set-shifting task: a TMS/ [¹¹C]raclopride PET study

Ji Hyun Ko^{1,2}, Oury Monchi³, Alain Ptito¹, Peter Bloomfield², Sylvain Houle² and Antonio P. Strafella^{2,4}

1. Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montréal, Canada.

2. PET Imaging Centre, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

3. Functional Neuroimaging Unit, Geriatric's Institute, University of Montréal, Montréal, Canada.

4. Toronto Western Research Institute and Hospital, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada.

^{*} Reprinted with permission from European Journal of Neuroscience, 2008, Ko JH, Monchi O, Ptito A, Bloomfield P, Houle S, Strafella AP: "Theta burst stimulation-induced inhibition of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex reveals hemispheric asymmetry in striatal dopamine release during set-shifting task: a TMS/ [11C]raclopride PET study", vol. 28 (10), pp. 2147–2155, 2008. Copyright © (2008) Blackwell Publishing Inc.

4.2. Abstract

The prefronto-striatal network is considered to play a key role in executive functions. Previous neuroimaging studies have shown that executive processes tested with card-sorting tasks requiring planning and set-shifting [e.g. Montreal-card-sorting-task (MCST)] may engage the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) while inducing dopamine release in the striatum. However, functional imaging studies can only provide neuronal correlates of cognitive performance and cannot establish a causal relation between observed brain activity and task performance. In order to investigate the contribution of the DLPFC during set-shifting and its effect on the striatal dopaminergic system, we applied continuous theta burst stimulation (cTBS) to left and right DLPFC. Our aim was to transiently disrupt its function and to measure MCST performance and striatal dopamine release during [¹¹C]raclopride PET.

A significant hemispheric asymmetry was observed. cTBS of the left DLPFC impaired MCST performance and dopamine release in the ipsilateral caudate / anterior putamen and contralateral caudate nucleus, as compared to cTBS of the vertex (control). These effects appeared to be limited only to left DLPFC stimulation while right DLPFC stimulation did not influence task performance and [¹¹C]raclopride binding potential in the striatum.

This is the first study showing that cTBS, by disrupting left prefrontal function, may indirectly affect striatal dopamine neurotransmission during performance of executive tasks. This cTBS-induced regional prefrontal effect and modulation of the fronto-striatal network may be important for understanding the contribution of hemisphere laterality and its neural bases with regard to executive functions as well as for revealing the neurochemical substrate underlying cognitive deficits.

4.3. Introduction

There is clear evidence that damage to the prefrontal cortex impairs performance on cognitive set-shifting tasks (Milner, 1963; Nelson, 1976; Stuss *et al.*, 2000). Functional neuroimaging investigations support these observations (Monchi *et al.*, 2001; 2006b; Owen, 2004). In a previous study, conducted with functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), our group demonstrated differential activation of parts of the prefrontal cortex during performance of a sorting task. In particular, we were able to show that the engagement of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) during the provision of feedback after each matching response was consistent with the proposed role of this region in the monitoring of events in working memory (Monchi *et al.*, 2001; Petrides, 2000). From this and other studies, it emerged however, that not only the DLPFC but also the striatum plays a significant role during executive processes requiring planning and set-

shifting (Lewis et al., 2004; Monchi et al., 2001; 2004; 2006a; 2006b; 2007; Owen, 2004; Rogers et al., 2000). This co-activation of the DLPFC and the striatum during set-shifting tasks is in line with the well-described cognitive anatomical loop proposed by Alexander et al. (1986). In addition, recent positron emission tomography (PET) studies conducted with D₂-dopamine receptor ligand [¹¹C]raclopride in healthy subjects while performing the Montreal Card Sorting Task (MCST) (Monchi *et al.*, 2006a) have shown that planning of a set-shift may also be associated with bilateral striatal (i.e. caudate nucleus) reduction in [¹¹C]raclopride binding potential (BP), suggesting that striatal dopamine neurotransmission may increase significantly during the performance of specific executive processes.

Even though functional neuroimaging studies have provided great insights in the role of DLPFC and striatum during set-shifting tasks, neuroimaging alone suffers from the limitation that it provides only neuronal correlates of cognitive performance and often cannot determine a causal relation between observed brain activity and cognitive performance (Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Rushworth *et al.*, 2002). Thus, in the human brain, the specific functional relevance of the DLPFC and striatal dopamine release during set-shifting tasks remains to be established. Here, we used continuous theta burst stimulation (cTBS), a type of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) technique (Huang et al., 2005), to

address this issue. We predicted that such application of rTMS to an area of cortex that at a given time point is actively involved in processing of task-relevant information would cause performance to decline (Enomoto et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2005; Pascual-Leone et al., 1994) by acting as a "virtual lesion" (Walsh and Cowey, 2000). In the present study, we tested whether cTBS-induced "lesioning" of the DLPFC during a set-shifting task would interfere with striatal dopamine release measured with [11C]raclopride PET. D₂-dopamine receptor ligand [¹¹C]raclopride binding has been shown to be inversely proportional to the concentration of extra-cellular dopamine (Endres et al., 1997; Laruelle, 2000). In humans, this method has been used to measure striatal dopamine release in response to drugs (Dewey et al., 1993; Laruelle et al., 1997a), behavioral tasks (Koepp et al., 1998) and rTMS (Strafella et al., 2001; 2003; 2005). To test our hypothesis, we used a computerized sorting task, the MCST, which in our previous fMRI studies showed an engagement of the DLPFC and displayed bilateral release of dopamine in the striatum (i.e. caudate) during [¹¹C]raclopride PET (Monchi et al., 2006a; 2006b; 2007). We hypothesized that if DLPFC-cTBS affects task performance and indirectly interferes with task-induced striatal release of dopamine, an increase in [11C]raclopride BP as compared to the control site would result.

Although it has been previously proposed that the role of the DLPFC resides in monitoring of working memory during wisconsin card sorting task, our group reported some differences between left and right hemisphere. In fact while the right DLPFC was more consistently activated during both positive and negative feedback (monitoring working memory), the left DLPFC was more engaged with processing of negative feedback (set-shifting) (Monchi et al., 2001). Greater activation in left DLPFC was also observed in older control subjects during set-shifting with the MCST (Monchi et al., 2007). Other fMRI studies have also pointed out evidences of hemispheric asymmetry in the human lateral prefrontal cortex during cognitive set-shifting (Konishi et al., 2002; Lie et al., 2006). Thus, since hemispheric specialization constitutes an important aspect of executive behavior, we aimed to test such asymmetry. Given the fact that the MCST is designed to have an emphasis on set-shifting compared to other cognitive task (i.e. wisconsin card sorting task) and based on our previous imaging observations (Monchi et al., 2007) we hypothesized that only the left DLPFC stimulation may interfere with task performance, but not the right DLPFC stimulation.

4.4. Method

4.4.1. Subjects and Experimental design

Ten healthy young right-handed adults (20 – 28 years, 4 males and 6 females) participated in the present study after having given written informed consent. They were investigated with [¹¹C]raclopride PET while performing the MCST to measure changes in striatal dopamine release. Each subject underwent three [¹¹C]raclopride PET scans: one after cTBS of the left DLPFC, one following cTBS of the right DLPFC, and one after cTBS of the vertex (control site). The scan order was randomized across subjects and scans were performed at the same time on different days. The experiments were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

4.4.2. TMS protocol

cTBS was carried out with the Magstim Rapid² (Magstim, UK) using a figure-ofeight coil. The coil was held in the scanner in a fixed position by a mechanical arm over the stimulation sites. It was oriented so that the induced electric current flowed under the coil in a posterior-anterior direction. Stimulus intensities, expressed as a percentage of the maximum stimulator output, were set at 80% of the active motor threshold (AMT). AMT was defined as the lowest stimulus intensity able to elicit five motor evoked potential (MEP) of at least 200 μ V averaged over 10 consecutive trials delivered at intervals longer than 5 s. During the determination of AMT, subjects were instructed to maintain a steady muscle contraction of 20% of maximum voluntary contraction. Audio-visual feedback was given to assist them in maintaining a steady muscle activation (Strafella and Paus, 2000). MEPs were recorded from the contralateral FDI muscle with Ag\Cl surface electrodes fixed on the skin with a belly-tendon montage. Electromyogram (EMG) signal was filtered (50–50 KHz bandpass) and displayed on the EMGrapher screen (Keypoint, Medtronic, Canada) (Strafella *et al.*, 2001). Motor thresholds were measured during the recruitment session and just before PET scans.

Three cTBS blocks (20 seconds each) were applied to the left and right DLPFC and to the vertex (control site) prior to the MCST (Figure 4.1). Each block was separated by a 1 minute interval. Each 20-sec block consisted of bursts containing 3 pulses at 50 Hz repeated at 200 ms intervals (i.e., 5 Hz) (Huang *et al.*, 2005). In total, sixty seconds of cTBS (900 pulses) were administered before each PET acquisition scan. This off-line TMS paradigm has two main advantages: it produces a long-lasting (up to 60 min) inhibitory effect limited to the underlying cortex (Di Lazzaro *et al.*, 2005; Huang *et al.*, 2005; Hubl *et al.*, 2008) and it prevents any exogenous influence of the sound and proprioceptive sensation (given by the TMS) during the task performance (Vallesi *et al.*, 2007).

4.4.3. Location of the target site

In order to target the left and right DLPFCs and vertex (control site), we used a procedure that takes advantage of the standardized stereotaxic space of Talairach and Tournoux (1988) and frameless stereotaxy (Paus, 1999; Strafella *et al.*, 2001) (Figure 4.2). A high-resolution MRI (GE Signa 1.5 T, T1-weighted images, 1 mm slice thickness) of every subject's brain was acquired and transformed into standardized stereotaxic space using the algorithm of Collins et al. (1994). The coordinates selected for the left DLPFC (x=-30, y=40, z=26) and right DLPFC (x=30, y=40, z=26) were based on previous functional activation studies (Monchi *et al.*, 2006b). The chosen control stimulation site (i.e. vertex region, x=0, y=-35, z=80) was based on the lack of activation during performance of the MCST observed in previous studies (Monchi *et al.*, 2001; 2006b) and preliminary TMS-behavioral studies.

The Talairach coordinates were converted into each subject's native MRI space using the reverse native-to-Talairach transformation (Paus, 1999). The positioning of the TMS coil over these locations, marked on the native MRI, was performed with the aid of a frameless stereotaxic system (Rogue Research, Montreal, Canada).

4.4.4. Cognitive Task

During the three PET sessions, we used the same set-shifting condition as that of the MCST, i.e. retrieval with shift task, (Figure 4.3) which, in our previous PET studies, was associated with release of dopamine in the striatum (Monchi et al., 2006a). The task was displayed via a video eyewear (DV920; Icuiti Corporation, New York, USA) placed on the plastic thermal mask. In the retrieval with shift task of the MCST (Figure 4.3), four reference cards were displayed in a row at the top of the screen in all trials. Blocks of twenty classification trials (block duration: 4 minutes) (Figure 4.1) were preceded by the brief presentation of a single cue card. The cue card did not reappear and had to be remembered throughout the block. On each classification trial, a new test card was presented below the reference cards and the subject had to match the test card to one of the four reference cards using one of four buttons with the right dominant hand. Matching each test card to one of the reference cards was based on a classification rule (color, shape or number) determined by making a comparison between the previously viewed cue card and the current test card (Figure 4.3).

The test cards on consecutive trials never shared the same attribute with the cue card. Therefore, matching had to be performed according to a different attribute in each trial. A different cue card was presented before each block. Thirteen blocks separated by one-minute interval were repeated on a given scanning session (Figure 4.1). Subjects underwent a training session of the set-

shifting task before the first PET session in order to reduce a possible learning effect.

4.4.5. Positron Emission Tomography

PET scans were obtained with a high resolution PET CT, Siemens-Biograph HiRez XVI (Siemens Molecular Imaging, Knoxville, TN, U.S.A.) operating in 3D mode with an in-plane resolution of approximately 4.6 mm full width at half-maximum. To minimize subject's head movements in the PET scanner, we used a custom-made thermoplastic facemask together with a head-fixation system (Tru-Scan Imaging, Annapolis). Before each emission scan, following the acquisition of a scout view for accurate positioning of the subject, a low dose (0.2 mSv) CT scan was acquired and used for attenuation correction.

Within five minutes of the ending of the cTBS session (Figure 4.1), 10 mCi of [¹¹C]raclopride was injected into the left antecubital vein over 60 seconds and emission data were then acquired over a period of 60 minutes in 28 frames of progressively increasing duration (5 one-minute frames, 20 two-minute frames, 3 five-minute frames).

High-resolution MRI (GE Signa 1.5 T, T1-weighted images, 1 mm slice thickness) of each subject's brain was acquired and transformed into

standardized stereotaxic space (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988) using automated feature-matching to the MNI template (Collins *et al.*, 1994).

PET frames were summed, registered to the corresponding MRI (Woods *et al.*, 1993) and transformed into standardized stereotaxic space using the transformation parameters previously determined for the MRI. Voxelwise [¹¹C]raclopride BP was calculated using a simplified reference tissue (cerebellum) method (Gunn et al., 1997; Lammertsma and Hume, 1996) to generate statistical parametric images of change in BP (Aston *et al.*, 2000). This method uses the residuals of the least-squares fit of the compartmental model to the data at each voxel to estimate the standard deviation of the BP estimate, thus greatly increasing degrees of freedom. Only peaks falling within the striatum were considered.

A threshold level of $t \ge 4.0$ was considered significant (p < 0.05, 2-tailed) corrected for multiple comparisons (Worsley *et al.*, 1996), assuming a search volume equal to the entire striatum and 276 degrees of freedom (Aston *et al.*, 2000). Binding potential values were extracted from a spherical region of interest (radius 5 mm) centered at the x, y, and z coordinates of the statistical peak revealed by the parametric map.

To confirm our results, two additional analyses (three-way ANOVA and direct contrast) using SPM2 (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neuroscience,

Institute of Neurology) were carried out. For both analyses, averaging over subjects was performed using a random effects-analysis. First, we performed a three-way ANOVA with the factors 'left DLPFC-TMS', 'right DLPFC-TMS' and 'vertex-TMS' (multi-subject PET design with three conditions, F-contrast vector = [1 -1 0; 0 1 -1; -1 0 1]^T). Then, separately, we performed a paired T-test between the conditions 'left DLPFC-TMS' and 'right DLPFC-TMS' (multi-subject PET design, contrast vector = $[1 - 1]^T$). Parametric images of $[^{11}C]$ raclopride BP transformed into standardized brain space were smoothed with an isotropic Gaussian of 12 mm full-width at half-maximum to accommodate inter-subject differences in anatomy and enable the application of Gaussian fields to the derived statistical images (Friston et al., 1995b). Uncorrected threshold P< 0.005 (with extent voxels > 10) was considered significant based on the facts that this analysis was driven by a specific, a priori, hypothesis within a small search region (striatum) not involving the whole brain (Friston et al., 1996) and that this was also a confirmatory analysis.

Coordinates listed below are expressed in Talairach space. During the MCST, behavioral responses (i.e. performance time and error trials) were measured. Performance time was calculated from the presentation of the test card to the subject's response, i.e., the selection of a reference card. Error trials were counted as number of incorrect responses. Error trials and performance

time of the left and right DLPFC were normalized and expressed as a percentage of the vertex-cTBS induced behavioral responses (control site). All values are presented as mean ± SE.

4.5. Results

cTBS of the left DLPFC affected MCST-induced striatal dopamine release resulting in a bilateral increase in [¹¹C]raclopride BP in the striatum as compared to control condition (vertex-cTBS) (Figure 4.4). More specifically, [¹¹C]raclopride BP increased by 14.67 % (vertex condition: 2.22 \pm 0.12, DLPFC condition: 2.56 \pm 0.20) in the ipsilateral caudate nucleus (x=-12, y=5, z=15; t=4.6, cluster size: 48 mm³) and by 12.59 % (vertex condition: 2.50 \pm 0.08, DLPFC condition: 2.80 \pm 0.10) in the contralateral caudate (x=18, y=8 z=14; t= 4.8, cluster size: 40 mm³) (Figure 4.4, 4.5). A significant area of change in [¹¹C]raclopride binding was also observed in the ipsilateral putamen, 12.98 % (vertex condition: 3.29 \pm 0.13, DLPFC condition: 3.69 \pm 0.18) with its peak (t=4.6) at coordinates x=-21, y=6, z=3. No changes in BP were detected in the contralateral putamen or anywhere in the ventral part of the striatum.

While cTBS of the left DLPFC interfered with the MCST-induced striatal dopamine release, cTBS of the right DLPFC did not affect MCST-induced

dopamine release and did not induce any changes in striatal [¹¹C]raclopride BP as compared to control condition (vertex-cTBS).

Additional analysis using SPM2 confirmed our results. Three-way ANOVA (left DLPFC, right DLPFC and vertex stimulation) showed a significant effect on BP in the left and right caudate nucleus and left putamen (F(2,18)>3.5, p<0.005 uncorrected, extent threshold >10 voxels). A direct contrast of the left vs right DLPFC stimulation revealed a greater [¹¹C]raclopride BP (i.e. reduced task-related dopamine release) in the bilateral caudate nucleus and left putamen (T(9)>2.5, p<0.001 uncorrected, extent threshold > 10 voxels).

Behaviorally, cTBS of the left DLPFC induced an increase of 75.38 ± 44.18 % in error trials during the MCST as compared to the right DLPFC-cTBS (error trials: -3.95 ± 18.03 %) (paired t-test t(9)=2.264; p<0.05) (Figure 4.7). A direct comparison between left and right DLPFC-cTBS induced error trials confirmed the significant difference (paired t-test t(9)= 2.383; p<0.05). Performance time, however, was not affected by either left (0.75 ± 4.78 %) or right DLPFC (-4.37 ± 5.03 %) stimulation (paired t-test t(9)=1.665; p>0.05).

4.6. Discussion

In the present study, cTBS of the left DLPFC affected MCST performance and resulted in interference upon dopamine release in the ipsilateral caudate /

anterior putamen and contralateral caudate nucleus, as compared to cTBS of the control site (i.e. vertex). These effects appeared to be limited to the left DLPFC stimulation while cTBS of the right DLPFC did not impair task performance and did not influence [¹¹C]raclopride BP anywhere in the ipsilateral and/or contralateral striatum (as compared to control site) (Figure 4.4, 4.5, 4.7).

Subthreshold cTBS of the frontal cortex is believed to produce a longlasting inhibition (up to 60 minutes) of the underlying cortex (Huang et al., 2005; Nyffeler et al., 2006; Vallesi et al., 2007) and seem to involve plasticity likechanges at the synaptic connections possibly mediated by NMDA receptors (Huang *et al.*, 2007). These observations has been confirmed both with neurophysiological studies (Di Lazzaro *et al.*, 2005) and more recently with fMRI investigations (Hubl *et al.*, 2008). The latter has demonstrated that cTBS of the frontal eye field is responsible for a long-lasting decrease of the task-related BOLD response recovering to a pre-stimulation level about 60 min after stimulation. Based on these reports and according to our predictions, cTBS affected DLPFC activity and indirectly interfered with the task-induced striatal release of dopamine (Monchi *et al.*, 2006a) resulting in an increase in [¹¹C]raclopride BP (as compared to the control site stimulation).

These findings confirm and further extend our previous observations that set-shifting tasks, such as the MCST, while engaging DLPFC may also influence dopamine release in the striatum (Monchi et al., 2006a; 2006b; 2007).

These observations are in keeping with several reports. In fact, while it is well known that damage to the prefrontal cortex impairs performance on setshifting tasks (Milner, 1963; Nelson, 1976; Stuss *et al.*, 2000), other studies of dopamine depletion in non-human primates have proposed a possible involvement of striatal dopamine in set-shifting tasks (Collins *et al.*, 2000; Roberts *et al.*, 1994). Similarly, neuroimaging studies have demonstrated that changes in striatal dopamine levels can modulate certain cognitive processes and that the level of cognitive impairment may depend on the level of dopamine depletion (Cropley *et al.*, 2006). Consistent with this hypothesis, PET studies performed in patients with Parkinson's disease (PD) and healthy subjects following tyrosine and phenylalanine-induced depletion (Lozza *et al.*, 2004; Marie *et al.*, 1999; Owen, 2004) have shown a significant correlation between executive task performances and striatal dopamine denervation.

In support of our working hypothesis, particularly intriguing was the observation that only left and not right DLPFC stimulation-induced interference was responsible for the observed results in these right-handed young healthy subjects (Figure 4.4, 4.5, 4.6, 4.7). This is consistent with previous lesion studies.

The impaired top-down control of task-set reconfiguration has been reported to be involved with left frontal lesion while right frontal lesion has been associated with inhibition of inappropriate responses (Aron et al., 2004a; Rogers et al., 1998). Stuss and Alexander (2007) argued in their extensive review of frontal lesions and executive function that task-setting processes are consistently impaired after damage to the left prefrontal cortex. This task setting-left frontal relationship has also been observed during the Wisconsin card sorting task in relation to set-loss errors. Other lesion studies have attempted to identify regional frontal effects using the Stroop task and have defined underlying impaired neural mechanisms supporting, in general, the assumption that left prefrontal cortex lesions affect setting of stimulus-response contingencies (Richer et al., 1993). More recently, fMRI studies using variations of the standard Stroop paradigm and Wisconsin card sorting task have also supported these observations and confirmed hemispheric asymmetry in DLPFC during cognitive tasks (Derrfuss et al., 2005). Specific regional prefrontal effects as consequence of cTBS have also been observed in other recent studies (Vallesi et al., 2007), where these authors while testing different cognitive processes such as implicit temporal processing (e.g., foreperiod [FP] effect) have provided evidence of a specific contribution, this time, of the right (but not left) DLPFC.

cTBS-induced changes in BP were observed both in the caudate and anterior putamen (Figure 4.4, 4.6), in accordance with anatomical (Alexander et al., 1986) and functional imaging studies (Monchi et al., 2001; 2006a; 2006b). In rhesus monkeys, these striatal areas receive axonal afferents mainly from the prefrontal cortex and form part of the 'cognitive' corticostriatal loop proposed by (Alexander et al., 1986). Similarly, in our previous fMRI studies, we reported coactivation of the prefrontal cortex with the caudate nucleus and putamen, respectively, during planning and execution of a set-shift (Monchi et al., 2001; 2006b). Other imaging studies conducted in PD patients have also revealed a significant correlations between executive processes and dopamine transporter densities in the caudate and putamen (Muller et al., 2000). A similar relationship between executive functioning and [¹⁸F]DOPA uptake in the putamen has been observed in more recent PET studies (van Beilen and Leenders, 2006). Traditionally, the putamen, unlike the caudate nucleus, has always been associated with motor-related activities rather than with cognitive functions. However, there is clear evidence that the role of the putamen may not be directly linked to the movement itself, but rather to the condition under which it is made (Tolkunov et al., 1998).

Left cTBS of the DLPFC affected release of dopamine in bilateral caudate nucleus (Figure 4.4, 4.6). This TMS-induced prefrontal-striatal network

modulation is consistent with the bilateral involvement of striatal dopaminergic function in relation to working memory task recently been documented by Landau et al. (2008). These results confirmed our previous PET study (Monchi et al., 2006a) which showed changes in [11C]raclopride BP during the same set-shifting condition in the left and right caudate nucleus. Thus, assuming that this behavioral task engages both caudate nuclei, it follows that cTBS-induced interference of the task affects both caudate nuclei similarly. In the context of a prefrontal-striatal network modulation induced by TMS, however, it is important to keep in mind that TMS may influence neural activity both locally in the tissue under the coil and remotely to stimulation site, presumably through trans-synaptic connections (Pascual-Leone et al., 2000; Strafella et al., 2001; Walsh and Cowey, 2000).

Our study provides indirect evidence of fronto-striatal modulation of striatal dopamine during the performance of set-shifting processes. To our knowledge, this is the first study showing that rTMS may indirectly affect task-induced striatal dopamine neurotransmission by disrupting left prefrontal function while involved in processing task-relevant information. This rTMS-induced regional prefrontal inhibition and its modulation of the fronto-striatal network may be important for understanding the contribution of hemisphere laterality and the neural bases of executive functions such as planning and set-shifting. It may also help identify

the neurochemical substrate underlying deficits in cognitive functions observed in neurological disorders associated with dopamine dysfunction, such as PD.

4.7. Acknowledgments

We wish to thank all the staff of the CAMH-PET imaging centre for their assistance in carrying out the studies. This work was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research to APS (MOP-64423).

4.8. Figures



Figure 4.1. Timeline of the experimental setup. All subjects went through three [11C]raclopride PET scans on different day at the same time. On each day, the TMS coil was positioned on either the left DLPFC, the right DLPFC or the vertex (control site). Three cTBS blocks (20 seconds each) were applied prior to the MCST. Each block was separated by a 1 minute interval. Each 20-sec block consisted of bursts containing 3 pulses at 50 Hz repeated at 200 ms intervals (i.e., at 5 Hz). In total, sixty seconds of cTBS (900 pulses) were administered for each PET session. Participants started the MCST after the cTBS sessions until the end of PET scan. The [11C]raclopride was injected within five minutes following cTBS. Thirteen 4-minute blocks separated by 1-minute interval were repeated on a given scanning session.



Figure 4.2. TMS targeting with the frameless stereotaxy. TMS coil was located over (a) the left DLPFC (X=-30, Y=40, Z=26), (b) the right DLPFC (X=30, Y=40, Z=26) or (c) the vertex (control site) (X= 0 Y= -35 Z= 80). The positioning of the TMS coil over these locations, marked on the native MRI was performed with the aid of a frameless stereotaxic system.



Figure 4.3. Montreal Card Sorting Task. A cue card appears for 3.5 sec at the beginning of a block of twenty classification trials. A different cue card was presented before each block. In this example, the cue card contains three red stars. After the cue card disappears, four reference cards were displayed in a row at the top of the screen in all trials. On each classification trial, a new test card was presented below the reference cards and the subject had to match the test card to one of the four reference cards using one of four buttons with the right hand. The match of each test card to one of the reference cards was based on a classification rule (color, shape or number) that is determined by making a comparison between the previously viewed cue card and the current test card. The test cards on consecutive trials never shared the same attribute with the cue card. Therefore, matching had to be performed according to a different attribute in each trial.



Figure 4.4. Voxel-wise image analysis. (a) Comparison between left DLPFC and vertex stimulation (control condition). Sagittal (x = -12 and x = -22) and axial (z = 14) sections of the statistical parametric map of the change in [¹¹C]raclopride BP overlaid upon the average MRI of all subjects in stereotaxic space. The figure displays the significant areas of striatal dopamine changes during MCST performance after left DLPFC stimulation compared to vertex stimulation (control). (b) Comparison between right DLPFC and vertex stimulation showing the lack of changes in [¹¹C]raclopride BP.


Figure 4.5. ROI image analysis. In the lower figure, [¹¹C]raclopride binding potential (mean \pm SE) during MCST performance after left DLPFC stimulation and vertex stimulation (control), from left caudate (p < 0.05), right caudate (p < 0.05) and left putamen (p < 0.05), extracted from a spherical region of interest centered at the x, y and z coordinates of the statistical peak revealed by the parametric map. In the upper figure, the solid dots represent individual BP.



Figure 4.6. Direct contrast of the left vs right DLPFC stimulation showed higher BP (i.e. reduced task-related dopamine release) in the bilateral caudate nucleus (Z= 12) and left putamen (X = -28) (T(9)>2.5, p<0.001 uncorrected, extent threshold >10 voxels).



Figure 4.7. Behavioural results. In the lower figure, DLPFC-cTBS induced error trials during MCST expressed as a percentage of the error trials of the vertex-cTBS (control site). Left DLPFC increased error trials of 75.38 \pm 44.18 % as compared to right DLPFC-cTBS which did not affect task performance (error trials: -3.95 \pm 18.03 %) (paired t-test t(9)=2.264; p<0.05). Error bars indicate SE. In the upper figure, individual number of errors during MCST after cTBS.

Chapter 5

Cortical dopamine transmission during a card sorting task

5.1. Preface

We have demonstrated the role of the left DLPFC-caudate dopamine circuitry in set-shifting tasks in the previous chapter. The involvement of extrastriatal (i.e. prefrontal) dopamine transmission, however, remained unclear. Based on previous neuroimaging studies (Monchi et al., 2001; 2004; 2007) and as discussed in previous chapters, it was hypothesized that performing the MCST would modulate cortical dopamine transmission in the DLPFC and the ACC.

In order to demonstrate dopamine transmission in the extrastriatal regions, a [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET study, in press in NeuroImage, has been carried out.

Increased dopamine release in the right anterior cingulate cortex during the performance of a sorting task: a [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET study

Ji Hyun Ko^{1,2}, Alain Ptito², Oury Monchi³, Sang Soo Cho¹, Thilo Van Eimeren¹,

Giovanna Pellecchia¹, Benedicte Ballanger¹, Pablo Rusjan¹, Sylvain Houle¹ &

Antonio P. Strafella^{1,4}

1. PET Imaging Centre, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

2. Montreal Neurological Institute, McGill University, Montréal, Canada.

 Functional Neuroimaging Unit, Geriatric's Institute, University of Montréal, Montréal, Canada.

4. Toronto Western Hospital (Movement Disorders Centre) & Research Institute

(Division of Brain, Imaging and Behaviour - Systems Neuroscience, BIB-SN),

UHN, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada

* Reprinted with permission from NeuroImage, 2009, Ko JH, Ptito A, Monchi O, Cho SS, van Eimeren T, Pellecchia G, Ballanger B, Rusjan P, Houle S, Strafella AP: "Increased dopamine release in the right anterior cingulate cortex during the performance of a sorting task: a [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET study", 2009. Copyright © (2009) Blackwell Publishing Inc.

5.2. Abstract

There is clear evidence that the prefrontal cortex is strongly involved in executive processes and that dopamine can influence performance on working memory tasks. Although, some studies have emphasized the role of striatal dopamine in executive functions, the role played by prefrontal dopamine during executive tasks is unknown. In order to investigate cortical dopamine transmission during executive function, we used D2-dopamine receptor ligand [11C]FLB 457 PET in healthy subjects while performing the Montreal Card Sorting Task (MCST). During the retrieval with shift task of the MCST, the subjects had to match each test card to one of the reference cards based on a classification rule (color, shape or number) determined by comparing the previously viewed cue card and the current test card. A reduction in [¹¹C]FLB 457 binding potential in the right dorsal anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) was observed when subjects performed the active task compared to the control task. These findings may suggest that right dorsal ACC dopamine neurotransmission increases significantly during the performance of certain executive processes, e.g., conflict monitoring, in keeping with previous evidence from fMRI studies showing ACC activation during similar tasks. These results may provide some insights on the origin of cognitive deficits underlying certain neurological disorders associated with dopamine dysfunction, such as Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia.

5.3. Introduction

There is clear evidence that damage to the prefrontal cortex impairs performance on executive function tasks (Milner, 1963; Nelson, 1976; Stuss et al., 2000) and functional neuroimaging investigations support these observations (Buchsbaum et al., 2005; Konishi et al., 2002; Lie et al., 2006; Monchi et al., 2001). In a previous fMRI study, we demonstrated that performing the Wisconsin card sorting task activates prefrontal areas including the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC), and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) (Monchi et al., 2001). More specifically, the DLPFC is most engaged during the provision of feedback after each matching response, a fact which is consistent with the proposed role of this region in the monitoring of events in working memory (Petrides, 2000). VLPFC and ACC are more engaged during negative feedback reception and we hypothesized that these activations are related to preparation to shift set and monitor conflicts of previous versus current rule of classification, respectively. The functional specificity of different prefrontal regions has been further investigated and supported by fMRI studies that used the Montreal card sorting task (MCST), a test specifically designed for the investigation of the different subcomponents of executive function, i.e., retrieval of information and set-shifting (Monchi et al., 2006b; 2007).

While fMRI studies can identify task-specific neuronal correlates with high temporal and spatial resolutions, they cannot provide information on the neurochemical bases of a given function. Identifying the type of neurotransmission involved in executive function is crucial for understanding its underlying mechanism. Since it is known that dopaminergic modulation can alleviate or worsen the performance on working memory tasks (Fournet et al., 2000; Kimberg et al., 1997; Kimberg and D'Esposito, 2003; Kulisevsky et al., 1996; Mehta et al., 1999; 2001), this neurotransmitter has received particular attention.

Changes in [¹¹C]raclopride binding potential (BP) provide a reasonable estimate of synaptic dopamine release in the striatum (Farde et al., 1986). This method has been widely used for investigating the striatal dopaminergic transmission during various cognitive tasks (Goerendt et al., 2003; Ko et al., 2008; Monchi et al., 2006a; Ouchi et al., 2002; Zald et al., 2004). However, although [¹¹C]Raclopride may offer important insight on striatal dopamine neurotransmission during executive functions (Ko et al., 2008; Monchi et al., 2006a), its low affinity limits its application to extrastriatal regions such as the prefrontal brain (Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000).

As revealed by studies in primates, despite a lower density of dopamine receptors relative to the striatum, cortical dopamine plays a critical role in

executive function (Murphy et al., 1996; Watanabe et al., 1997). In humans, converging evidence suggests that cortical dopamine is involved with high-level cognition. Performing working memory task has been shown to increase dopamine release in the frontal cortex (Aalto et al., 2005a; Sawamoto et al., 2008) and ACC dopamine receptor density has been shown to be significantly correlated with performance level on the Wisconsin card sorting task in normal healthy adults (Lumme et al., 2007). To address the role of the prefrontal dopamine during set-shifting tasks (e.g. MCST) in healthy human subjects, we used [¹¹C]FLB 457, a chemical compound with a greater affinity (Kd=20nM) for D2 receptors which allows evaluation of extrastriatal dopamine release (Aalto et al., 2005a; Olsson et al., 1999; Sudo et al., 2001). In previous reports, Olsson et al., (2004) have shown that [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP calculated by simplified reference tissue model (Gunn et al., 1997; Lammertsma and Hume, 1996; Sudo et al., 2001) may provide a reasonable estimate of receptor densities in different extrastriatal areas (e.g. cingulate cortex, frontal cortex, thalamus, temporal cortex) consistent with postmortem study with [125] epidepride (Kessler et al., 1993). Similarly, [11C]FLB 457 has been demonstrated to be sensitive in detecting changes in extrastriatal endogenous dopamine concentration in nonhuman primates (Chou et al., 2000) and humans (Aalto et al., 2005a; 2005b;

Hagelberg et al., 2004; Montgomery et al., 2007). Thus, it appears that [¹¹C]FLB 457 is well-suited to capture binding differences in prefrontal areas.

Based on previous anatomical and functional imaging studies with card sorting tasks (Buchsbaum et al., 2005; Konishi et al., 2002; Koski and Paus, 2000; Lie et al., 2006; Monchi et al., 2001; 2007), we hypothesized that performance of the MCST would be associated with increases in dopamine release (decrease BP of [¹¹C]FLB 457) in different prefrontal areas such as the DLPFC (BA 9/46) and ACC (BA 32/24).

5.4. Method

5.4.1. Subjects and experimental design

Eight healthy young right-handed adults (20-33 years, 4 males) participated in the present study after having given written informed consent. They were investigated with [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET while performing the MCST to measure changes in cortical dopamine release. Each subject underwent two [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET scans at the same time on two separate days while they performed either the MCST (retrieval with shift) or the control task (Figure. 5.1) (Ko et al., 2008). Scan order was counterbalanced across subjects. The experiments were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.

5.4.2. Cognitive task

The tasks were displayed via a video eyewear (VR920; Vuzix Corporation, New York, USA) placed on the plastic thermal mask. Details of the current task have also been described in our previous studies (Ko et al., 2008). In the retrieval with shift condition of the MCST (the active task, Figure 5.1.b), four reference cards were displayed in a row at the top of the screen in all trials. Each one of them encompasses three kinds of characteristics, i.e., number (one to four), shape (triangle, star, cross and circle) and color (red, green, yellow and blue). Their position changed pseudo-randomly on every trial. A block of twenty classification trials was preceded by the brief presentation of a single cue card. The cue card did not reappear and had to be remembered throughout the block. On each classification trial, a new test card was presented below the reference cards and the subject had to match the test card to one of the four reference cards using one of four buttons with the right dominant hand. Matching each test card to one of the reference cards was based on a classification rule (color, shape or number) determined by making a comparison between the previously viewed cue card and the current test card (Figure. 5.1.b). The test card and the cue card shared only one characteristic among number, shape and color. The test cards on consecutive trials never shared the same attribute with the cue card, resulting in a pseudo-random sequence which allowed for a set-shift on each trial. Each

selection of the reference card was followed by a one-second positive (white) or negative (dark) feedback. Five blocks of twenty classification trials (total: 100 trials) were followed by a two-minute break. A different cue card was presented before each block. At the end of each block, the subjects were asked if they remembered the cue card.

In the control task, the test card was identical to one of the reference cards so that the subject simply selected the identical card without having to find an appropriate rule for classification as was required in the active task (Figure. 5.1.c).

Subjects underwent a training session of the task before each PET session in order to reduce a possible learning effect. Error trials were counted as number of incorrect responses and they were averaged for each scan. The reaction time was measured from the presentation of new test card to the selection of the reference card. All values are presented as mean ± SE.

5.4.3. Positron emission tomography

PET scans were obtained with a high resolution PET CT, Siemens-Biograph HiRez XVI (Siemens Molecular Imaging, Knoxville, TN, U.S.A.) operating in 3D mode with an in-plane resolution of approximately 4.6 mm full width at halfmaximum. To minimize subject's head movements in the PET scanner, we used a custom-made thermoplastic facemask together with a head-fixation system

(Tru-Scan Imaging, Annapolis). Before each emission scan, following the acquisition of a scout view for accurate positioning of the subject, a low dose (0.2 mSv) CT scan was acquired and used for attenuation correction.

[¹¹C]FLB 457 was injected into the left antecubital vein over 60 seconds and emission data were then acquired over a period of 90 minutes in 15 oneminute frames and 15 five-minute frames. The injected amount was 10.19 ± 0.16 mCi for the active condition and 10.42 ± 0.16 mCi for the control condition.

High-resolution MRI (GE Signa 1.5 T, T1-weighted images, 1 mm slice thickness) of each subject's brain was acquired and transformed into standardized stereotaxic space (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988) using nonlinear automated feature-matching to the MNI template (Collins et al., 1994; Robbins et al., 2004).

PET frames were summed, registered to the corresponding MRI (Woods et al., 1993) and transformed into standardized stereotaxic space (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988) using the transformation parameters of the individual structural MRIs (Collins et al., 1994; Robbins et al., 2004). Voxelwise [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP was calculated using a simplified reference tissue (cerebellum) method (Gunn et al., 1997; Lammertsma and Hume, 1996; Sudo et al., 2001) to generate statistical parametric images of change in BP (Aston et al., 2000). This method uses the residuals of the least-squares fit of the compartmental model to the data at each

voxel to estimate the standard deviation of the BP estimate. Parametric images of [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP were smoothed with an isotropic Gaussian of 6 mm full width at half-maximum to accommodate for intersubject anatomical variability. A threshold level of t > 4.1 was considered significant (p < 0.05, 2-tailed) corrected for multiple comparisons (Friston, 1997; Worsley et al., 1996) for the regions with a priori hypothesis, i.e., DLPFC and ACC and a more stringent threshold (t > 4.9) when the search was extended to the entire brain. Regions within our a priori hypothesis were extracted from bilateral brodmann areas (BA) 32/24 (ACC), 9/46 (DLPFC) using the WFU PickAtlas (SPM extension toolbox). The volume of interest included 6624 voxels and 52992 mm3. As stated above, the reason for choosing BA 32/24 and 9/46 was based on their consistent activations during sorting task in the previous fMRI studies conducted by our and other groups (Buchsbaum et al., 2005; Konishi et al., 2002; Lie et al., 2006; Monchi et al., 2001; 2007). The functional connectivity between these regions and their contribution has been well documented in previous anatomical and functional imaging studies (for review, see Koski and Paus, 2000).

5.5. Results

5.5.1. MCST performance

There was no significant difference in task performance; subjects performed with a mean accuracy of 96.68 \pm 0.95 % in the active task and 98.49 \pm 0.53 % in the control task (paired t(7)=1.76, p > 0.1). Depending on individual speed, subjects completed a mean of 1471 \pm 45 classification trials for the active task and 1429 \pm 36 trials for the control task (p > 0.05). The mean reaction time was 1199 \pm 141 ms in the active task and 844 \pm 97 ms in the control task (p > 0.05). Thus, we can safely assume that the observed dopamine release could not be the consequence of different motor performances.

5.5.2. PET results

Performing the active task of MCST decreased [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP in the right ACC (X=6 Y=26 Z=40) (t=4.3; p < 0.05, corrected for multiple comparison) compared to the control task (Figure. 5.2). The mean BP of [¹¹C]FLB 457 extracted from a spherical region of interest (r = 3mm) centered at the statistical peak revealed by the parametric map was 0.292 \pm 0.042 during control task and 0.199 \pm 0.049 during active task (paired-t test, t(7)=3.85, p = 0.006, Figure. 5.3).

While at more stringent threshold, voxel-based analysis did not reveal changes in other prefrontal areas defined in our a priori hypothesis, when using a less conservative threshold (uncorrected for multiple comparisons) a change in binding was observed in the left DLPFC (X=-22 Y=20 Z=44; t=3.7). The mean BP of [¹¹C]FLB 457 extracted from a spherical region of interest (r = 3mm) centered

at the statistical peak revealed by the parametric map was 0.229 ± 0.037 during the control task and 0.171 ± 0.046 during the active task (paired-t test, t(7)=3.16, p = 0.016).

When the search was extended to the entire brain, to areas not defined by our a priori hypothesis, a significant area of decrease in [¹¹C]FLB 457 binding was identified at the level of the left occipital cortex (OCC) (X=-10 Y=-98 Z=-10) (t=5.1; p < 0.05, corrected for multiple comparison). The mean BP of [¹¹C]FLB 457 in this region was 0.323 ± 0.049 during the control task and 0.255 ± 0.046 during the active task (paired-t test, t(7)=2.81, p = 0.026).

Correlation analyses did not reveal any relationship between extrastriatal [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP and performance measures such as error trials and reaction times.

5.6. Discussion

In the present study, performing the active task of the MCST decreased [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP in the right dorsal ACC compared to the control task. This finding confirms our previous observation that ACC is functionally involved during performance of the MCST (Monchi et al., 2007) and further extends our initial working hypothesis that ACC dopamine may play a relevant role during executive functioning.

A distinction exists in the literature between the functions of the supracallosal (i.e.dorsal), rostral and subcallosal regions of the ACC (Devinsky et al., 1995; Koski and Paus, 2000; Mayberg, 1997; Vogt et al., 1995). It has been proposed that dorsal regions of the ACC are involved in cognition while rostral and subcallosal portions of the ACC are engaged in emotional behaviour (Devinsky et al., 1995; Koski and Paus, 2000).

There is a consensus that dorsal ACC is one of the core components associated with executive function, but its precise role is still a matter of debate (Bush et al., 2000). In a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of executive function, dorsal ACC was activated during task-switching, response suppression, and the wisconsin card sorting task (Buchsbaum et al., 2005). Stuss and Alexander (2007) reported that lesions of frontal medial cortex that comprise ACC impairs several cognitive task performances including simple and choice reaction time, feature integration, verbal fluency and Stroop task (naming color patches and incongruent interference) as well as some tasks measuring sustained attention. Botvinick et al. (2004) also argued that dorsal ACC is involved in several cognitive tasks that engage response override. underdetermined responding and error commission. Other authors have emphasized the role of ACC in detecting and processing error signals (Debener et al., 2005; Luu et al., 2000). The common underlying feature of the

aforementioned tasks and our MCST is that the subject has to monitor conflicts because previous rule classification and current response-rule are different. Our findings suggest that dopamine neurotransmission in ACC may play an important role in this type of executive function often described as "conflict monitoring" (Botvinick et al., 1999; Carter et al., 1998; MacDonald et al., 2000).

However, while ACC may be involved in detecting and processing error signals (Debener et al., 2005; Luu et al., 2000), we did not find a significant correlation between observed changes of [¹¹C]FLB 457 BP in the right ACC and error trials on the MCST. This may be explained by the functionally distinct anatomy of the ACC. In fact, while the dorsal ACC (where our peak is located) is prevalently engaged during conflict monitoring (Kerns et al., 2004), the more rostral ACC is involved in error-signal processing (Lie et al., 2006; Taylor et al., 2006). Therefore, it is likely that the observed dopamine release in the right dorsal ACC was triggered when conflict monitoring was required and that it was unrelated to error-signal processing.

This interpretation is in keeping with other fMRI studies manipulating errorlikelihood and conflict level (van Eimeren et al., 2006) which showed an increased right dorsal ACC BOLD signal as conflict load increases and errorlikelihood decreases. Thus, it is likely that dopamine release may be involved during conflict monitoring rather than in error-signal processing or prediction of

error-likelihood. However, while these observations may find some evidence in previous literature, it is also true and important to keep in mind that we cannot exclude the possibility that other aspects of cognitive function of MCST may have played a role in the observed dopamine release. In fact, a number of other executive functions such as monitoring information held in working memory, rule extraction, subsequent rule application and inhibition of response conflict induced by the non-relevant stimulus features may have contributed to this dopaminergic changes.

An interesting finding of the present study is the unilateral release of dopamine in the right ACC. We and others have observed this in previous fMRI studies. We showed that only the right ACC was activated when comparing retrieval with shift (active task in the present study) versus continuous shift (Monchi et al., 2007) during the MCST. Similarly, Lutcke and Frahm (2008) reported that while the right ACC was activated for correct inhibitions of go-no go task implicating conflict monitoring, error-related processes activated ACC bilaterally. This is also in agreement with MacDonald et al., (2000) who reported that only the right ACC was activated during response to the incongruent stimuli of the Stroop task. These observations seem to suggest that right ACC may play an important role in this type of executive function described as "conflict monitoring".

The lack of a strong significant effect in other prefrontal areas other than ACC should be interpreted carefully since MCST has been previously shown to be involved with other lateral prefrontal cortices (Monchi et al., 2007). In fact, while voxel-based analysis corrected for multiple comparisons did not reveal significant changes, with a less stringent threshold (uncorrected for multiple comparisons) changes in binding could be observed in one the areas defined by our a-priori hypothesis, i.e. the DLPFC. The causality of left DLPFC in set-shifting has been recently confirmed in a transcranial magnetic stimulation-intervention study (Ko et al., 2008). A possible explanation on why DLPFC did not survive correction for multiple corrections may have multiple explanations. In fact, in demonstrating relationships between prefrontal areas, Koski and Paus (2000) have described that increases in activity within a particular subdivision of the cingulate occur most often along with increases in activity in specific regions of the frontal cortex. In particular, the relationship between supracallosal (i.e. dorsal) cingulate and the middle frontal gyrus is significantly stronger when greater is the difficulty level of the task. Thus, more difficult tasks may demand the joint efforts of both supracallosal cingulate and middle frontal cortex areas. Although our subjects during the active task appeared to take more time to respond than in control task due to the higher cognitive demand (1199 ± 141 ms vs 844 ± 97 ms), the lack of significant difference between these two conditions

and the high accuracy of their performance during the MCST (active task: 96.68 %; control task: 98.49 %) suggest that the training session of the MCTS (before PET) may have significantly reduced the task challenge for them and possibly produced a ceiling effect preventing the detection of reasonable correlations between behavior and imaging. In alternative, another possible explanation could be methodological and linked to the different density of D2 and D1 receptors in the cortex where there are 20-fold more D1 receptors than D2 receptors (Goldman-Rakic et al., 2000). This agrees with the fact that in primates, performance on a working memory task has been shown to be impaired by D1 receptor antagonist administration to DLPFC, but not by D2 receptor antagonist (Brozoski et al., 1979; Sawaguchi and Goldman-Rakic, 1991, 1994; Seamans et al., 1998). Since [¹¹C]FLB 457 is mainly a D2-receptor antagonist, it is possible that this radio-tracer may have not been sensitive enough to pick-up significant dopaminergic changes over certain areas of the prefrontal cortex (i.e. DLPFC) that were not significantly engaged.

When we extended the search to the entire brain, outside PFC regions, the left OCC (BA 17/18) also showed a significant increase in dopamine release during the active task. Although this region has been consistently reported to present increased activation during imaging studies associated with sorting tasks (Buchsbaum et al., 2005) and it is known that visual stimulation can induce

detectable changes in dopamine activity in the OCC (Muller and Huston, 2007), the relationship between dopamine and sorting tasks at the level of this occipital region is unclear at the moment. One possible explanation could be a greater attentional effect due to the higher task demands.

In conclusion, the present study showed that performing the MCST increased dopamine release in selective cortical areas. We propose that the dopaminergic transmission in the right ACC may be related to conflict monitoring during set-shifting processes. These results may provide some insights on the origin of cognitive deficits underlying certain neurological and psychiatric disorders associated with dopamine dysfunction, such as Parkinson's disease and schizophrenia.

5.7. Acknowledgments

We wish to thank all the staff of the CAMH-PET imaging centre for their assistance in carrying out the studies. This work was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research to APS (MOP-64423). APS is supported by the CIHR New Investigator Research Award.

5.8. Figures



Figure 5.1. Study design. (a) Each subject underwent two [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET scans at the same time on two separate days while performing either the MCST (retrieval with shift) or the control task. Scan order was counterbalanced across subjects. Participants started the MCST five minutes before the radio-ligand injection and continued until the end of PET scanning with two-minute breaks between blocks; (b) active task; (c) control task.



Figure 5.2. Active vs. control tasks condition. Sagittal (X = 6) and coronal (Y=24) section of the statistical parametric map of the change in [11 C]FLB 456 BP overlaid upon the average MRI of all subjects in standardized stereotaxic space. The figure displays the significant area of dopamine changes during active task performance compared to the control task at the level of dorsal ACC.



Figure 5.3. Active vs. control tasks condition. (a) Individual ACC-[¹¹C]FLB 457 BP and (b) mean \pm SE of ACC-[¹¹C]FLB 457 BP during control and active task extracted from a spherical region of interest (r = 3mm) centered at the x, y and z coordinates of the statistical peak (X=6, Y=26, Z=40) revealed by the parametric map (paired-t test, t(7) = 3.85, *p = 0.006).

Chapter 6

Conclusion

6.1. Summary and implications

The primary objective of this doctoral dissertation was to investigate the prefronto-striatal network underlying executive functions in normal healthy subjects. Using rTMS, we induced a transient "virtual lesion" to study the functional role of different prefrontal regions during specific executive processes, and demonstrated how the prefrontal-striatal network modulates dopamine transmission during performance of executive tasks. Three studies were carried out with the following specific objectives: 1) to evaluate the functional role of the right DLPFC in monitoring information held in working memory during the feedback periods of the WCST, 2) to examine the functional role of the left DLPFC and its modulation of striatal dopamine during set-shifting in the MCST, and 3) to investigate extrastriatal (i.e. prefrontal) dopamine transmission during the performance of the MCST.

Study 1 was essential in demonstrating the importance of the right DLPFC in the monitoring of information held in working memory (Konishi et al., 2002; Lie et al., 2006; Monchi et al., 2001). This study showed that when rTMS was

applied to the right DLPFC specifically during the period when the subject was receiving feedback regarding his/her last response, performance on the WCST deteriorated (Figure 3.4). Furthermore, task performance was not affected when rTMS was delivered either during the execution of the response (matching) (Figure 3.5), or when the rTMS was desynchronized with specific stages of the WCST (Figure 3.6). Results on the control task were not influenced by rTMS under any conditions (Figure 3.4, 3.5, 3.6). We therefore demonstrated a time-and task-specific involvement of the right DLPFC in monitoring processing of information.

Overall, study 1 highlights the importance of rTMS as a useful tool to complement functional imaging studies in order to infer functionality of a given cortical region in human brains *in vivo*.

The observation that rTMS did not influence error rate significantly during the WCST is consistent with the previous report by Wagner et al. (2006) who observed no significant effect on error making during the WCST when stimulating the DLPFC. There are two potential explanations for these findings. The first is that the right DLPFC is not responsible for error making as proposed by studies with non-human primates (Petrides, 1994, 2000, 2005). The second is that, considering the fact that rTMS-induced error trials have been reported less frequently in relation to different tasks and cortical areas stimulated (Hadland et

al., 2001; Kennerley et al., 2004; Rushworth et al., 2002; Walsh and Pascual-Leone, 2003b), it may be that rTMS parameters (e.g. intensity, frequency, and unilateral stimulation) used so far in different studies have not been strong enough to induce a complete "virtual lesion."

The mechanisms underlying rTMS-induced cortical interference are still poorly understood. It is believed that the rTMS-induced "noise" into neural processes may, perhaps, be the consequence of a stimulation-induced synchronization of neuronal firing, disrupting active processing in the underlying cortex (Pascual-Leone et al., 2000; Walsh and Cowey, 2000). A valid alternative, however, may also be represented by rTMS-induced suppression in cortical excitability (Modugno et al., 2001) or rTMS-induced abnormality in the release of prefronto-striatal dopamine (Strafella et al., 2001). Whatever the rTMS mechanisms may be, the ultimate outcome appears to be a transient interruption of specific cortical processing (i.e. provision of feedback) in a restricted area of the prefrontal cortex (the DLPFC).

Study 2 confirmed the involvement of the left DLPFC-caudate network in the set-shifting process during the MCST (Konishi et al., 2002; Monchi et al., 2001; 2007). The most interesting finding of this study was the significant hemispheric asymmetry of DLPFC functions, such that only the left, but not the right, DLPFC stimulation disrupted the set-shifting process and reduced task-

induced dopamine release in the striatum. This observed functional hemispheric asymmetry is consistent with previous lesion studies (Aron et al., 2004a; Richer et al., 1993; Rogers et al., 1998; Stuss and Alexander, 2007).

The left DLPFC stimulation-induced changes in dopamine release were observed both in the caudate and anterior putamen (Figure 4.4, 4.6), in accordance with anatomical (Alexander *et al.*, 1986) and functional imaging studies (Monchi et al., 2001; 2006a; 2006b). This finding strengthens the hypothesis of the involvement of the prefrontal-caudate circuitry in executive function, and may provide a strong support in the pathogenesis of executive dysfunction in Parkinson's disease (Monchi et al., 2004; 2007; Owen, 2004; Zgaljardic et al., 2003).

These investigations also demonstrated the usefulness of cTBS in cognitive neuroscience studies. In fact, while most rTMS studies have shown the modulation of cognitive task performance only in terms of altered reaction times (for review, Walsh and Pascual-Leone, 2003b), here we demonstrated the potent effect of cTBS stimulation through increased error rates.

Study 3 demonstrated, for the first time, that performing a card sorting task increases synaptic dopamine transmission in prefrontal regions. It also further extended our initial working hypothesis that ACC dopamine may play a relevant role during executive functioning, and in particular, in conflict monitoring.

Although the prefrontal areas express far less dopamine D₂-receptors than the striatum, this finding strengthens the possibility that cortical dopamine is involved in dysexecutive symptoms in patients with schizophrenia (Abi-Dargham et al., 2002; Takahashi et al., 2006) and Parkinson's disease (Bruck et al., 2005; Ito et al., 2002; Rinne et al., 2000).

6.2. Suggestion for future research

While the functional role of the left DLPFC during the WCST is confirmed, the involvement of other important areas still needs to be established. For example, it is hypothesized that the ventrolateral and posterior PFCs are engaged in planning and execution of set-shifting, respectively (Monchi et al., 2001). Applying event-related rTMS over these areas during the WCST or the MCST may shed some light on the functional engagement of these prefrontal areas in the set-shifting processes. In addition, it would be of utmost interest to examine whether these areas are involved in a similar manner in a patient population such as PD. It has been hypothesized that PD patients show greater prefrontal activations in order to compensate for the reduced functioning of the striatum (Monchi et al., 2004; 2007). For example, if these increased activations are truly a compensatory mechanism, right DLPFC stimulation in PD patients may worsen WCST performance (Monchi et al., 2004).

Secondly, the application of a "virtual lesion" with cTBS may allow a clarification on functional hemispheric asymmetry of the DLPFC for different types of errors during the WCST, such as perseverative vs. non-perseverative errors. This technique can also be used to test whether hyper- or hypo-activity of the PFC in PD patients is a direct consequence of the neuro-degeneration of dopaminergic input, or a compensatory mechanism.

Using [¹¹C]FLB 457 in study 3, it has been demonstrated that performing the MCST increased cortical dopamine transmission in the right dorsal ACC and in the left DLPFC in healthy subjects. The coactivation of the DLPFC and the ACC has been consistently observed in previous activation studies with executive function tasks (Koski and Paus, 2000; MacDonald et al., 2000; Monchi et al., 2001; 2007). As discussed in study 2, if cTBS disrupts functional connectivity of a given network only when the given network is functionally demanded, it would be interesting to examine whether the inhibition of the left DLPFC would modulate the functional cortico-cortical connectivity and reduce task-induced dopamine transmission in the ACC.

Another potential study could test the inverted U-shape dopamine hypothesis in PD (Arnsten, 1997; Cools, 2006; Williams and Castner, 2006; Zahrt et al., 1997). The origin of L-dopa-induced executive dysfunction may involve the dopaminergic overflow of still relatively preserved cortical areas in early PD

(Sawamoto et al., 2008; Scatton et al., 1982). [¹¹C]FLB 457 PET could be used to investigate the cortical dopaminergic system, more specifically, to examine how L-dopa intake affects cortical dopamine transmission during the performance of the MCST in PD patients.

The above study design can be similarly applied to the patient population who received deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus (STN-DBS). STN-DBS is a standard procedure to alleviate drug-resistant symptoms of PD. However, our understanding of the effect of DBS on cognition and cortical dopaminergic transmission is in its infancy and underinvestigated.

References

- Aalto S, Bruck A, Laine M, Nagren K, Rinne JO (2005a) Frontal and temporal dopamine release during working memory and attention tasks in healthy humans: a positron emission tomography study using the high-affinity dopamine D2 receptor ligand [11C]FLB 457. J Neurosci 25:2471-2477.
- Aalto S, Ihalainen J, Hirvonen J, Kajander J, Scheinin H, Tanila H, Nagren K, Vilkman H, Gustafsson LL, Syvalahti E, Hietala J (2005b) Cortical glutamate-dopamine interaction and ketamine-induced psychotic symptoms in man. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 182:375-383.
- Abi-Dargham A, Mawlawi O, Lombardo I, Gil R, Martinez D, Huang Y, Hwang DR, Keilp J, Kochan L, Van Heertum R, Gorman JM, Laruelle M (2002)
 Prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors and working memory in schizophrenia. J Neurosci 22:3708-3719.
- Alexander GE, DeLong MR, Strick PL (1986) Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci 9:357-381.
- Arnsten AF, Cai JX, Murphy BL, Goldman-Rakic PS (1994) Dopamine D1 receptor mechanisms in the cognitive performance of young adult and aged monkeys. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 116:143-151.
- Arnsten AF (1997) Catecholamine regulation of the prefrontal cortex. J Psychopharmacol 11:151-162.
- Arnsten AF, Goldman-Rakic PS (1998) Noise stress impairs prefrontal cortical cognitive function in monkeys: evidence for a hyperdopaminergic mechanism. Arch Gen Psychiatry 55:362-368.
- Aron AR, Monsell S, Sahakian BJ, Robbins TW (2004a) A componential analysis of task-switching deficits associated with lesions of left and right frontal cortex. Brain 127:1561-1573.

- Aron AR, Robbins TW, Poldrack RA (2004b) Inhibition and the right inferior frontal cortex. Trends Cogn Sci 8:170-177.
- Ashburner J, Friston KJ (1999) Nonlinear spatial normalization using basis functions. Hum Brain Mapp 7:254-266.
- Aston JA, Gunn RN, Worsley KJ, Ma Y, Evans AC, Dagher A (2000) A statistical method for the analysis of positron emission tomography neuroreceptor ligand data. Neuroimage 12:245-256.
- Bachoud-Levi AC, Remy P, Nguyen JP, Brugieres P, Lefaucheur JP, Bourdet C, Baudic S, Gaura V, Maison P, Haddad B, Boisse MF, Grandmougin T, Jeny R, Bartolomeo P, Dalla Barba G, Degos JD, Lisovoski F, Ergis AM, Pailhous E, Cesaro P, Hantraye P, Peschanski M (2000) Motor and cognitive improvements in patients with Huntington's disease after neural transplantation. Lancet 356:1975-1979.
- Backman L, Robins-Wahlin TB, Lundin A, Ginovart N, Farde L (1997) Cognitive deficits in Huntington's disease are predicted by dopaminergic PET markers and brain volumes. Brain 120 (Pt 12):2207-2217.

Baddeley AD (1986) Working memory. Oxford Oxfordshire: Clarendon Press ;.

- Bamford KA, Caine ED, Kido DK, Cox C, Shoulson I (1995) A prospective evaluation of cognitive decline in early Huntington's disease: functional and radiographic correlates. Neurology 45:1867-1873.
- Bloomfield PM, Spinks TJ, Reed J, Schnorr L, Westrip AM, Livieratos L, Fulton R, Jones T (2003) The design and implementation of a motion correction scheme for neurological PET. Physics in Medicine and Biology 48:959-978.
- Botvinick M, Nystrom LE, Fissell K, Carter CS, Cohen JD (1999) Conflict monitoring versus selection-for-action in anterior cingulate cortex. Nature 402:179-181.
- Botvinick MM, Braver TS, Barch DM, Carter CS, Cohen JD (2001) Conflict monitoring and cognitive control. Psychol Rev 108:624-652.

Botvinick MM, Cohen JD, Carter CS (2004) Conflict monitoring and anterior cingulate cortex: an update. Trends Cogn Sci 8:539-546.

- Brandt SA, Ploner CJ, Meyer BU, Leistner S, Villringer A (1998) Effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation over dorsolateral prefrontal and posterior parietal cortex on memory-guided saccades. Exp Brain Res 118:197-204.
- Breier A, Su TP, Saunders R, Carson RE, Kolachana BS, de Bartolomeis A,
 Weinberger DR, Weisenfeld N, Malhotra AK, Eckelman WC, Pickar D (1997) Schizophrenia is associated with elevated amphetamine-induced synaptic dopamine concentrations: evidence from a novel positron emission tomography method. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:2569-2574.
- Brozoski TJ, Brown RM, Rosvold HE, Goldman PS (1979) Cognitive deficit caused by regional depletion of dopamine in prefrontal cortex of rhesus monkey. Science 205:929-932.
- Bruck A, Portin R, Lindell A, Laihinen A, Bergman J, Haaparanta M, Solin O, Rinne JO (2001) Positron emission tomography shows that impaired frontal lobe functioning in Parkinson's disease is related to dopaminergic hypofunction in the caudate nucleus. Neurosci Lett 311:81-84.
- Bruck A, Aalto S, Nurmi E, Bergman J, Rinne JO (2005) Cortical 6-[18F]fluoro-Ldopa uptake and frontal cognitive functions in early Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Aging 26:891-898.
- Buchsbaum BR, Greer S, Chang WL, Berman KF (2005) Meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of the Wisconsin card-sorting task and component processes. Hum Brain Mapp 25:35-45.
- Bush G, Frazier JA, Rauch SL, Seidman LJ, Whalen PJ, Jenike MA, Rosen BR,
 Biederman J (1999) Anterior cingulate cortex dysfunction in attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder revealed by fMRI and the Counting Stroop.
 Biol Psychiatry 45:1542-1552.
- Bush G, Luu P, Posner MI (2000) Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. Trends Cogn Sci 4:215-222.

- Cabeza R, Locantore JK, Anderson ND (2003) Lateralization of prefrontal activity during episodic memory retrieval: evidence for the production-monitoring hypothesis. J Cogn Neurosci 15:249-259.
- Carson RE, Breier A, de Bartolomeis A, Saunders RC, Su TP, Schmall B, Der MG, Pickar D, Eckelman WC (1997) Quantification of amphetamineinduced changes in [11C]raclopride binding with continuous infusion. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 17:437-447.
- Carter CS, Braver TS, Barch DM, Botvinick MM, Noll D, Cohen JD (1998) Anterior cingulate cortex, error detection, and the online monitoring of performance. Science 280:747-749.
- Cepeda C, Lee N, Buchwald NA, Radisavljevic Z, Levine MS (1992) Age-induced changes in electrophysiological responses of neostriatal neurons recorded in vitro. Neuroscience 51:411-423.
- Cepeda C, Levine MS (1998) Dopamine and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor interactions in the neostriatum. Dev Neurosci 20:1-18.
- Cepeda C, Li Z, Cromwell HC, Altemus KL, Crawford CA, Nansen EA, Ariano MA, Sibley DR, Peacock WJ, Mathern GW, Levine MS (1999)
 Electrophysiological and morphological analyses of cortical neurons obtained from children with catastrophic epilepsy: dopamine receptor modulation of glutamatergic responses. Dev Neurosci 21:223-235.
- Chen R, Classen J, Gerloff C, Celnik P, Wassermann EM, Hallett M, Cohen LG (1997) Depression of motor cortex excitability by low-frequency transcranial magnetic stimulation. Neurology 48:1398-1403.
- Chou YH, Halldin C, Farde L (2000) Effect of amphetamine on extrastriatal D2 dopamine receptor binding in the primate brain: a PET study. Synapse 38:138-143.
- Christian BT, Lehrer DS, Shi B, Narayanan TK, Strohmeyer PS, Buchsbaum MS, Mantil JC (2006) Measuring dopamine neuromodulation in the thalamus: using [F-18]fallypride PET to study dopamine release during a spatial attention task. Neuroimage 31:139-152.
- Classen J, Liepert J, Wise SP, Hallett M, Cohen LG (1998) Rapid plasticity of human cortical movement representation induced by practice. J Neurophysiol 79:1117-1123.
- Cohen JD, Botvinick M, Carter CS (2000) Anterior cingulate and prefrontal cortex: who's in control? Nat Neurosci 3:421-423.
- Cohen LG, Roth BJ, Nilsson J, Dang N, Panizza M, Bandinelli S, Friauf W, Hallett M (1990) Effects of coil design on delivery of focal magnetic stimulation. Technical considerations. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 75:350-357.
- Collins DL, Neelin P, Peters TM, Evans AC (1994) Automatic 3D intersubject registration of MR volumetric data in standardized Talairach space. J Comput Assist Tomogr 18:192-205.
- Collins P, Wilkinson LS, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW, Roberts AC (2000) The effect of dopamine depletion from the caudate nucleus of the common marmoset (Callithrix jacchus) on tests of prefrontal cognitive function. Behav Neurosci 114:3-17.
- Cools R, Barker RA, Sahakian BJ, Robbins TW (2001) Enhanced or impaired cognitive function in Parkinson's disease as a function of dopaminergic medication and task demands. Cereb Cortex 11:1136-1143.
- Cools R, Stefanova E, Barker RA, Robbins TW, Owen AM (2002) Dopaminergic modulation of high-level cognition in Parkinson's disease: the role of the prefrontal cortex revealed by PET. Brain 125:584-594.
- Cools R (2006) Dopaminergic modulation of cognitive function-implications for L-DOPA treatment in Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 30:1-23.
- Cropley VL, Fujita M, Innis RB, Nathan PJ (2006) Molecular imaging of the dopaminergic system and its association with human cognitive function. Biol Psychiatry 59:898-907.

- Cropley VL, Fujita M, Bara-Jimenez W, Brown AK, Zhang XY, Sangare J, Herscovitch P, Pike VW, Hallett M, Nathan PJ, Innis RB (2008a) Pre- and post-synaptic dopamine imaging and its relation with frontostriatal cognitive function in Parkinson disease: PET studies with [11C]NNC 112 and [18F]FDOPA. Psychiatry Res 163:171-182.
- Cropley VL, Innis RB, Nathan PJ, Brown AK, Sangare JL, Lerner A, Ryu YH, Sprague KE, Pike VW, Fujita M (2008b) Small effect of dopamine release and no effect of dopamine depletion on [18F]fallypride binding in healthy humans. Synapse 62:399-408.
- Curtis CE, D'Esposito M (2004) The effects of prefrontal lesions on working memory performance and theory. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci 4:528-539.
- D'Esposito M, Detre JA, Alsop DC, Shin RK, Atlas S, Grossman M (1995) The neural basis of the central executive system of working memory. Nature 378:279-281.
- Davis KL, Kahn RS, Ko G, Davidson M (1991) Dopamine in schizophrenia: a review and reconceptualization. Am J Psychiatry 148:1474-1486.
- Day BL, Rothwell JC, Thompson PD, Maertens de Noordhout A, Nakashima K, Shannon K, Marsden CD (1989) Delay in the execution of voluntary movement by electrical or magnetic brain stimulation in intact man. Evidence for the storage of motor programs in the brain. Brain 112 (Pt 3):649-663.
- Debener S, Ullsperger M, Siegel M, Fiehler K, von Cramon DY, Engel AK (2005) Trial-by-trial coupling of concurrent electroencephalogram and functional magnetic resonance imaging identifies the dynamics of performance monitoring. J Neurosci 25:11730-11737.
- Derrfuss J, Brass M, Neumann J, von Cramon DY (2005) Involvement of the inferior frontal junction in cognitive control: meta-analyses of switching and Stroop studies. Hum Brain Mapp 25:22-34.
- Devinsky O, Morrell MJ, Vogt BA (1995) Contributions of anterior cingulate cortex to behaviour. Brain 118 (Pt 1):279-306.

- Dewey SL, Smith GS, Logan J, Brodie JD, Fowler JS, Wolf AP (1993) Striatal binding of the PET ligand 11C-raclopride is altered by drugs that modify synaptic dopamine levels. Synapse 13:350-356.
- Di Lazzaro V, Pilato F, Saturno E, Oliviero A, Dileone M, Mazzone P, Insola A, Tonali PA, Ranieri F, Huang YZ, Rothwell JC (2005) Theta-burst repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation suppresses specific excitatory circuits in the human motor cortex. J Physiol 565:945-950.
- Dias R, Robbins TW, Roberts AC (1996) Dissociation in prefrontal cortex of affective and attentional shifts. Nature 380:69-72.
- Dobbins IG, Simons JS, Schacter DL (2004) fMRI evidence for separable and lateralized prefrontal memory monitoring processes. J Cogn Neurosci 16:908-920.
- Downes JJ, Roberts AC, Sahakian BJ, Evenden JL, Morris RG, Robbins TW (1989) Impaired extra-dimensional shift performance in medicated and unmedicated Parkinson's disease: evidence for a specific attentional dysfunction. Neuropsychologia 27:1329-1343.
- Duchesne N, Soucy JP, Masson H, Chouinard S, Bedard MA (2002) Cognitive deficits and striatal dopaminergic denervation in Parkinson's disease: a single photon emission computed tomography study using 123iodine-beta-CIT in patients on and off levodopa. Clin Neuropharmacol 25:216-224.
- Eisenegger C, Treyer V, Fehr E, Knoch D (2008) Time-course of "off-line" prefrontal rTMS effects--a PET study. Neuroimage 42:379-384.
- Ekelund J, Slifstein M, Narendran R, Guillin O, Belani H, Guo NN, Hwang Y,Hwang DR, Abi-Dargham A, Laruelle M (2007) In vivo DA D(1) receptorselectivity of NNC 112 and SCH 23390. Mol Imaging Biol 9:117-125.
- Endres CJ, Kolachana BS, Saunders RC, Su T, Weinberger D, Breier A, Eckelman WC, Carson RE (1997) Kinetic modeling of [11C]raclopride: combined PET-microdialysis studies. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 17:932-942.

- Enomoto H, Ugawa Y, Hanajima R, Yuasa K, Mochizuki H, Terao Y, Shiio Y, Furubayashi T, Iwata NK, Kanazawa I (2001) Decreased sensory cortical excitability after 1 Hz rTMS over the ipsilateral primary motor cortex. Clin Neurophysiol 112:2154-2158.
- Faig J, Busse O (1996) Silent period evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation in unilateral thalamic infarcts. J Neurol Sci 142:85-92.
- Farde L, Hall H, Ehrin E, Sedvall G (1986) Quantitative analysis of D2 dopamine receptor binding in the living human brain by PET. Science 231:258-261.
- Farde L, Pauli S, Hall H, Eriksson L, Halldin C, Hogberg T, Nilsson L, Sjogren I, Stone-Elander S (1988) Stereoselective binding of 11C-raclopride in living human brain--a search for extrastriatal central D2-dopamine receptors by PET. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 94:471-478.
- Fecteau S, Pascual-Leone A, Theoret H (2006) Paradoxical facilitation of attention in healthy humans. Behav Neurol 17:159-162.
- Flores-Hernandez J, Cepeda C, Hernandez-Echeagaray E, Calvert CR, Jokel ES, Fienberg AA, Greengard P, Levine MS (2002) Dopamine enhancement of NMDA currents in dissociated medium-sized striatal neurons: role of D1 receptors and DARPP-32. J Neurophysiol 88:3010-3020.
- Foltynie T, Goldberg TE, Lewis SG, Blackwell AD, Kolachana BS, Weinberger DR, Robbins TW, Barker RA (2004) Planning ability in Parkinson's disease is influenced by the COMT val158met polymorphism. Mov Disord 19:885-891.
- Fournet N, Moreaud O, Roulin JL, Naegele B, Pellat J (2000) Working memory functioning in medicated Parkinson's disease patients and the effect of withdrawal of dopaminergic medication. Neuropsychology 14:247-253.
- Franca M, Koch G, Mochizuki H, Huang YZ, Rothwell JC (2006) Effects of theta burst stimulation protocols on phosphene threshold. Clin Neurophysiol 117:1808-1813.

- Friston KJ, Frith CD, Liddle PF, Frackowiak RS (1991) Comparing functional (PET) images: the assessment of significant change. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 11:690-699.
- Friston KJ, Ashburner J, Frith CD, Poline JB, Heather JD, Frackowiak RSJ (1995a) Spatial Registration and Normalization of Images. Hum Brain Mapp 3:165-189.
- Friston KJ, Holmes AP, Worsley KJ, Poline J-P, Frith CD, Frackowiak RSJ (1995b) Statistical parametric maps in functional imaging: A general linear approach. Hum Brain Mapp 2:189-210.
- Friston KJ, Holmes A, Poline JB, Price CJ, Frith CD (1996) Detecting activations in PET and fMRI: levels of inference and power. Neuroimage 4:223-235.
- Friston KJ (1997) Testing for anatomically specified regional effects. Hum Brain Mapp 5:133-136.
- Fuhr P, Agostino R, Hallett M (1991) Spinal motor neuron excitability during the silent period after cortical stimulation. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 81:257-262.
- Fulton RR, Meikle SR, Eberl S, Pfeiffer J, Constable CJ, Fulham MJ (2002) Correction for head movements in positron emission tomography using an optical motion-tracking system. Ieee Transactions on Nuclear Science 49:116-123.
- Gazzaniga MS, Ivry RB, Mangun GR (1998) Cognitive neuroscience : the biology of the mind. New York: W.W. Norton.
- Ginovart N, Farde L, Halldin C, Swahn CG (1997) Effect of reserpine-induced depletion of synaptic dopamine on [11C]raclopride binding to D2dopamine receptors in the monkey brain. Synapse 25:321-325.
- Goerendt IK, Messa C, Lawrence AD, Grasby PM, Piccini P, Brooks DJ (2003) Dopamine release during sequential finger movements in health and Parkinson's disease: a PET study. Brain 126:312-325.

Goldberg TE, Egan MF, Gscheidle T, Coppola R, Weickert T, Kolachana BS, Goldman D, Weinberger DR (2003) Executive subprocesses in working memory: relationship to catechol-O-methyltransferase Val158Met genotype and schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 60:889-896.

Goldman-Rakic PS (1994) Working memory dysfunction in schizophrenia. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 6:348-357.

- Goldman-Rakic PS, Muly EC, 3rd, Williams GV (2000) D(1) receptors in prefrontal cells and circuits. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 31:295-301.
- Goto Y, Otani S, Grace AA (2007) The Yin and Yang of dopamine release: a new perspective. Neuropharmacology 53:583-587.
- Grace AA (1991) Phasic versus tonic dopamine release and the modulation of dopamine system responsivity: a hypothesis for the etiology of schizophrenia. Neuroscience 41:1-24.
- Grahn JA, Parkinson JA, Owen AM (2008) The cognitive functions of the caudate nucleus. Prog Neurobiol 86:141-155.
- Gribkoff VK, Ashe JH (1984) Modulation by dopamine of population spikes in area CA1 hippocampal neurons elicited by paired stimulus pulses. Cell Mol Neurobiol 4:177-183.
- Grossman M, Lee C, Morris J, Stern MB, Hurtig HI (2002) Assessing resource demands during sentence processing in Parkinson's disease. Brain Lang 80:603-616.
- Gunn RN, Lammertsma AA, Hume SP, Cunningham VJ (1997) Parametric imaging of ligand-receptor binding in PET using a simplified reference region model. Neuroimage 6:279-287.
- Hadland KA, Rushworth MF, Passingham RE, Jahanshahi M, Rothwell JC (2001) Interference with performance of a response selection task that has no working memory component: an rTMS comparison of the dorsolateral prefrontal and medial frontal cortex. J Cogn Neurosci 13:1097-1108.

Hagelberg N, Aalto S, Kajander J, Oikonen V, Hinkka S, Nagren K, Hietala J, Scheinin H (2004) Alfentanil increases cortical dopamine D2/D3 receptor binding in healthy subjects. Pain 109:86-93.

Hallett M (2007) Transcranial magnetic stimulation: a primer. Neuron 55:187-199.

- Harris GJ, Pearlson GD, Peyser CE, Aylward EH, Roberts J, Barta PE, Chase GA, Folstein SE (1992) Putamen volume reduction on magnetic resonance imaging exceeds caudate changes in mild Huntington's disease. Ann Neurol 31:69-75.
- Harris GJ, Aylward EH, Peyser CE, Pearlson GD, Brandt J, Roberts-Twillie JV, Barta PE, Folstein SE (1996) Single photon emission computed tomographic blood flow and magnetic resonance volume imaging of basal ganglia in Huntington's disease. Arch Neurol 53:316-324.
- Harrison BJ, Olver JS, Norman TR, Burrows GD, Wesnes KA, Nathan PJ (2004)
 Selective effects of acute serotonin and catecholamine depletion on memory in healthy women. J Psychopharmacol 18:32-40.
- Hasselbalch SG, Oberg G, Sorensen SA, Andersen AR, Waldemar G, Schmidt JF, Fenger K, Paulson OB (1992) Reduced regional cerebral blood flow in Huntington's disease studied by SPECT. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 55:1018-1023.
- Hayasaka S, Nichols TE (2003) Validating cluster size inference: random field and permutation methods. Neuroimage 20:2343-2356.
- Hazy TE, Frank MJ, O'Reilly R C (2007) Towards an executive without a homunculus: computational models of the prefrontal cortex/basal ganglia system. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 362:1601-1613.
- Hernandez-Garcia L, Wager T, Jonides J (2002) Functional Brain Imaging. In:
 Stevens' handbook of experimental psychology. Volume 4, Methodology in experimental psychology, 3rd Edition (Pashler HE, Wixted J, eds), pp 175-221. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

- Hess CW, Mills KR, Murray NM (1986) Magnetic stimulation of the human brain: facilitation of motor responses by voluntary contraction of ipsilateral and contralateral muscles with additional observations on an amputee. Neurosci Lett 71:235-240.
- Heyder K, Suchan B, Daum I (2004) Cortico-subcortical contributions to executive control. Acta Psychol (Amst) 115:271-289.
- Holthoff-Detto VA, Kessler J, Herholz K, Bonner H, Pietrzyk U, Wurker M, Ghaemi M, Wienhard K, Wagner R, Heiss WD (1997) Functional effects of striatal dysfunction in Parkinson disease. Arch Neurol 54:145-150.
- Holthoff VA, Vieregge P, Kessler J, Pietrzyk U, Herholz K, Bonner J, Wagner R,
 Wienhard K, Pawlik G, Heiss WD (1994) Discordant twins with Parkinson's disease: positron emission tomography and early signs of impaired cognitive circuits. Ann Neurol 36:176-182.
- Huang YY, Kandel ER (1995) D1/D5 receptor agonists induce a protein synthesis-dependent late potentiation in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:2446-2450.
- Huang YZ, Edwards MJ, Rounis E, Bhatia KP, Rothwell JC (2005) Theta burst stimulation of the human motor cortex. Neuron 45:201-206.
- Huang YZ, Chen RS, Rothwell JC, Wen HY (2007) The after-effect of human theta burst stimulation is NMDA receptor dependent. Clin Neurophysiol 118:1028-1032.
- Hubl D, Nyffeler T, Wurtz P, Chaves S, Pflugshaupt T, Luthi M, von Wartburg R, Wiest R, Dierks T, Strik WK, Hess CW, Muri RM (2008) Time course of blood oxygenation level-dependent signal response after theta burst transcranial magnetic stimulation of the frontal eye field. Neuroscience 151:921-928.
- Ito H, Sudo Y, Suhara T, Okubo Y, Halldin C, Farde L (2001) Error analysis for quantification of [(11)C]FLB 457 binding to extrastriatal D(2) dopamine receptors in the human brain. Neuroimage 13:531-539.

- Ito K, Nagano-Saito A, Kato T, Arahata Y, Nakamura A, Kawasumi Y, Hatano K, Abe Y, Yamada T, Kachi T, Brooks DJ (2002) Striatal and extrastriatal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease with dementia: a 6-[18F]fluoro-L-dopa PET study. Brain 125:1358-1365.
- Iversen SD, Mishkin M (1970) Perseverative interference in monkeys following selective lesions of the inferior prefrontal convexity. Exp Brain Res 11:376-386.
- Jahanshahi M, Profice P, Brown RG, Ridding MC, Dirnberger G, Rothwell JC (1998) The effects of transcranial magnetic stimulation over the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex on suppression of habitual counting during random number generation. Brain 121 (Pt 8):1533-1544.
- Johnson JA, Strafella AP, Zatorre RJ (2007) The role of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in bimodal divided attention: two transcranial magnetic stimulation studies. J Cogn Neurosci 19:907-920.
- Johnson MK, Raye CL, Mitchell KJ, Greene EJ, Anderson AW (2003) FMRI evidence for an organization of prefrontal cortex by both type of process and type of information. Cereb Cortex 13:265-273.
- Kaasinen V, Nurmi E, Bruck A, Eskola O, Bergman J, Solin O, Rinne JO (2001)
 Increased frontal [(18)F]fluorodopa uptake in early Parkinson's disease:
 sex differences in the prefrontal cortex. Brain 124:1125-1130.
- Kasai T, Kawai S, Kawanishi M, Yahagi S (1997) Evidence for facilitation of motor evoked potentials (MEPs) induced by motor imagery. Brain Res 744:147-150.
- Kassubek J, Juengling FD, Kioschies T, Henkel K, Karitzky J, Kramer B, Ecker D, Andrich J, Saft C, Kraus P, Aschoff AJ, Ludolph AC, Landwehrmeyer GB (2004) Topography of cerebral atrophy in early Huntington's disease: a voxel based morphometric MRI study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 75:213-220.
- Kennerley SW, Sakai K, Rushworth MF (2004) Organization of action sequences and the role of the pre-SMA. J Neurophysiol 91:978-993.

- Kerns JG, Cohen JD, MacDonald AW, 3rd, Cho RY, Stenger VA, Carter CS (2004) Anterior cingulate conflict monitoring and adjustments in control. Science 303:1023-1026.
- Kessler RM, Whetsell WO, Ansari MS, Votaw JR, de Paulis T, Clanton JA, Schmidt DE, Mason NS, Manning RG (1993) Identification of extrastriatal dopamine D2 receptors in post mortem human brain with [125I]epidepride. Brain Res 609:237-243.
- Kiers L, Fernando B, Tomkins D (1997) Facilitatory effect of thinking about movement on magnetic motor-evoked potentials. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 105:262-268.
- Kimberg DY, D'Esposito M, Farah MJ (1997) Effects of bromocriptine on human subjects depend on working memory capacity. Neuroreport 8:3581-3585.
- Kimberg DY, D'Esposito M (2003) Cognitive effects of the dopamine receptor agonist pergolide. Neuropsychologia 41:1020-1027.
- Kirschen MP, Davis-Ratner MS, Jerde TE, Schraedley-Desmond P, Desmond JE (2006) Enhancement of phonological memory following transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS). Behav Neurol 17:187-194.
- Kish SJ, Shannak K, Hornykiewicz O (1988) Uneven pattern of dopamine loss in the striatum of patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease.
 Pathophysiologic and clinical implications. N Engl J Med 318:876-880.
- Knoch D, Brugger P, Regard M (2005) Suppressing versus releasing a habit: frequency-dependent effects of prefrontal transcranial magnetic stimulation. Cereb Cortex 15:885-887.
- Knoch D, Pascual-Leone A, Meyer K, Treyer V, Fehr E (2006a) Diminishing reciprocal fairness by disrupting the right prefrontal cortex. Science 314:829-832.
- Knoch D, Treyer V, Regard M, Muri RM, Buck A, Weber B (2006b) Lateralized and frequency-dependent effects of prefrontal rTMS on regional cerebral blood flow. Neuroimage.

- Ko JH, Monchi O, Ptito A, Bloomfield P, Houle S, Strafella AP (2008) Theta burst stimulation-induced inhibition of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex reveals hemispheric asymmetry in striatal dopamine release during a set-shifting task: a TMS-[(11)C]raclopride PET study. Eur J Neurosci 28:2147-2155.
- Koch G, Oliveri M, Torriero S, Carlesimo GA, Turriziani P, Caltagirone C (2005) rTMS evidence of different delay and decision processes in a frontoparietal neuronal network activated during spatial working memory. Neuroimage 24:34-39.
- Koch G, Franca M, Mochizuki H, Marconi B, Caltagirone C, Rothwell JC (2007)
 Interactions between pairs of transcranial magnetic stimuli over the human left dorsal premotor cortex differ from those seen in primary motor cortex.
 J Physiol 578:551-562.
- Koepp MJ, Gunn RN, Lawrence AD, Cunningham VJ, Dagher A, Jones T, Brooks DJ, Bench CJ, Grasby PM (1998) Evidence for striatal dopamine release during a video game. Nature 393:266-268.
- Koeppe RA, Holthoff VA, Frey KA, Kilbourn MR, Kuhl DE (1991) Compartmental analysis of [11C]flumazenil kinetics for the estimation of ligand transport rate and receptor distribution using positron emission tomography. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 11:735-744.
- Kondo H, Osaka N, Osaka M (2004) Cooperation of the anterior cingulate cortex and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex for attention shifting. Neuroimage 23:670-679.
- Konishi S, Hayashi T, Uchida I, Kikyo H, Takahashi E, Miyashita Y (2002) Hemispheric asymmetry in human lateral prefrontal cortex during cognitive set shifting. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:7803-7808.
- Koski L, Paus T (2000) Functional connectivity of the anterior cingulate cortex within the human frontal lobe: a brain-mapping meta-analysis. Exp Brain Res 133:55-65.

- Krainik A, Lehericy S, Duffau H, Vlaicu M, Poupon F, Capelle L, Cornu P,
 Clemenceau S, Sahel M, Valery CA, Boch AL, Mangin JF, Bihan DL,
 Marsault C (2001) Role of the supplementary motor area in motor deficit
 following medial frontal lobe surgery. Neurology 57:871-878.
- Kujirai T, Caramia MD, Rothwell JC, Day BL, Thompson PD, Ferbert A, Wroe S, Asselman P, Marsden CD (1993) Corticocortical inhibition in human motor cortex. J Physiol 471:501-519.
- Kulisevsky J, Avila A, Barbanoj M, Antonijoan R, Berthier ML, Gironell A (1996) Acute effects of levodopa on neuropsychological performance in stable and fluctuating Parkinson's disease patients at different levodopa plasma levels. Brain 119 (Pt 6):2121-2132.
- Kuwabara H, Cumming P, Yasuhara Y, Leger GC, Guttman M, Diksic M, Evans AC, Gjedde A (1995) Regional striatal DOPA transport and decarboxylase activity in Parkinson's disease. J Nucl Med 36:1226-1231.
- Lammertsma AA, Hume SP (1996) Simplified reference tissue model for PET receptor studies. Neuroimage 4:153-158.
- Landau SM, Lal R, O'Neil JP, Baker S, Jagust WJ (2008) Striatal Dopamine and Working Memory. Cereb Cortex.
- Lange KW, Robbins TW, Marsden CD, James M, Owen AM, Paul GM (1992) Ldopa withdrawal in Parkinson's disease selectively impairs cognitive performance in tests sensitive to frontal lobe dysfunction. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 107:394-404.
- Lange KW, Sahakian BJ, Quinn NP, Marsden CD, Robbins TW (1995) Comparison of executive and visuospatial memory function in Huntington's disease and dementia of Alzheimer type matched for degree of dementia. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 58:598-606.
- Laruelle M, D'Souza CD, Baldwin RM, Abi-Dargham A, Kanes SJ, Fingado CL, Seibyl JP, Zoghbi SS, Bowers MB, Jatlow P, Charney DS, Innis RB (1997a) Imaging D2 receptor occupancy by endogenous dopamine in humans. Neuropsychopharmacology 17:162-174.

- Laruelle M, Iyer RN, al-Tikriti MS, Zea-Ponce Y, Malison R, Zoghbi SS, Baldwin RM, Kung HF, Charney DS, Hoffer PB, Innis RB, Bradberry CW (1997b) Microdialysis and SPECT measurements of amphetamine-induced dopamine release in nonhuman primates. Synapse 25:1-14.
- Laruelle M (2000) Imaging synaptic neurotransmission with in vivo binding competition techniques: a critical review. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 20:423-451.
- Leh SE, Ptito A, Chakravarty MM, Strafella AP (2007) Fronto-striatal connections in the human brain: a probabilistic diffusion tractography study. Neurosci Lett 419:113-118.
- Levine MS, Altemus KL, Cepeda C, Cromwell HC, Crawford C, Ariano MA, Drago J, Sibley DR, Westphal H (1996a) Modulatory actions of dopamine on NMDA receptor-mediated responses are reduced in D1A-deficient mutant mice. J Neurosci 16:5870-5882.
- Levine MS, Li Z, Cepeda C, Cromwell HC, Altemus KL (1996b) Neuromodulatory actions of dopamine on synaptically-evoked neostriatal responses in slices. Synapse 24:65-78.
- Levy R, Goldman-Rakic PS (2000) Segregation of working memory functions within the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Exp Brain Res 133:23-32.
- Lewis SJ, Dove A, Robbins TW, Barker RA, Owen AM (2004) Striatal contributions to working memory: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study in humans. Eur J Neurosci 19:755-760.
- Leyton M, Boileau I, Benkelfat C, Diksic M, Baker G, Dagher A (2002) Amphetamine-induced increases in extracellular dopamine, drug wanting, and novelty seeking: a PET/[11C]raclopride study in healthy men. Neuropsychopharmacology 27:1027-1035.
- Lie CH, Specht K, Marshall JC, Fink GR (2006) Using fMRI to decompose the neural processes underlying the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test. Neuroimage.

- Logan J, Fowler JS, Volkow ND, Wolf AP, Dewey SL, Schlyer DJ, MacGregor RR, Hitzemann R, Bendriem B, Gatley SJ, et al. (1990) Graphical analysis of reversible radioligand binding from time-activity measurements applied to [N-11C-methyl]-(-)-cocaine PET studies in human subjects. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 10:740-747.
- Lopresti BJ, Russo A, Jones WF, Fisher T, Crouch DG, Altenburger DE, Townsend DW (1999) Implementation and performance of an optical motion tracking system for high resolution brain PET imaging. Ieee Transactions on Nuclear Science 46:2059-2067.
- Lozza C, Baron JC, Eidelberg D, Mentis MJ, Carbon M, Marie RM (2004) Executive processes in Parkinson's disease: FDG-PET and network analysis. Hum Brain Mapp 22:236-245.
- Luber B, Kinnunen LH, Rakitin BC, Ellsasser R, Stern Y, Lisanby SH (2007) Facilitation of performance in a working memory task with rTMS stimulation of the precuneus: frequency- and time-dependent effects. Brain Res 1128:120-129.
- Lumme V, Aalto S, Ilonen T, Nagren K, Hietala J (2007) Dopamine D2/D3 receptor binding in the anterior cingulate cortex and executive functioning. Psychiatry Res 156:69-74.
- Lutcke H, Frahm J (2008) Lateralized anterior cingulate function during error processing and conflict monitoring as revealed by high-resolution fMRI. Cereb Cortex 18:508-515.
- Luu P, Flaisch T, Tucker DM (2000) Medial frontal cortex in action monitoring. J Neurosci 20:464-469.
- MacDonald AW, 3rd, Cohen JD, Stenger VA, Carter CS (2000) Dissociating the role of the dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in cognitive control. Science 288:1835-1838.
- Mansouri FA, Matsumoto K, Tanaka K (2006) Prefrontal cell activities related to monkeys' success and failure in adapting to rule changes in a Wisconsin Card Sorting Test analog. J Neurosci 26:2745-2756.

- Marie RM, Barre L, Dupuy B, Viader F, Defer G, Baron JC (1999) Relationships between striatal dopamine denervation and frontal executive tests in Parkinson's disease. Neurosci Lett 260:77-80.
- Marklund P, Larsson A, Elgh E, Linder J, Riklund KA, Forsgren L, Nyberg L (2008) Temporal dynamics of basal ganglia under-recruitment in Parkinson's disease: transient caudate abnormalities during updating of working memory. Brain.
- Martres MP, Bouthenet ML, Sales N, Sokoloff P, Schwartz JC (1985) Widespread distribution of brain dopamine receptors evidenced with [1251]iodosulpride, a highly selective ligand. Science 228:752-755.
- Mathis J, de Quervain D, Hess CW (1998) Dependence of the transcranially induced silent period on the 'instruction set' and the individual reaction time. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 109:426-435.
- Mattay VS, Tessitore A, Callicott JH, Bertolino A, Goldberg TE, Chase TN, Hyde TM, Weinberger DR (2002) Dopaminergic modulation of cortical function in patients with Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 51:156-164.
- Mayberg HS (1997) Limbic-cortical dysregulation: a proposed model of depression. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 9:471-481.
- McIntosh AR, Grady CL, Ungerleider LG, Haxby JV, Rapoport SI, Horwitz B (1994) Network analysis of cortical visual pathways mapped with PET. J Neurosci 14:655-666.
- Mehta MA, Sahakian BJ, McKenna PJ, Robbins TW (1999) Systemic sulpiride in young adult volunteers simulates the profile of cognitive deficits in Parkinson's disease. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 146:162-174.
- Mehta MA, Swainson R, Ogilvie AD, Sahakian J, Robbins TW (2001) Improved short-term spatial memory but impaired reversal learning following the dopamine D(2) agonist bromocriptine in human volunteers. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 159:10-20.
- Middleton FA, Strick PL (2000) Basal ganglia output and cognition: evidence from anatomical, behavioral, and clinical studies. Brain Cogn 42:183-200.

Milner B (1963) Effects of brain lesions on card sorting. Arch Neurol 9:90-100.

- Mink JW (1996) The basal ganglia: focused selection and inhibition of competing motor programs. Prog Neurobiol 50:381-425.
- Mochizuki H, Franca M, Huang YZ, Rothwell JC (2005) The role of dorsal premotor area in reaction task: comparing the "virtual lesion" effect of paired pulse or theta burst transcranial magnetic stimulation. Exp Brain Res 167:414-421.
- Modugno N, Nakamura Y, MacKinnon CD, Filipovic SR, Bestmann S, Berardelli A, Rothwell JC (2001) Motor cortex excitability following short trains of repetitive magnetic stimuli. Exp Brain Res 140:453-459.
- Monchi O, Petrides M, Petre V, Worsley K, Dagher A (2001) Wisconsin Card Sorting revisited: distinct neural circuits participating in different stages of the task identified by event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci 21:7733-7741.
- Monchi O, Petrides M, Doyon J, Postuma RB, Worsley K, Dagher A (2004) Neural bases of set-shifting deficits in Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci 24:702-710.
- Monchi O, Ko JH, Strafella AP (2006a) Striatal dopamine release during performance of executive functions: A [(11)C] raclopride PET study. Neuroimage 33:907-912.
- Monchi O, Petrides M, Strafella AP, Worsley KJ, Doyon J (2006b) Functional role of the basal ganglia in the planning and execution of actions. Ann Neurol 59:257-264.
- Monchi O, Petrides M, Mejia-Constain B, Strafella AP (2007) Cortical activity in Parkinson's disease during executive processing depends on striatal involvement. Brain 130:233-244.
- Montgomery AJ, Thielemans K, Mehta MA, Turkheimer F, Mustafovic S, Grasby PM (2006) Correction of head movement on PET studies: comparison of methods. J Nucl Med 47:1936-1944.

Montgomery AJ, Asselin MC, Farde L, Grasby PM (2007) Measurement of methylphenidate-induced change in extrastriatal dopamine concentration using [11C]FLB 457 PET. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 27:369-377.

Montoya A, Price BH, Menear M, Lepage M (2006) Brain imaging and cognitive dysfunctions in Huntington's disease. J Psychiatry Neurosci 31:21-29.

Morrish PK, Sawle GV, Brooks DJ (1995) Clinical and [18F] dopa PET findings in early Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 59:597-600.

- Mottaghy FM, Gangitano M, Sparing R, Krause BJ, Pascual-Leone A (2002) Segregation of areas related to visual working memory in the prefrontal cortex revealed by rTMS. Cereb Cortex 12:369-375.
- Mottaghy FM, Gangitano M, Krause BJ, Pascual-Leone A (2003) Chronometry of parietal and prefrontal activations in verbal working memory revealed by transcranial magnetic stimulation. Neuroimage 18:565-575.

Mottaghy FM (2006) Interfering with working memory in humans. Neuroscience 139:85-90.

Mull BR, Seyal M (2001) Transcranial magnetic stimulation of left prefrontal cortex impairs working memory. Clin Neurophysiol 112:1672-1675.

Muller CP, Huston JP (2007) Dopamine activity in the occipital and temporal cortices of rats: dissociating effects of sensory but not pharmacological stimulation. Synapse 61:254-258.

Muller U, Wachter T, Barthel H, Reuter M, von Cramon DY (2000) Striatal [123I]beta-CIT SPECT and prefrontal cognitive functions in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm 107:303-319.

Muri RM, Vermersch AI, Rivaud S, Gaymard B, Pierrot-Deseilligny C (1996) Effects of single-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation over the prefrontal and posterior parietal cortices during memory-guided saccades in humans. J Neurophysiol 76:2102-2106.

- Muri RM, Gaymard B, Rivaud S, Vermersch A, Hess CW, Pierrot-Deseilligny C (2000) Hemispheric asymmetry in cortical control of memory-guided saccades. A transcranial magnetic stimulation study. Neuropsychologia 38:1105-1111.
- Murphy BL, Arnsten AF, Goldman-Rakic PS, Roth RH (1996) Increased dopamine turnover in the prefrontal cortex impairs spatial working memory performance in rats and monkeys. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:1325-1329.
- Nachev P (2006) Cognition and medial frontal cortex in health and disease. Curr Opin Neurol 19:586-592.
- Nagahama Y, Okada T, Katsumi Y, Hayashi T, Yamauchi H, Oyanagi C, Konishi J, Fukuyama H, Shibasaki H (2001) Dissociable mechanisms of attentional control within the human prefrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex 11:85-92.
- Nelson HE (1976) A modified card sorting test sensitive to frontal lobe defects. Cortex 12:313-324.
- Nichols T, Hayasaka S (2003) Controlling the familywise error rate in functional neuroimaging: a comparative review. Stat Methods Med Res 12:419-446.
- Nobre AC, Sebestyen GN, Gitelman DR, Mesulam MM, Frackowiak RS, Frith CD (1997) Functional localization of the system for visuospatial attention using positron emission tomography. Brain 120 (Pt 3):515-533.
- Nurmi E, Ruottinen HM, Bergman J, Haaparanta M, Solin O, Sonninen P, Rinne JO (2001) Rate of progression in Parkinson's disease: a 6-[18F]fluoro-Ldopa PET study. Mov Disord 16:608-615.
- Nyffeler T, Pierrot-Deseilligny C, Pflugshaupt T, von Wartburg R, Hess CW, Muri RM (2004) Information processing in long delay memory-guided saccades: further insights from TMS. Exp Brain Res 154:109-112.

- Nyffeler T, Wurtz P, Luscher HR, Hess CW, Senn W, Pflugshaupt T, von Wartburg R, Luthi M, Muri RM (2006) Repetitive TMS over the human oculomotor cortex: comparison of 1-Hz and theta burst stimulation. Neurosci Lett 409:57-60.
- Okubo Y, Suhara T, Suzuki K, Kobayashi K, Inoue O, Terasaki O, Someya Y, Sassa T, Sudo Y, Matsushima E, Iyo M, Tateno Y, Toru M (1997) Decreased prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors in schizophrenia revealed by PET. Nature 385:634-636.
- Oldfield RC (1971) The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. Neuropsychologia 9:97-113.
- Oliveri M, Turriziani P, Carlesimo GA, Koch G, Tomaiuolo F, Panella M, Caltagirone C (2001) Parieto-frontal interactions in visual-object and visual-spatial working memory: evidence from transcranial magnetic stimulation. Cereb Cortex 11:606-618.
- Olsson H, Halldin C, Swahn CG, Farde L (1999) Quantification of [11C]FLB 457 binding to extrastriatal dopamine receptors in the human brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19:1164-1173.
- Olsson H, Halldin C, Farde L (2004) Differentiation of extrastriatal dopamine D2 receptor density and affinity in the human brain using PET. Neuroimage 22:794-803.
- Onn SP, West AR, Grace AA (2000) Dopamine-mediated regulation of striatal neuronal and network interactions. Trends Neurosci 23:S48-56.
- Ouchi Y, Kanno T, Okada H, Yoshikawa E, Futatsubashi M, Nobezawa S, Torizuka T, Sakamoto M (1999) Presynaptic and postsynaptic dopaminergic binding densities in the nigrostriatal and mesocortical systems in early Parkinson's disease: a double-tracer positron emission tomography study. Ann Neurol 46:723-731.

- Ouchi Y, Yoshikawa E, Futatsubashi M, Okada H, Torizuka T, Sakamoto M (2002) Effect of simple motor performance on regional dopamine release in the striatum in Parkinson disease patients and healthy subjects: a positron emission tomography study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 22:746-752.
- Owen AM, Downes JJ, Sahakian BJ, Polkey CE, Robbins TW (1990) Planning and spatial working memory following frontal lobe lesions in man. Neuropsychologia 28:1021-1034.
- Owen AM, Doyon J, Petrides M, Evans AC (1996a) Planning and spatial working memory: a positron emission tomography study in humans. Eur J Neurosci 8:353-364.
- Owen AM, Evans AC, Petrides M (1996b) Evidence for a two-stage model of spatial working memory processing within the lateral frontal cortex: a positron emission tomography study. Cereb Cortex 6:31-38.
- Owen AM, Stern CE, Look RB, Tracey I, Rosen BR, Petrides M (1998) Functional organization of spatial and nonspatial working memory processing within the human lateral frontal cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:7721-7726.
- Owen AM (2000) The role of the lateral frontal cortex in mnemonic processing: the contribution of functional neuroimaging. Exp Brain Res 133:33-43.
- Owen AM (2004) Cognitive dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: the role of frontostriatal circuitry. Neuroscientist 10:525-537.
- Parent A, Hazrati LN (1995) Functional anatomy of the basal ganglia. I. The cortico-basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical loop. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 20:91-127.
- Pascual-Leone A, Gates JR, Dhuna A (1991) Induction of speech arrest and counting errors with rapid-rate transcranial magnetic stimulation. Neurology 41:697-702.

- Pascual-Leone A, Valls-Sole J, Wassermann EM, Hallett M (1994) Responses to rapid-rate transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human motor cortex. Brain 117:847-858.
- Pascual-Leone A, Tormos JM, Keenan J, Tarazona F, Canete C, Catala MD (1998) Study and modulation of human cortical excitability with transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Clin Neurophysiol 15:333-343.
- Pascual-Leone A, Walsh V, Rothwell J (2000) Transcranial magnetic stimulation in cognitive neuroscience--virtual lesion, chronometry, and functional connectivity. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10:232-237.
- Paulsen JS, Butters N, Sadek JR, Johnson SA, Salmon DP, Swerdlow NR, Swenson MR (1995) Distinct cognitive profiles of cortical and subcortical dementia in advanced illness. Neurology 45:951-956.
- Paus T, Jech R, Thompson CJ, Comeau R, Peters T, Evans AC (1997) Transcranial magnetic stimulation during positron emission tomography: a new method for studying connectivity of the human cerebral cortex. J Neurosci 17:3178-3184.
- Paus T, Jech R, Thompson CJ, Comeau R, Peters T, Evans AC (1998) Dosedependent reduction of cerebral blood flow during rapid-rate transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human sensorimotor cortex. J Neurophysiol 79:1102-1107.
- Paus T (1999) Imaging the brain before, during, and after transcranial magnetic stimulation. Neuropsychologia 37:219-224.
- Pavese N, Andrews TC, Brooks DJ, Ho AK, Rosser AE, Barker RA, Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ, Dunnett SB, Piccini P (2003) Progressive striatal and cortical dopamine receptor dysfunction in Huntington's disease: a PET study. Brain 126:1127-1135.
- Perruchot F, Reilhac A, Grova C, Evans AC, Dagher A (2004) Motion correction of multi-frame PET data. 2004 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record, Vols 1-7:3186-3190

4698.

- Petrides M, Milner B (1982) Deficits on subject-ordered tasks after frontal- and temporal-lobe lesions in man. Neuropsychologia 20:249-262.
- Petrides M (1991) Functional specialization within the dorsolateral frontal cortex for serial order memory. Proc Biol Sci 246:299-306.

Petrides M (1994) Frontal lobes and behaviour. Curr Opin Neurobiol 4:207-211.

- Petrides M (1995) Impairments on nonspatial self-ordered and externally ordered working memory tasks after lesions of the mid-dorsal part of the lateral frontal cortex in the monkey. J Neurosci 15:359-375.
- Petrides M (2000) The role of the mid-dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in working memory. Exp Brain Res 133:44-54.
- Petrides M (2005) Lateral prefrontal cortex: architectonic and functional organization. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 360:781-795.
- Priori A, Berardelli A, Inghilleri M, Accornero N, Manfredi M (1994) Motor cortical inhibition and the dopaminergic system. Pharmacological changes in the silent period after transcranial brain stimulation in normal subjects, patients with Parkinson's disease and drug-induced parkinsonism. Brain 117 (Pt 2):317-323.
- Prout AJ, Eisen AA (1994) The cortical silent period and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Muscle Nerve 17:217-223.
- Ragozzino ME (2003) Acetylcholine actions in the dorsomedial striatum support the flexible shifting of response patterns. Neurobiol Learn Mem 80:257-267.
- Rakshi JS, Uema T, Ito K, Bailey DL, Morrish PK, Ashburner J, Dagher A, Jenkins IH, Friston KJ, Brooks DJ (1999) Frontal, midbrain and striatal dopaminergic function in early and advanced Parkinson's disease A 3D [(18)F]dopa-PET study. Brain 122 (Pt 9):1637-1650.
- Reading PJ, Dunnett SB, Robbins TW (1991) Dissociable roles of the ventral, medial and lateral striatum on the acquisition and performance of a complex visual stimulus-response habit. Behav Brain Res 45:147-161.

Redgrave P, Prescott TJ, Gurney K (1999) The basal ganglia: a vertebrate solution to the selection problem? Neuroscience 89:1009-1023.

- Reimold M, Slifstein M, Heinz A, Mueller-Schauenburg W, Bares R (2006) Effect of spatial smoothing on t-maps: arguments for going back from t-maps to masked contrast images. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 26:751-759.
- Riccardi P, Li R, Ansari MS, Zald D, Park S, Dawant B, Anderson S, Doop M, Woodward N, Schoenberg E, Schmidt D, Baldwin R, Kessler R (2006)
 Amphetamine-induced displacement of [18F] fallypride in striatum and extrastriatal regions in humans. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:1016-1026.
- Richer F, Decary A, Lapierre MF, Rouleau I, Bouvier G, Saint-Hilaire JM (1993) Target detection deficits in frontal lobectomy. Brain Cogn 21:203-211.
- Ridderinkhof KR, Ullsperger M, Crone EA, Nieuwenhuis S (2004) The role of the medial frontal cortex in cognitive control. Science 306:443-447.
- Rinne JO, Rummukainen J, Paljarvi L, Rinne UK (1989) Dementia in Parkinson's disease is related to neuronal loss in the medial substantia nigra. Ann Neurol 26:47-50.
- Rinne JO, Portin R, Ruottinen H, Nurmi E, Bergman J, Haaparanta M, Solin O (2000) Cognitive impairment and the brain dopaminergic system in Parkinson disease: [18F]fluorodopa positron emission tomographic study. Arch Neurol 57:470-475.
- Robbins S, Evans AC, Collins DL, Whitesides S (2004) Tuning and comparing spatial normalization methods. Med Image Anal 8:311-323.
- Roberts AC, De Salvia MA, Wilkinson LS, Collins P, Muir JL, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW (1994) 6-Hydroxydopamine lesions of the prefrontal cortex in monkeys enhance performance on an analog of the Wisconsin Card Sort Test: possible interactions with subcortical dopamine. J Neurosci 14:2531-2544.
- Robertson EM, Tormos JM, Maeda F, Pascual-Leone A (2001) The role of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex during sequence learning is specific for spatial information. Cereb Cortex 11:628-635.

- Robertson EM, Theoret H, Pascual-Leone A (2003) Studies in cognition: the problems solved and created by transcranial magnetic stimulation. J Cogn Neurosci 15:948-960.
- Roesch-Ely D, Scheffel H, Weiland S, Schwaninger M, Hundemer HP, Kolter T, Weisbrod M (2005) Differential dopaminergic modulation of executive control in healthy subjects. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 178:420-430.
- Rogers RD, Sahakian BJ, Hodges JR, Polkey CE, Kennard C, Robbins TW (1998) Dissociating executive mechanisms of task control following frontal lobe damage and Parkinson's disease. Brain 121 (Pt 5):815-842.
- Rogers RD, Andrews TC, Grasby PM, Brooks DJ, Robbins TW (2000) Contrasting cortical and subcortical activations produced by attentional-set shifting and reversal learning in humans. J Cogn Neurosci 12:142-162.
- Rounis E, Lee L, Siebner HR, Rowe JB, Friston KJ, Rothwell JC, Frackowiak RS (2005) Frequency specific changes in regional cerebral blood flow and motor system connectivity following rTMS to the primary motor cortex. Neuroimage 26:164-176.
- Rushworth MF, Hadland KA, Paus T, Sipila PK (2002) Role of the human medial frontal cortex in task switching: a combined fMRI and TMS study. J Neurophysiol 87:2577-2592.
- Sanchez-Pernaute R, Garcia-Segura JM, del Barrio Alba A, Viano J, de Yebenes JG (1999) Clinical correlation of striatal 1H MRS changes in Huntington's disease. Neurology 53:806-812.
- Sawaguchi T, Goldman-Rakic PS (1991) D1 dopamine receptors in prefrontal cortex: involvement in working memory. Science 251:947-950.
- Sawaguchi T, Goldman-Rakic PS (1994) The role of D1-dopamine receptor in working memory: local injections of dopamine antagonists into the prefrontal cortex of rhesus monkeys performing an oculomotor delayedresponse task. J Neurophysiol 71:515-528.

- Sawamoto N, Piccini P, Hotton G, Pavese N, Thielemans K, Brooks DJ (2008) Cognitive deficits and striato-frontal dopamine release in Parkinson's disease. Brain 131:1294-1302.
- Scatton B, Rouquier L, Javoy-Agid F, Agid Y (1982) Dopamine deficiency in the cerebral cortex in Parkinson disease. Neurology 32:1039-1040.
- Schabrun SM, Ridding MC, Miles TS (2008) Role of the primary motor and sensory cortex in precision grasping: a transcranial magnetic stimulation study. Eur J Neurosci 27:750-756.
- Schubert T, Volkmann J, Muller U, Sturm V, Voges J, Freund HJ, Von Cramon DY (2002) Effects of pallidal deep brain stimulation and levodopa treatment on reaction-time performance in Parkinson's disease. Exp Brain Res 144:8-16.
- Seamans JK, Floresco SB, Phillips AG (1998) D1 receptor modulation of hippocampal-prefrontal cortical circuits integrating spatial memory with executive functions in the rat. J Neurosci 18:1613-1621.
- Seamans JK, Durstewitz D, Christie BR, Stevens CF, Sejnowski TJ (2001)
 Dopamine D1/D5 receptor modulation of excitatory synaptic inputs to layer
 V prefrontal cortex neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:301-306.
- Seamans JK, Yang CR (2004) The principal features and mechanisms of dopamine modulation in the prefrontal cortex. Prog Neurobiol 74:1-58.
- Selemon LD, Goldman-Rakic PS (1985) Longitudinal topography and interdigitation of corticostriatal projections in the rhesus monkey. J Neurosci 5:776-794.
- Shinotoh H, Inoue O, Hirayama K, Aotsuka A, Asahina M, Suhara T, Yamazaki T, Tateno Y (1993) Dopamine D1 receptors in Parkinson's disease and striatonigral degeneration: a positron emission tomography study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 56:467-472.

- Siebner HR, Takano B, Peinemann A, Schwaiger M, Conrad B, Drzezga A (2001) Continuous transcranial magnetic stimulation during positron emission tomography: a suitable tool for imaging regional excitability of the human cortex. Neuroimage 14:883-890.
- Siebner HR, Rothwell J (2003) Transcranial magnetic stimulation: new insights into representational cortical plasticity. Exp Brain Res 148:1-16.
- Slifstein M, Kegeles LS, Gonzales R, Frankle WG, Xu X, Laruelle M, Abi-Dargham A (2007) [11C]NNC 112 selectivity for dopamine D1 and serotonin 5-HT(2A) receptors: a PET study in healthy human subjects. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 27:1733-1741.
- Sohn YH, Wiltz K, Hallett M (2002) Effect of volitional inhibition on cortical inhibitory mechanisms. J Neurophysiol 88:333-338.
- Sossi V (2007) Cutting-edge brain imaging with positron emission tomography. Neuroimaging Clin N Am 17:427-440, viii.
- Speer AM, Willis MW, Herscovitch P, Daube-Witherspoon M, Shelton JR, Benson BE, Post RM, Wassermann EM (2003a) Intensity-dependent regional cerebral blood flow during 1-Hz repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in healthy volunteers studied with H215O positron emission tomography: II. Effects of prefrontal cortex rTMS. Biol Psychiatry 54:826-832.
- Speer AM, Willis MW, Herscovitch P, Daube-Witherspoon M, Shelton JR, Benson BE, Post RM, Wassermann EM (2003b) Intensity-dependent regional cerebral blood flow during 1-Hz repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in healthy volunteers studied with H215O positron emission tomography: I. Effects of primary motor cortex rTMS. Biol Psychiatry 54:818-825.

- Stagg CJ, Wylezinska-Arridge M, Matthews PM, Johansen-Berg H, Jezzard P, Rothwell JC, Bestmann S (2008) The cortical neurobiochemical effects of theta burst transcranial magnetic stimulation as assessed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy in vivo. In: Neuroscience 2008, p 516.518 Washington, DC, USA.
- Stefan K, Gentner R, Zeller D, Dang S, Classen J (2008) Theta-burst stimulation: remote physiological and local behavioral after-effects. Neuroimage 40:265-274.
- Stephan KE, Marshall JC, Friston KJ, Rowe JB, Ritzl A, Zilles K, Fink GR (2003) Lateralized cognitive processes and lateralized task control in the human brain. Science 301:384-386.
- Stewart CV, Plenz D (2006) Inverted-U profile of dopamine-NMDA-mediated spontaneous avalanche recurrence in superficial layers of rat prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 26:8148-8159.
- Strafella AP, Paus T (2000) Modulation of cortical excitability during action observation: a transcranial magnetic stimulation study. Neuroreport 11:2289-2292.
- Strafella AP, Paus T, Barrett J, Dagher A (2001) Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human prefrontal cortex induces dopamine release in the caudate nucleus. J Neurosci 21:RC157.
- Strafella AP, Paus T, Fraraccio M, Dagher A (2003) Striatal dopamine release induced by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the human motor cortex. Brain 126:2609-2615.
- Strafella AP, Ko JH, Grant J, Fraraccio M, Monchi O (2005) Corticostriatal functional interactions in Parkinson's disease: a rTMS/[11C]raclopride PET study. Eur J Neurosci 22:2946-2952.

- Stuss DT, Levine B, Alexander MP, Hong J, Palumbo C, Hamer L, Murphy KJ, Izukawa D (2000) Wisconsin Card Sorting Test performance in patients with focal frontal and posterior brain damage: effects of lesion location and test structure on separable cognitive processes. Neuropsychologia 38:388-402.
- Stuss DT, Alexander MP (2007) Is there a dysexecutive syndrome? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 362:901-915.
- Sudo Y, Suhara T, Inoue M, Ito H, Suzuki K, Saijo T, Halldin C, Farde L (2001) Reproducibility of [11 C]FLB 457 binding in extrastriatal regions. Nucl Med Commun 22:1215-1221.
- Suhara T, Okubo Y, Yasuno F, Sudo Y, Inoue M, Ichimiya T, Nakashima Y, Nakayama K, Tanada S, Suzuki K, Halldin C, Farde L (2002) Decreased dopamine D2 receptor binding in the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 59:25-30.
- Takahashi H, Higuchi M, Suhara T (2006) The role of extrastriatal dopamine D2 receptors in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 59:919-928.
- Talairach J, Tournoux P (1988) Co-planar stereotaxic atlas of the human brain :3-dimensional proportional system : an approach to cerebral imaging. New York: Thieme Medical Publishers.
- Taylor SF, Martis B, Fitzgerald KD, Welsh RC, Abelson JL, Liberzon I, Himle JA, Gehring WJ (2006) Medial frontal cortex activity and loss-related responses to errors. J Neurosci 26:4063-4070.
- Thompson PD, Day BL, Rothwell JC, Dressler D, Maertens de Noordhout A, Marsden CD (1991) Further observations on the facilitation of muscle responses to cortical stimulation by voluntary contraction.
 Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 81:397-402.
- Tolkunov BF, Orlov AA, Afanas'ev SV, Selezneva EV (1998) Involvement of striatum (putamen) neurons in motor and nonmotor behavior fragments in monkeys. Neurosci Behav Physiol 28:224-230.

- Triggs WJ, Cros D, Macdonell RA, Chiappa KH, Fang J, Day BJ (1993) Cortical and spinal motor excitability during the transcranial magnetic stimulation silent period in humans. Brain Res 628:39-48.
- Tsukada H, Nishiyama S, Fukumoto D, Sato K, Kakiuchi T, Domino EF (2005) Chronic NMDA antagonism impairs working memory, decreases extracellular dopamine, and increases D1 receptor binding in prefrontal cortex of conscious monkeys. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:1861-1869.
- Tulving E, Kapur S, Craik FI, Moscovitch M, Houle S (1994) Hemispheric encoding/retrieval asymmetry in episodic memory: positron emission tomography findings. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:2016-2020.
- Ungerleider LG, Mishkin M (1982) Two cortical visual systems. In: Analysis of visual behavior (Ingle D, Goodale MA, Mansfield RJW, eds), pp 549-586. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Valero-Cabre A, Payne BR, Pascual-Leone A (2007) Opposite impact on 14C-2deoxyglucose brain metabolism following patterns of high and low frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in the posterior parietal cortex. Exp Brain Res 176:603-615.
- Vallesi A, Shallice T, Walsh V (2007) Role of the prefrontal cortex in the foreperiod effect: TMS evidence for dual mechanisms in temporal preparation. Cereb Cortex 17:466-474.
- Vallesi A, McIntosh AR, Shallice T, Stuss DT (2008) When Time Shapes Behavior: fMRI Evidence of Brain Correlates of Temporal Monitoring. J Cogn Neurosci.
- van Beilen M, Leenders KL (2006) Putamen FDOPA uptake and its relationship tot cognitive functioning in PD. J Neurol Sci 248:68-71.
- van Eimeren T, Wolbers T, Munchau A, Buchel C, Weiller C, Siebner HR (2006) Implementation of visuospatial cues in response selection. Neuroimage 29:286-294.

- Vanderhasselt MA, De Raedt R, Baeken C, Leyman L, D'Haenen H (2006a) The influence of rTMS over the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex on Stroop task performance. Exp Brain Res 169:279-282.
- Vanderhasselt MA, De Raedt R, Baeken C, Leyman L, D'Haenen H (2006b) The influence of rTMS over the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex on intentional set switching. Exp Brain Res 172:561-565.
- Vogt BA, Nimchinsky EA, Vogt LJ, Hof PR (1995) Human cingulate cortex: surface features, flat maps, and cytoarchitecture. J Comp Neurol 359:490-506.
- Wagner M, Rihs TA, Mosimann UP, Fisch HU, Schlaepfer TE (2006) Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex affects divided attention immediately after cessation of stimulation. J Psychiatr Res 40:315-321.
- Wagner TA, Zahn M, Grodzinsky AJ, Pascual-Leone A (2004) Three-dimensional head model simulation of transcranial magnetic stimulation. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 51:1586-1598.
- Waldvogel D, van Gelderen P, Muellbacher W, Ziemann U, Immisch I, Hallett M (2000) The relative metabolic demand of inhibition and excitation. Nature 406:995-998.
- Walsh V, Cowey A (2000) Transcranial magnetic stimulation and cognitive neuroscience. Nat Rev Neurosci 1:73-79.
- Walsh V, Pascual-Leone A (2003a) Creating virtual patients: a guide to mechanism and methodology. In: Transcranial magnetic stimulation : a neurochronometrics of mind, pp 65-94. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Walsh V, Pascual-Leone A (2003b) Transcranial magnetic stimulation : a neurochronometrics of mind. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Wang J, O'Donnell P (2001) D(1) dopamine receptors potentiate nmda-mediated excitability increase in layer V prefrontal cortical pyramidal neurons. Cereb Cortex 11:452-462.

Wang J, Wang Z, Aguirre GK, Detre JA (2005) To smooth or not to smooth? ROC analysis of perfusion fMRI data. Magn Reson Imaging 23:75-81.

- Wassermann EM (1998) Risk and safety of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: report and suggested guidelines from the International
 Workshop on the Safety of Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation, June 5-7, 1996. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 108:1-16.
- Wassermann EM, Lisanby SH (2001) Therapeutic application of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation: a review. Clin Neurophysiol 112:1367-1377.
- Watanabe M, Kodama T, Hikosaka K (1997) Increase of extracellular dopamine in primate prefrontal cortex during a working memory task. J Neurophysiol 78:2795-2798.
- Weder BJ, Leenders KL, Vontobel P, Nienhusmeier M, Keel A, Zaunbauer W, Vonesch T, Ludin HP (1999) Impaired somatosensory discrimination of shape in Parkinson's disease: association with caudate nucleus dopaminergic function. Hum Brain Mapp 8:1-12.
- Weinberger DR (1987) Implications of normal brain development for the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44:660-669.
- White NM, Viaud M (1991) Localized intracaudate dopamine D2 receptor activation during the post-training period improves memory for visual or olfactory conditioned emotional responses in rats. Behav Neural Biol 55:255-269.
- Whone AL, Moore RY, Piccini PP, Brooks DJ (2003) Plasticity of the nigropallidal pathway in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 53:206-213.

Williams GV, Castner SA (2006) Under the curve: critical issues for elucidating D1 receptor function in working memory. Neuroscience 139:263-276.

Winterer G, Musso F, Vucurevic G, Stoeter P, Konrad A, Seker B, Gallinat J, Dahmen N, Weinberger DR (2006) COMT genotype predicts BOLD signal and noise characteristics in prefrontal circuits. Neuroimage 32:1722-1732.

- Woods RP, Mazziotta JC, Cherry SR (1993) MRI-PET registration with automated algorithm. J Comput Assist Tomogr 17:536-546.
- Worsley KJ, Evans AC, Marrett S, Neelin P (1992) A three-dimensional statistical analysis for CBF activation studies in human brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 12:900-918.
- Worsley KJ, Marrett S, Neelin P, Vandal AC, Friston KJ, Evans AC (1996) A unified statistical approach for determining significant signals in images of cerebral activation. Human Brain Mapping 4:58-73.
- Yin HH, Knowlton BJ (2006) The role of the basal ganglia in habit formation. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:464-476.
- Yokota T, Yoshino A, Inaba A, Saito Y (1996) Double cortical stimulation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 61:596-600.
- Zahrt J, Taylor JR, Mathew RG, Arnsten AF (1997) Supranormal stimulation of D1 dopamine receptors in the rodent prefrontal cortex impairs spatial working memory performance. J Neurosci 17:8528-8535.
- Zald DH, Boileau I, El-Dearedy W, Gunn R, McGlone F, Dichter GS, Dagher A (2004) Dopamine transmission in the human striatum during monetary reward tasks. J Neurosci 24:4105-4112.
- Zamburlini M, Camborde ML, del la Fuente-Fernandez R, Stoessl AJ, Ruth TJ, Sossi V (2004) Impact of the spatial normalization template and realignment procedure on the SPM analysis of [11C]Raclopride PET studies. leee Transactions on Nuclear Science 51:205-211.
- Zgaljardic DJ, Borod JC, Foldi NS, Mattis P (2003) A review of the cognitive and behavioral sequelae of Parkinson's disease: relationship to frontostriatal circuitry. Cogn Behav Neurol 16:193-210.
- Zheng P, Zhang XX, Bunney BS, Shi WX (1999) Opposite modulation of cortical N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated responses by low and high concentrations of dopamine. Neuroscience 91:527-535.

- Ziemann U, Lonnecker S, Paulus W (1995) Inhibition of human motor cortex by ethanol. A transcranial magnetic stimulation study. Brain 118 (Pt 6):1437-1446.
- Ziemann U, Bruns D, Paulus W (1996a) Enhancement of human motor cortex inhibition by the dopamine receptor agonist pergolide: evidence from transcranial magnetic stimulation. Neurosci Lett 208:187-190.
- Ziemann U, Lonnecker S, Steinhoff BJ, Paulus W (1996b) Effects of antiepileptic drugs on motor cortex excitability in humans: a transcranial magnetic stimulation study. Ann Neurol 40:367-378.
- Ziemann U, Lonnecker S, Steinhoff BJ, Paulus W (1996c) The effect of lorazepam on the motor cortical excitability in man. Exp Brain Res 109:127-135.

Appendix



Dear Dr. Strafella.

Thank you for submitting your Application for Initial Review for the above-cited research protocol.

The above submission, reviewed by the full REB at the August 8, 2005 meeting # 6.a., was found to be acceptable for continuation at the McGill University Health Centre (MUHC). This was entered accordingly into the minutes of the REB meeting.

The approval of the study is valid until August 30, 2006.

All research involving human subjects requires review at recurring intervals. To comply with the regulation for continuing review of "at least once per year," it is the responsibility of the investigator to submit an Application for Continuing Review to the REB prior to expiry. However, should the research conclude for any reason prior to approval expiry, you are required to submit a Termination Report to the board once the data analysis is complete to give an account of the study findings and publication status.

The Research Ethics Boards (REBs) of the McGill University Health Centre are registered REBs working ander the published guidelines of the Tri-Council Policy Statement, in compliance with the "Plan d'action ministériel en éthique de la recherche et en intégrité scientifique" (MSSS, 1998) and the Food and Drugs Act (2001.06.07), acting is conformity with standards set forth in the (US) Code of Federal Regulations governing human subjects research and functioning in a manner consistent with internationally accepted principles of good clinical practice.

Should any revision to the study or other development occur prior to the next required review, you must advise the REB without delay. Regulation does not permit initiation of a proposed study modification prior to REB approval of the amendment.

We trust this will prove satisfactory to you. Thank you for your consideration in this matter.

Yours very truly

Eugene Bereza, MD CM, CCFP, Chair, MNH/I Research Ethics Board EB/Iz

August 8, 2005 meeting # 6.a.

L'HÖPITAL NEUROLOGIQUE DE MONTREAL + MONTREAL NEUROLOGICAL HOSPITAL 3891, næ University, Muntefal (Québec) HSA 284 - Tél.: (314) 398-8844 31-Baself Street Tarsen; Orderin Casado (1931-201 bei: eta: 533-6531



IL NE Root Trease Chiani Gradu HIS 20 10. 415 515 800

November 20, 2006

www.calific.ord

Antonio Strafielia, MD, PhD, FRCP(C) Pet Imaging Centre Centre for Addiction and Montal Health 250 College Street Toronte, ON M57 1R8

Dear Dr. Stafella:

Re: Research protocol #252/2000 entitled, "Prontal-striatal functional interactions in the haman brain" by Stafella A, Ko JH, Huark S

We new writing to advise you that the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board (CAME REB) has granted approval to the above-tarnest research study for a period of one year from the date of this letter¹. If the study is expected to continue beyond the expiry date, you are responsible for ensuing the study receives re-approval by submitting the CAME REB "Armual Research of lithics Approval" form on or before October 1, 2007. Should the study be completed prior to the armual reveal date, picase administ a final report. The level of continuing review for this study is Level 2.¹

The Consent Forms and the advertisement, revised November 14, 2006, have been approved and are attached. Subjects should receive a cupy of their consent form.

3 Meditaria Deleteraring Grans Un Conno colotocoment OPS/Det

> Milland with the chartery of the arms Attive a termination de Tanacia

Please contact Loah Yoang, Manager, CAMH Research Communications, ext. 4932 prior to using any advertisement.

During the course of the research, any significent deviations from the approved protocol (that is, any deviation which would lead to an increase in risk or a decrease in henefit to human subjects) and/or any unanticipated developments within the research should be brought to the attention of the Research Ethics Office. Best withen for the successful completion of your project.

Youry sincerely, Sesan Pilon, MHSc Manager, Research Ethics Office, CAMH

SPilw

Encl

ec: P. Darby G. Ciukar S. Kapur L. Young

¹ CAMBI lanussigators are remembed that showkil flavy lasse CAMBI, they are required to inform the llassarch [Drucs Board of the status of any on-going research. If a study to to be obside or transferred to another facility, the BEBI span he informed and any advertisements must be discontinued. Hussel Univer Incomo, Ortania Estanta 455 (SEE)
 Hussel (SEE)
 Hussel (SEE)
 An Record Towney (Sectors) Calenda (SEE)
 An USE (SEE)
 An USE (SEE)



November 1, 2007

Strafella, A.

Dear Dr. Strafella,

Re: Renewal Approved for Research Protocol #252/2006 - "Frontal-striatal functional interactions in the human brain"

Thank you for returning the Annual Renewal of Ethics Approval form for the above-named research protocol.

We are writing to advise you that the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health Research Ethics Board has granted approval to the above-named research protocol for a period of one year.¹ Please keep a copy of this letter in your files.

If the research is expected to continue beyond the expiry date, you are responsible for ensuring the study receives re-approval by submitting the CAMH "Annual Renewal of Ethics Approval" form by 1 October 2008.

During the course of research, any significant deviations from the approved protocol (that is, any deviation which would lead to an increase in risk or a decrease in benefit to human subjects) and/or any unanticipated developments within the research should be brought to the attention of the Research Ethics Office. *Best worker for the successful completion of your project*.

Sincerely,

Susan Pilon, MHSe Managar, Research Ethics Office Centre for Addiction and Mental Health

SP/dk

CAMH Investigators are reminded that should they leave CAMH, they are required to inform the Research Ethics Board of the status of any on-going research. If a study is to be closed or transferred to another facility, the BEB must be informed and any advertisements must be discontinued.

Transforming Lives - Transformer des vies


Author Guidelines

Copyright

Open Access authors retain the copyrights of their papers, and all open access articles are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution license, which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided that the original work is properly cited.

The use of general descriptive names, trade names, trademarks, and so forth in this publication, even if not specifically identified, does not imply that these names are not protected by the relevant laws and regulations.

While the advice and information in this journal are believed to be true and accurate on the date of its going to press, neither the authors, the editors, nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.



ELSEVIER Home Elsevier Websites Alerts	
Search:	• Product Information • All Elsevier Sites 60 <u>Advanced Product Search</u>
▲ For Authors	
Journal authors' home	COPYRIGHT
Why publish with Elsevier	What rights do I retain as a journal author*? When Elsevier changes its journal usage policies, are those changes also retroactive? How do I obtain a Journal Publishing Agreement? Can I post my article on the Internet? Why does Elsevier request transfer of copyright? Why does Elsevier believe it needs exclusive rights? Can you provide me with a PDF file of my article? What is Elsevier's policy on plagiarism and conflicts of interest?
Resource center	
Guide to publishing with Elsevier	
Funding body agreements/policies	
Authors' rights	What rights do I retain as a journal author*?
Track your accepted article	As a journal author, you retain rights for large number of author uses, including use by your employing institute or company. These rights are retained and permitted without the need to obtain specific permission from Elsevier. These include:
FAQ	• the right to make copies (print or electric) of the journal article for their own personal use, including for their own
Book authors' home	classroom teaching use;
Permissions	 The right to that by such colleagues (but not for Commercial Purposes^{**}, as listed below); the right to post a pre-print version of the journal article on Internet web sites including electronic pre-print servers, and to retain indefinitely such version on such servers or sites (see also our information on electronic preprints for a more detailed discussion on these points); the right to post a revised personal version of the text of the final journal article (to reflect changes made in the peer review process) on the author's personal or institutional web site or server, incorporating the complete citation and with a link to the Digital Object Identifier (DOI) of the article; the right to necess the journal article at a meeting or conference and to distribute conies of such paper or article to the right to paper or article at a meeting or conference and to distribute conies of such paper or article to the right to paper or article to the right to paper or article to the right of the right of the right of the right of the research the journal article at a meeting or conference and to distribute conies of such paper or article to the right of the right of
Products	
Support & contact	
About Elsevier	
Select your view	 the delegates attending the meeting; for the author's employer, if the journal article is a 'work for hire', made within the scope of the author's employment, the right to use all or part of the information in (any version of) the journal article for other intra-company use (e.g. training), including by posting the article on secure, internal corporate intranets; patent and trademark rights and rights to any process or procedure described in the journal article;
	 the right to include the journal article, in full or in part, in a thesis or dissertation; the right to use the journal article or any part thereof in a printed compilation of works of the author, such as

- the right to use the journal article or any part thereor in a printed compilation or works of the author, such as collected writings or lecture notes (subsequent to publication of the article in the journal); and
 the right to prepare other derivative works, to extend the journal article into book-length form, or to otherwise re-use portions or excerpts in other works, with full acknowledgement of its original publication in the journal.

*Please Note: The rights listed above apply to journal authors only. For information regarding book author rights, please contact the Global Rights Department.

Elsevier Global Rights Department phone (+44) 1865 843 830 fax (+44) 1865 853 333 email: permissions@elsevier.com

Other uses by authors should be authorized by Elsevier through the **Global Rights Department**, and journal authors are encouraged to let Elsevier know of any particular needs or requirements.

 From:
 Jean-Marc Fritschy [fritschy-ejn@pharma.uzh.ch]

 To:
 jihyun.ko@camhpet.ca

 Cc:
 msarter@umich.edu; Sue Fromant; w.waleszczyk@nencki.gov.pl

 Subject:
 EJN Best Publication Award

Dear Ji Hyun Ko,

We are delighted to inform you that you have won the 2009 EJN Best Publication Award with your manuscript entitled "Theta burst stimulation-induced inhibition of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex reveals hemispheric asymmetry in striatal dopamine release during a set-shifting task – a TMS-[11C]raclopride PET study" published in EJN, volume 28/10. We warmly congratulate you for this distinction and would like to thank you for having choosen EJN for publishing your very interesting and highly relevant manuscript. The award will be presented at the FENS Featured Regional Meeting in Warsaw (September 9-12, 2009), where you will have the opportunity to briefly present your work. The local organizers will contact you shortly for arranging the details of your venue. In any case, you will be asked to register for the meeting before March 30, 2009, in time for your presentation to be announced in the final program. Sent: Thu 19/03/2009 4:57 PM

We very much hope that you will accept this invitation and are looking forward to meeting you as this opportunity.

Best wishes,

Jean-Marc Fritschy and Martin Sarter co-Editors in Chief, EJN